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ABOUT MDA
MDA is a global communications and information
company providing operational solutions to
commercial and government organizations
worldwide.
MDA’s business is focused on markets and
customers with strong repeat business potential,
primarily in the Communications sector and the
Surveillance and Intelligence sector. In addition,
the Company conducts a significant amount of
advanced technology development.
The Company’s comprehensive capabilities in
business and program management, systems
engineering, systems integration, testing, and
support services address complex customer
requirements through the full solutions life cycle.
MDA’s established global customer base is
served by more than 4,800 employees operating
from 11 locations in the United States, Canada,
and internationally.
The Company’s common shares trade on the
Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol MDA.
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2,098.8
348.2
208.0
5.76

1,819.0
325.4
180.0
5.13

879.9
214.4
124.4
3.91

761.1
194.4
116.3
2.97

Net earnings
Net earnings per share, basic and diluted
Cash dividend per common share

47.1
1.31
1.30

105.0
3.00
1.30

83.9
2.63
1.30

158.9
4.06
1.00

Financial Position as at December 31,
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2,981.4
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804.0
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2,584.2
596.3
796.1
2,990.9

2,362.4
847.7
266.8
2,186.0

Results of Operations
($ millions, except per common share amounts)

Revenues
Operating EBITDA1
Operating earnings1
Operating earnings per share1

($ millions)

Total assets
Total long-term debt
Shareholders' equity
Order backlog
1
2

786.0
105.7
238.1
805.2

This is a non-IFRS financial measure.
Net earnings and net earnings per share include the results of discontinued operations.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For the year end December 31, 2014
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”), dated February 25, 2015, of MacDonald,
Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. should be read in conjunction with the cautionary statement regarding
forward-looking statements below and the audited consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2014 (the “consolidated financial
statements”). Unless otherwise noted, the results reported herein have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and all dollar amounts are expressed in
Canadian dollars. An additional advisory with respect to the use of non-IFRS financial measures is
set out in section “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” of this MD&A. All quarterly information disclosed in
the MD&A is based on unaudited figures.
In this report, MDA and the Company refer to MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. and its
subsidiaries. This year and 2014 mean the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014. Last year and
2013 mean the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, and 2012 means the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2012. This quarter means the three months ended December 31, 2014.
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements that reflect the Company’s current view of future
events and financial performance. Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but are not
limited to, statements regarding: the outcome of legal proceedings involving the Company under
sections “Overview” and “Liquidity - Legal proceedings”; the expected benefits from enterprise
improvement initiatives and the costs and timeframe for implementing those initiatives under
sections “Overview” and “Consolidated Results - Net earnings”; the expected benefits from the
business acquisition under section “Overview”; anticipated revenues and customer contracts under
sections “Consolidated Results - Order backlog” and “Results By Segment”; impact of amendments
to pension and other post-retirement plans under section “Consolidated Results - Net earnings”;
progress on certain long-term construction contracts under section “Results By Segment”; and the
sources of liquidity the Company expects to use to meet its anticipated cash requirements under
section “Liquidity”.
Forward-looking statements are based on the opinions and estimates of management as of the date
such statements are made and represent management’s best judgment based on facts and
assumptions that management considers reasonable. The material assumptions upon which such
forward-looking statements are based include, among others, assumptions with respect to: market
and general economic conditions; the operations of the operating businesses of the Company
continuing on a basis consistent with prior years; growth in demand for the products and services of
the Company’s businesses; the ability of the Company to access financing from time to time on
favourable terms; the ability of the Company to realize anticipated benefits of acquisitions; the
continuation of executive and operating management or the non-disruptive replacement of them on
competitive terms; and currency exchange and interest rates being reasonably stable at current
rates. As contained in this MD&A, the Company has made the following assumptions with respect to
the forward-looking statements: the outcome of legal proceedings involving the Company was based
on the Company’s interpretation of the terms of the settlement agreement regarding the litigation
brought by ViaSat, Inc. and that the outcome of other legal proceedings would not be material to the
Company; the expected benefits from enterprise improvement initiatives and the costs and
timeframe for implementing those initiatives was based on current market conditions in the
commercial communication satellite market and management’s current plans; the expected benefits
from the business acquisition was based on the Company’s ability to integrate and manage
acquisitions; anticipated revenues and customer contracts was based on the Company’s continuing
ability to effectively service customers and enter into more contracts for the sale of satellites and
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products and there being no adverse changes to customer priorities and funding levels; impact of
amendments to pension and other post-retirement plans was based on management’s current
estimates and operating plans; progress on certain long-term construction contracts was based on
the Company’s ability to meet technical specifications and complete the contracts with minimal cost
overrun; and the sources of liquidity the Company expects to use to meet its anticipated cash
requirements was based on stable market conditions and the Company’s current plans and
forecasts. The Company makes no representation that reasonable business people in possession of
the same information would reach the same conclusions.
Any such forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations. MDA cautions readers that should
certain risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual
results may vary significantly from those expected. The risks that could cause actual results to differ
materially from current expectations include, but are not limited to: changes in government policies,
priorities, funding levels, contracts or regulations and the failure to obtain necessary regulatory
approvals and licenses; growth in the commercial satellite market is dependent on the growth in the
businesses of the Company’s customers and the ability of its customers to develop new services;
failure of third party subcontractors to complete contracts for which the Company is the prime
contractor and the limited number of suppliers for some components; risks of performance on firm
fixed price construction contracts and termination of contracts by customers for convenience;
changes in estimates of total revenues and costs on contracts and non-receipt of payments on
failure of the Company’s satellites and products to perform successfully; potential for product liability
or the occurrence of defects in products or systems and resulting loss of revenue and harm to the
Company’s reputation; quality issues and failure of systems to meet performance requirements or to
be accepted by a customer; inclusion of construction performance incentives in many of the
Company’s customer contracts; potential for component failure or performance issues on the
Company’s on-orbit satellites and resulting loss of revenue and harm to MDA’s reputation and failure
of the Company to receive data for sales or of customers to purchase data; failure of the Company
to manage its acquisitions and breaches of contract and indemnities and related risks on
divestitures; certain customers are highly leveraged and may not fulfil their contractual payment
obligations, including vendor financing; MDA’s ability to obtain certain satellite construction contracts
depends, in part, on its ability to provide the customer with partial financing of working capital and
any financing provided by the Company may not be repaid or the Company may be called upon to
make payments; many of the Company’s costs are fixed and MDA may not be able to cut costs
sufficiently to maintain profitability in the event of a downturn in its business; the availability of facility
space and qualified personnel may affect MDA’s ability to perform its contracts as efficiently as
planned; dependence on electronic systems may be subject to data and system security threats and
malfunctions; detrimental reliance on third parties for data; dependence on key employees, potential
for work stoppages and lack of oversight over a U.S. proxy board and management; failure to
anticipate changes in technology, technical standards and offerings or comply with the requisite
standards; failure to maintain technological advances and offer new products to retain customers
and market position; significant competition with competitors that are larger or have greater
resources and foreign currency fluctuations may increase competition from the Company’s non-U.S.
competitors; potential infringement of the intellectual property rights of others through licensed
software or otherwise; inadequate protection of the Company’s intellectual property rights; exposure
to foreign currency fluctuations; changes in economic and political conditions; inability of suppliers or
subcontractors to effect technology transfer; changes in customer security requirements and the
resulting cancellation of contracts; failure to maintain business alliances; uncertainty in financing
arrangements and failure to obtain required financing on acceptable terms; changes in regulations,
telecommunication standards and laws due to political and economic instability in the countries in
which MDA conducts business; changes in U.S. and foreign laws and regulations, including U.S.
export control and economic sanctions laws, governing MDA’s business; wrongful call on letters of
credit, guarantees and performance bonds; insufficient insurance against material claims or losses;
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exposure to fines and/or legal sanctions under anti-corruption laws; reliance on information
technology systems and threats of disruption from security breaches and cyber-attacks; and failure
to comply with environmental regulations.
For additional information with respect to certain of these risks or factors, reference should be made
to section “Business Risks and Uncertainties” of this MD&A and to the consolidated financial
statements, as well with the Company’s continuous disclosure materials filed from time to time with
Canadian securities regulatory authorities, which are available online at www.sedar.com or on the
Company’s website at www.mdacorporation.com.
The forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is expressly qualified by this cautionary
statement. MDA disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, other than as
required by law, rule or regulation. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements.
COMPANY PROFILE
MDA is a global communications and information company providing operational solutions to
commercial and government organizations worldwide.
MDA's business is focused on markets and customers with strong repeat business potential,
primarily in the Communications sector and the Surveillance and Intelligence sector. In addition, the
Company conducts a significant amount of advanced technology development.
The Company’s comprehensive capabilities in business and program management, systems
engineering, systems integration, testing, and support services address complex customer
requirements through the full solutions life cycle.
MDA’s established global customer base is served by more than 4,800 employees operating from 11
locations in the United States, Canada, and internationally.
The Company's common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol MDA.
Communications
In the Communications sector, MDA offers space-based solutions for cost-efficient global delivery of
a broad range of services, including television and radio distribution, broadband internet, and mobile
communications. The Company is a leading supplier of communication satellites, satellite antenna
subsystems, and associated ground infrastructure and support services. MDA’s principal customers
in this sector are communication satellite operators, communication satellite manufacturers, and
government agencies worldwide.
Surveillance and Intelligence
In the Surveillance and Intelligence sector, MDA offers end-to-end solutions to monitor changes and
activities around the globe to support the operational needs of government agencies, both military
and civilian, and commercial customers. The Company is a leading supplier of space-based and
airborne surveillance solutions, imaging satellite ground systems, geospatial information services,
and associated support services. The Company also supplies robotic systems for the space and
terrestrial markets.
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NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES
In addition to results reported in accordance with IFRS, the Company uses certain non-IFRS
financial measures as supplemental indicators of its financial and operating performance. These
non-IFRS financial measures include operating earnings, operating earnings per share and
operating EBITDA. The Company believes these supplementary financial measures reflect the
Company’s ongoing business in a manner that allows for meaningful period-to-period comparisons
and analysis of trends in its business.
The Company defines operating earnings as net earnings excluding the impact of specified items
affecting comparability, including, where applicable, non-operational income and expenses,
amortization of acquisition related intangible assets, share-based compensation, and other gains or
losses. The use of the term “non-operational income and expenses” is defined by the Company as
those that do not impact operating decisions taken by the Company’s management and is based
upon the way the Company’s management evaluates the performance of the Company’s business
for use in the Company’s internal management reports. Income tax expense on operating earnings
is computed using an estimated annual tax rate, adjusted to account for the specified items affecting
comparability. Operating earnings per share is calculated using diluted weighted average shares
outstanding and does not represent actual earnings per share attributable to shareholders. The
Company believes that the disclosure of operating earnings and operating earnings per share allows
investors to evaluate the operational and financial performance of the Company’s ongoing business
using the same evaluation measures that its management uses, and is therefore a useful indicator of
the Company’s performance or expected performance of recurring operations.
The Company defines operating EBITDA as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization, and adjusted for certain corporate expenses and items affecting comparability as
specified in the calculation of operating earnings. Operating EBITDA is presented on a basis
consistent with the Company’s internal management reports. The Company discloses operating
EBITDA to capture the profitability of its business before the impact of items not considered in
management’s evaluation of operating unit performance. The Company also discloses segment
operating EBITDA as a measure of each reporting segment’s profitability and contribution to
operating EBITDA.
Operating earnings, operating earnings per share and operating EBITDA do not have any
standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar
measures presented by other companies. The Company cautions readers to consider these nonIFRS financial measures in addition to, and not as an alternative for, measures calculated in
accordance with IFRS.
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OVERVIEW
The following table provides selected annual financial information for fiscal years 2012, 2013 and
2014.
Results of Operations

2014

2013

2012

2,098.8
348.2
208.0
5.76

1,819.0
325.4
180.0
5.13

879.9
214.4
124.4
3.91

47.1
1.31
1.30

105.0
3.00
1.30

83.9
2.63
1.30

36.1

35.1

31.8

2014

2013

2012

2,981.4
749.3
804.0

2,584.2
532.1
796.1

2,362.4
805.8
266.8

($ millions, except per common share amounts)

Consolidated revenues
Operating EBITDA1
Operating earnings1
Operating earnings per share1
Net earnings
Net earnings per share, basic and diluted
Dividends distributed per common share
Weight average number of common shares outstanding:
(millions)

Basic and diluted2
Financial Position, as at December 31
($ millions)

Total assets
Total non-current financial liabilities3
Shareholders’ equity
1

This is a non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to section “Consolidated Results” for a reconciliation of operating EBITDA and
operating earnings to net earnings.
2
On March 27, 2013, the Company completed a public offering of 4,145,750 common shares at a price of $69.40 per share
for gross proceeds of $287.7 million.
3
Consisting of non-current portions of long-term debt and other financial liabilities.

The Company performed well in 2014, achieving record highs in revenues, operating EBITDA and
operating earnings. Consolidated revenues surpassed the $2.0 billion mark, rising to $2.1 billion for
2014 with growth reflecting higher activity levels in both operating segments. Operating EBITDA
increased by 7% to $348 million driven by the strength of the Company’s diversified businesses.
Operating earnings increased by 16% to $208 million, or $5.76 per share, for 2014.
The Company ended the year with total funded order backlog of $3.1 billion compared to $3.0 billion
as at the end of 2013. Bookings activity was solid throughout 2014, which included new orders for
nine communication satellites.
In 2014, the Company, Loral Space & Communications Inc. (“Loral”) and ViaSat, Inc. (“ViaSat”)
settled the breach of contract and patent infringement complaints brought by ViaSat, which the
Company inherited in its acquisition of Space Systems/Loral, LLC (“SSL”) in November 2012.
Pursuant to a comprehensive settlement agreement, all claims and counterclaims between the
parties were dismissed. The settlement agreement also provides the Company, and its customers
and suppliers to the extent of their project or transaction with the Company, with unrestricted access
to the patents asserted in the complaints as well as certain related patents. The Company is
satisfied with the outcome of the settlement (refer to sections “Consolidated Results - Net earnings”
and “Liquidity - Legal proceedings” of this MD&A).
Business acquisitions
On October 3, 2014, the Company acquired the assets of Advanced Systems, a line of business
from General Dynamics Advanced Information Systems, Inc. for cash consideration of $41.5 million
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(US$40.0 million less working capital and other adjustments of US$3.1 million). Located near Detroit,
Michigan, Advanced Systems has approximately 170 employees and over 50 years of in-depth
experience in development and application of radar and other information sensors for the U.S.
Government. The acquisition strengthens the Company’s ability to pursue surveillance and
intelligence programs in the United States. The results of Advanced Systems are reported in the
Company’s Surveillance and Intelligence segment and the results from the acquisition date have
been included in the Company’s earnings.
Enterprise improvement initiatives
In 2014, the Company commenced a comprehensive review of its satellite manufacturing operations.
With assistance from expert industry consultants, the Company has been identifying and
implementing enterprise improvement initiatives that are aimed at reducing overhead costs,
increasing supply chain value and improving overall production processes in particular via
automation and standardization. Implementation of these initiatives began in the summer of 2014
and will continue through 2016 (refer to section “Consolidated Results - Net earnings” of this MD&A).
Results under IFRS
Net earnings for 2014 were impacted by the inclusion and variability of certain large, non-operational
items that affected the comparability of financial results to prior years. In particular, net earnings this
year included considerable expenses related to the defense and settlement of the ViaSat litigation
and the implementation of the enterprise improvement initiatives. After giving effect to these and
other items, net earnings for 2014 were $47.1 million. Refer to section “Consolidated Results” of this
MD&A for further discussion of the specified items affecting comparability.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
The following table provides selected financial information for the fiscal years indicated, including a
reconciliation of operating EBITDA and operating earnings to net earnings.
2014

2013

2012

2,098.8

1,819.0

879.9
214.4

($ millions, except per common share amounts)

Consolidated revenues
Operating EBITDA

348.2

325.4

Operating EBITDA as a percentage of revenues

17%

18%

24%

Corporate expense
Net finance expense
Depreciation and amortization
Income tax expense on operating earnings

(10.1)
(34.1)
(49.2)
(46.8)
208.0

(11.3)
(45.9)
(46.1)
(42.1)
180.0

(12.7)
(10.4)
(19.0)
(47.9)
124.4

5.76

5.13

3.91

(49.4)
(33.1)
(52.6)
(15.6)
(0.9)
(8.2)
(10.4)
9.3

(80.2)
(30.8)
(4.6)
40.1
(14.9)
(3.1)
18.5

(29.3)
(4.8)
(15.5)
4.4
4.1
(1.7)
2.3

47.1

105.0

83.9

Operating earnings
Operating earnings per share

Items affecting comparability:
Share-based compensation
Amortization of acquisition related intangible assets
ViaSat settlement and associated activities
Enterprise improvement costs
Acquisition related expense
Pension and other post-retirement plan amendments
Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Write-off of bank facility fees
Fair value adjustments on equity forward contracts
Loss on disposal of assets
Income tax expense adjustment
Net earnings

Consolidated revenues
In 2014, the Company achieved consolidated revenues of $2.1 billion compared to $1.8 billion for
2013. The increase reflected higher activity levels in both operating segments. The Communications
segment contributed revenues of $1,494 million (2013 - $1,335 million) and the Surveillance and
Intelligence segment contributed revenues of $605 million (2013 - $484 million). Refer to section
“Results By Segment” of this MD&A for further discussion of the Company’s revenues by segment.
Order backlog
Order backlog, representing the estimated dollar value of firm funded contracts for which work has
not been performed, increased to $3.1 billion as at December 31, 2014 compared to $3.0 billion as
at December 31, 2013. Order intake activity across the markets remained solid during 2014. Order
backlog does not include unexercised contract options and potential orders under indefinite
delivery/indefinite quantity contracts. Refer to section “Results By Segment” of this MD&A for a
discussion of bookings activity by segment.
Operating EBITDA
Operating EBITDA, which is a measure utilized by management to evaluate the financial
performance of the Company’s operating segments, was $348 million for 2014 compared to $325
million for 2013. The increase reflected higher levels of activity.
Operating EBITDA as a percentage of revenues (“operating EBITDA margin percentage”) in 2014
was 17% compared to 18% for last year. Operating EBITDA margin percentage will fluctuate from
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period to period with changes in the revenue mix, including proportion of construction and services
contracts, and contract life cycle of large dollar value contracts. In addition, the Company revises
cost and revenue estimates on contracts in the ordinary course of business. When applying the
percentage of completion method of revenue recognition, the inception to date impact of changes in
estimates is recognized in the period the changes are determined by management and may impact
margin percentages.
Refer to section “Results By Segment” for further discussion.
Corporate expense
Corporate expense for 2014 was $10.1 million compared to $11.3 million for last year. Corporate
expense is not considered in management’s evaluation of operating unit performance and includes
such items as corporate head office costs, regulatory costs, executive and director compensation,
strategic business development expenditures, and fees for audit, legal and consulting services.
Net finance expense
The following table shows the components of net finance expense for the fiscal years indicated.
2014

2013

($ millions)

Finance expense:
1
Interest on long-term debt
Interest expense on defined benefit pension and
other post-retirement benefit obligations
Capitalization of borrowing costs
Imputed interest and other
Finance income

29.9

33.6

7.6
(3.0)
0.1
(0.5)

12.2
(1.4)
2.5
(1.0)

Net finance expense

34.1

45.9

1

Interest expense on long-term debt for 2013 excludes a $3.1 million charge to write-off the unamortized portion of prepaid
bank facility fees relating to the term loans under the syndicated credit facility, which were fully repaid with proceeds from
the share offering. The amount of the bank facility fee write-off has been excluded from the calculation of operating
earnings for 2013 (refer to section “Consolidated Results - Net earnings”).

The decrease in net finance expense compared to last year reflected lower levels of net pension
obligations over the course of 2014 and lower interest rates applicable on the revolving loan facility,
partially offset by higher levels of debt.

Depreciation and amortization
The following table shows depreciation and amortization expense for the fiscal years indicated.
2014

2013

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets1

42.3
6.9

37.2
8.9

Depreciation and amortization

49.2

46.1

($ millions)

1

Excludes intangible assets arising from acquisition. Amortization of acquisition related intangible assets is excluded from
the calculation of operating earnings (refer to section “Consolidated Results - Net earnings”).

The increase in depreciation and amortization expense was primarily due to higher capital
expenditures to support the growth of the Company.
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Income tax expense on operating earnings
Income tax expense on operating earnings for 2014 was $46.8 million, reflecting an effective income
tax rate of 18% compared to 19% for last year. Income tax expense on operating earnings is
computed using an estimated annual tax rate, adjusted to account for specific items affecting
comparability such as certain non-deductible share-based compensation and amortization of
acquisition related intangible assets. The estimated annual tax rate on operating earnings is
determined annually and may be adjusted during the year to take into account events or trends that
may materially impact the rate, including, but not limited to, significant changes resulting from tax
legislation, material changes in the geographic mix of income and other significant events.
Operating earnings
Operating earnings, or net earnings excluding the impact of specified items affecting comparability,
increased to $208 million ($5.76 per share) for 2014 compared to $180 million ($5.13 per share) for
2013. The increase reflected higher operating EBITDA and lower net finance expense. The share
offering completed at the end of March 2013 has a dilutive effect on earnings per share.
Net earnings
The comparison of financial results under IFRS between periods is hindered by the inclusion and
variability of specified items that may not be indicative of the operational and financial performance
of the Company’s ongoing business. Giving effect to the specified items affecting comparability, net
earnings for 2014 were $47.1 million compared to $105 million for 2013. These specified items
affecting comparability are discussed below.
Share-based compensation
Share-based compensation is an important aspect of compensation for management and key
employees. However, the accounting expense or recovery based on fair valuation, which is
estimated using complex option pricing models incorporating factors such as the expected life of
options and market volatility, is beyond the Company’s control and can vary significantly from period
to period. Further, the accounting fair value adjustments are not reflective of actual cash outlays by
the Company in any particular period. The average cash outlay on share-based compensation was
approximately $34 million per year over the five-year period ended December 31, 2014. The
Company believes that the exclusion of share-based compensation reduces volatility in net earnings
and facilitates the comparison of financial results across periods.
Amortization of acquisition related intangible assets
The Company’s acquisitions, SSL in particular, have resulted in significant fair value adjustments to
finite life intangible assets, which are being amortized over estimated lives of five to twenty years.
Consequently, net earnings for 2014 included amortization expense on acquisition related intangible
assets of $33.1 million (2013 - $30.8 million).
The acquisition related intangible assets, consisting of technology, software, trade names and other
intellectual property, are generally non-recurring expenditures as the Company does not need to
replace these assets at the end of their lives to continue to operate its business. Ongoing
maintenance and support costs are expensed as incurred and any internally developed technology
and software that are capitalized post-acquisition are amortized in the normal course of business. All
other research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
ViaSat settlement and associated activities
In 2014, the Company recognized a net expense of $52.6 million for costs and activities related to
the defense and settlement of the litigation brought by ViaSat. The amount consisted of a charge of
$69.2 million for the Company’s share of the settlement obligation and associated legal fees and
other costs of $5.4 million. The expense was partially offset by a gain of $22.0 million for the reversal
of certain purchase accounting provisions that were set up in relation to the litigation and associated
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activities and were no longer required after the settlement. The Company believes that the exclusion
of these amounts from net earnings provides a better representation of the results of the Company’s
ongoing operations.
Enterprise improvement costs
The Company recognized enterprise improvement costs of $15.6 million in 2014 in connection with
the comprehensive review of its satellite manufacturing operations. The costs recognized were
mainly for severance costs for employee terminations that have taken place in 2014 and consulting
fees on the overall project. The Company believes that the exclusion of these costs relating to
enterprise improvement initiatives from net earnings provides for better period-to-period
comparisons of operating results for the Company’s ongoing operations.
The Company plans to incur additional costs on this project over the next few quarters. The
Company expects to become more competitive as a result of implementing the enterprise
improvement initiatives.
Acquisition related expense
Acquisition related expense includes legal, tax, consulting and other professional fees incurred
relating to acquisitions, whether completed or abandoned. The Company incurred costs of $0.9
million in 2014 relating to the acquisition of Advanced Systems. The comparative expense for 2013
related to the acquisition of SSL and a potential business acquisition that has since been
abandoned. As acquisition related costs are transaction specific, the Company believes that the
exclusion of such costs from net earnings allows for more meaningful period-to-period comparisons
of operating results.
Pension and other post-retirement plan amendments
In 2013, the Company restructured the pension and post-retirement benefit plans at SSL. The
restructuring plan included amendments to the pension plans, post-retirement plans, 401(k) plans,
and other benefits. As a result of these plan amendments, the Company recognized past service
credits of $21.1 million for the defined benefit pension plans and $18.9 million for the post-retirement
medical plan immediately in earnings in 2013, with offsetting reductions to employee benefit
liabilities. In addition to the one-time retroactive adjustments, the Company incurred incremental
costs of $8.2 million in 2014 relating to 401(k) plans. As a result of these plan amendments, the
Company expects to achieve an ongoing reduction in both cash contributions and pension and postretirement benefits expense. The Company believes that the exclusion of these past service credits
and incremental 401(k) costs facilitates the comparison of financial results across periods.
Foreign exchange gains and losses
As described below, certain foreign exchange gains and losses recognized by the Company can
result in significant variability in net earnings but have little bearing on operating performance.
(a) Foreign exchange timing differences on certain project-related foreign exchange forward
contracts not subject to hedge accounting
Certain foreign exchange derivative contracts entered into by the Company relating to certain
large dollar satellite solution programs did not qualify for hedge accounting at inception of the
contracts as the timing of the anticipated cash flows and/or the contract currency for certain
subcontracts could not be predicted with sufficient certainty. Accordingly, the fair value
adjustments on these derivative contracts were recognized in net earnings immediately, resulting
in foreign exchange timing differences. The foreign exchange timing differences can result in
significant variability in net earnings but have little bearing, other than timing, on the performance
of the related programs.
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(b) Foreign exchange gains and losses on translation of intercompany balances
As part of its cash management efforts, the Company frequently advances funds between group
entities that have differing functional currencies. The foreign currency exposure on these
intercompany loans is not hedged. As a result, currency fluctuations, particularly between the
Canadian and U.S. dollar, can result in significant unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses
on the translation of the intercompany loans. These unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses
can impact the comparability of net earnings and will only reverse upon disposal or liquidation of
the associated foreign operation.
(c) Unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses on translation of long-term foreign currency
denominated financial assets and liabilities
The Company recognizes unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses when translating certain
long-term foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities at each period end. For example,
the translation of a portion of the Company’s U.S. dollar denominated long-term debt and Euro
denominated orbital receivables, that have not been hedged or subject to hedge accounting,
results in the recognition of unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses in the Company’s
financial statements. The Company excludes these amounts as they have little bearing on the
current operating performance of the Company.
(d) Foreign currency translation adjustment reclassified to earnings on liquidation of foreign
operation
In 2013, the Company recorded a foreign exchange loss of $8.9 million for cumulative translation
adjustments reclassified to earnings on final liquidation of a foreign operation. The foreign
operation had been inactive since the Company disposed of its Property Information business.
The foreign exchange loss has no bearing on operating performance, and the Company believes
that exclusion of the foreign exchange loss improves the comparability of the Company’s
financial performance between periods.
Write-off of bank facility fees
In 2013, the Company recorded a $3.1 million charge to write-off the unamortized portion of prepaid
bank facility fees relating to the term loans under the syndicated credit facility, which were fully
repaid with proceeds from the share offering. The accounting charge has no relationship to the
Company’s on-going operations, and the Company believes that the exclusion of this amount
provides for more meaningful comparison of operating results between periods.
Financial position
The Company had total assets of $3.0 billion as at December 31, 2014 (December 31, 2013 - $2.6
billion). The purchase consideration on the acquisition of Advanced Systems has been allocated to
the preliminary estimated fair values of the major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at the acquisition date. The estimated fair values of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed
have been determined with the assistance of third-party valuation specialists. Certain of these
estimates of fair value, most notably, finite life intangible assets, goodwill, provisions, non-financial
liabilities and employee benefits, are preliminary and are subject to further adjustments.
The following table explains the changes to certain assets and liabilities over the twelve months
ended December 31, 2014.
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In $ millions

Increase
(Decrease)

Explanation
Construction contract assets are revenues earned on
construction contracts in excess of progress billings. The
increase was primarily due to the variability in the timing of
billings and receipts on large dollar value construction
contracts in the ordinary course of business.

Construction contract assets

79.2

Financial assets, other1

42.6

Other financial assets mainly consist of restricted cash,
deferred fair value gains on foreign exchange forward
contracts, and short-term investments. The increase
reflected the inclusion of Advanced Systems’ restricted
cash balances related to lease commitments and the
impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on the
valuation of forward contracts.

Non-financial assets1

33.2

Non-financial assets mainly consist of advances to
suppliers and prepaid expenses. The increase was
primarily due to higher advances made to subcontractors
on construction programs.

Goodwill

78.4

The Company recorded goodwill of $20.2 million on the
acquisition of Advanced Systems. The remainder of the
increase was due to the impact of foreign currency
translation.

Financial liabilities, other1

31.2

Other financial liabilities mainly consist of non-trade
payables and deferred fair value losses on foreign
exchange forward contracts. The increase largely
comprised of the balance owing on the ViaSat settlement,
which will be paid in installments over the next two years.

1

Include current and non-current amounts.

The Company’s liability for pension and other post-retirement benefits was $273 million as at
December 31, 2014 compared to $178 million as at December 31, 2013. The increase was primarily
due to the recognition of actuarial losses in other comprehensive income related to changes in
financial and demographic assumptions, including a decrease in the market-based discount rate
used to determine pension obligations. Actuarial valuations are performed annually. The increase in
pension obligations also reflected the impact of foreign currency translation.
Total long-term debt as at December 31, 2014 was $754 million, representing an increase of $158
million from the balance as at December 31, 2013. The following table shows the changes to longterm debt for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014.
($ millions)

Balance as at December 31, 2013
Repayment of promissory note
Proceeds from revolving loans and other long-term debt
Foreign currency translation and other

596.3
(74.4)
165.4
67.1

Balance as at December 31, 2014

754.4

In March 2014, the Company made principal repayments on the promissory note payable to Loral.
The Company made draws on the revolving loan facility to fund the repayment on the promissory
note as well as for general operations.
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Shareholders’ equity as at December 31, 2014 was $804 million compared to $796 million as at
December 31, 2013. The following table shows the changes to shareholders’ equity for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2014.
($ millions)

Balance as at December 31, 2013
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income
Dividends
Common shares issued in conjunction with employee share purchase plan

796.1
47.1
2.8
(46.9)
4.9

Balance as at December 31, 2014

804.0

RESULTS BY SEGMENT
The Company analyzes financial performance by segments, which group related activities within the
Company. The Company’s two reportable operating segments are Communications and
Surveillance and Intelligence. Inter-segment transactions have been eliminated from the segmented
financial information discussed below.
Communications
MDA offers space-based solutions for cost-efficient global delivery of a broad range of services,
including television and radio distribution, broadband internet, and mobile communications. The
Company is a leading supplier of communication satellites, satellite antenna subsystems, and
associated ground infrastructure and support services. MDA’s principal customers in this sector are
communication satellite operators, communication satellite manufacturers, and government
agencies worldwide.
The following table provides selected financial information for the Communications segment.
($ millions)

Revenues
Operating EBITDA1
1

2014

2013

1,494.1
187.4

1,334.6
181.9

Refer to section “Reconciliations” for a reconciliation of segment operating EBITDA to segment profit, as per the note to the
consolidated financial statements on segmented information.

The increase in revenues from Communications compared to last year reflected higher activity levels
on satellite construction programs and the favourable impact of foreign currency translation. Volume
at the Company’s satellite systems facility in Montreal was lower as the Company has declared force
majeure on the Ukraine communication satellite program.
Changes in revenues from year to year are influenced by the size, timing and number of satellite
contracts awarded in the current and preceding years and the length of the construction period for
satellite contracts awarded. Revenues on satellite contracts are recognized on a percentage of
completion method over the construction period, which can range between 20 to 36 months and up
to 48 months in special situations.
Operating EBITDA margin percentage from Communications was a solid 13% in 2014, slightly down
from 14% for last year. The revenue mix for 2014 included the start of work on nine communication
satellites.

14

In 2014, the Company booked orders to build nine communication satellites. They consisted of:
• the JCSAT-15 and JCSAT-16 satellites for SKY Perfect JSAT Corporation;
• the BRIsat satellite for PT. Bank Rakyat Indonesia (Persero) Tbk.;
• the EchoStar XXIII satellite for EchoStar Corporation;
• the Hispasat 1F and Amazonas 5 multi-mission satellites for HISPASAT Group;
• the Intelsat 36 satellite for Intelsat, S.A.;
• the BulgariaSat-1 satellite for Bulgaria Sat AD; and
• the PSN VI satellite for PT Pasifik Satelit Nusantara.
Bookings activity for communication satellite payloads, antenna and electronic subsystems was also
solid throughout 2014. Notable bookings included:
• contract with Aselsan Electronic Industries Inc. to provide an X-band communication hosted
payload solution. Aselsan is Turkey’s leading space and defence company and prime contractor
for the construction of the Turksat 6A X-band payload;
• contract with an undisclosed customer to provide two communication satellite subsystems;
• contract with the European Space Agency (ESA) to develop and construct a Ka-band data relay
terminal flight model for use on the ESA’s Columbus module of the International Space Station;
• contract with Mitsubishi Electric Corporation to provide multiple antenna subsystems for a
telecommunication satellite. This award represents a further expansion into the Japanese
market; and
• contract with Airbus Defence and Space to provide multiple communication subsystems.
The Company continues to hold considerable long‐term opportunities in the communications sector.
Operations
In March 2014, the Company declared force majeure with respect to the ground infrastructure of the
Ukraine communication satellite program. The Company has completed work on the spacecraft,
which is now in storage. With the force majeure in place and no new funding available at present to
address the force majeure impact, any other further work on the program is uncertain.
In October 2014, the Company’s U.S. government business unit at SSL ceased to operate under a
Special Security Agreement. Much of the U.S. government work that this business unit had bid on,
including those with NASA and DARPA, was not subject to U.S. Foreign Ownership, Control or
Influence (FOCI) mitigation requirements. The Company maintains a proxy company established
under its U.S. geospatial services operations, through which the Company continues to bid and
perform on classified U.S. government contracts.
Surveillance and Intelligence
MDA offers end-to-end solutions to monitor changes and activities around the globe to support the
operational needs of government agencies, both military and civilian, and commercial customers.
The Company is a leading supplier of space-based and airborne surveillance solutions, imaging
satellite ground systems, geospatial information services, and associated support services. The
Company also supplies robotic systems for the space and terrestrial markets.
The following table provides selected financial information for the Surveillance and Intelligence
segment.
($ millions)

Revenues
Operating EBITDA1
1

2014

2013

604.8
160.8

484.4
143.5

Refer to section “Reconciliations” for a reconciliation of segment operating EBITDA to segment profit, as per the note to the
consolidated financial statements on segmented information.
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The increase in revenues from Surveillance and Intelligence compared to last year was primarily due
to higher activity levels on the RADARSAT Constellation Mission program. Revenues from space
robotics programs were also higher compared to last year.
Operating EBITDA margin percentage from Surveillance and Intelligence can vary from year to year
with changes in the sales mix. The margin percentage of 27% for 2014 was within the range of
management’s expectations and comparable to historical trends over a longer period, as margin
percentage for years 2012 and 2011 was 28%. The margin percentage of 30% for 2013 is at the
high-end of management’s expectations.
Order intake in the Surveillance and Intelligence segment remained balanced across the different
markets. Notable bookings in 2014 included:
• contract with Skybox Imaging to build an advanced constellation of 13 Low Earth Orbit (LEO)
satellites for Earth imaging. The small satellites, each less than a half cubic meter in size, will
capture sub-meter colour imagery and high definition video. The contract award helps the
Company develop new capabilities and pursue other Earth observation and LEO satellite
opportunities worldwide;
• contract valued at $64 million with the Department of National Defence to provide eight radar
surveillance systems for integration into Canada’s fleet of CP-140 Aurora surveillance and
reconnaissance aircraft;
• contract valued at over $16 million with the Royal Canadian Navy to provide in-service support of
simulators used to train personnel on the operation and maintenance of Victoria-class
submarines;
• contract with the Land Title and Survey Authority of British Columbia to provide ParcelMap BC,
which will be a complete visual representation of British Columbia’s government and private land
parcels;
• contract amendment with the Commonwealth of Australia to continue the Company’s Unmanned
Aerial Vehicle (UAV) surveillance services for the Australian Defence Force operating in
Afghanistan through to the end of 2014. This was followed by another contract amendment,
valued at $40 million, to provide the Royal Australian Air Force with UAV surveillance operations
and related services within Australia through December 2017, with options for up to an additional
three years; and
• contract amendment with the Canadian Space Agency to extend funding for ongoing support of
the Mobile Servicing System on the International Space Station through to March 2016.
Also of significance, the Company signed a contract in 2014 with DigitalGlobe, Inc. to expand the
Company’s existing direct access ground systems to include the ability to task, downlink and
process imagery from the WorldView-3 and GeoEye-1 satellites. As well, the Company became
DigitalGlobe’s preferred supplier of ground station solutions offered to international customers.
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QUARTERLY INFORMATION
The following table summarizes selected financial information (unaudited) for the eight most recently
completed quarters.
Q4
2014

Q3
2014

Q2
20143

Q1
2014

Q4
2013

Q3
2013

Q2
2013

Q1
2013

547.0
87.4
53.9
1.49
(35.8)
(0.99)

506.6
84.8
50.7
1.41
21.5
0.60

552.7
90.7
53.9
1.50
36.5
1.01

492.6
85.3
49.4
1.37
25.0
0.69

476.7
81.9
48.3
1.34
25.2
0.70

463.3
80.4
46.6
1.29
46.5
1.29

450.4
81.5
43.3
1.20
31.1
0.86

428.6
81.6
41.8
1.30
2.2
0.07

36.1

36.1

36.1

36.0

36.0

36.0

32.1

($ millions, except per common share amounts)

Consolidated revenues
Operating EBITDA1
Operating earnings1
Operating earnings per share
Net earnings (loss)
Net earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
(millions)

Basic and diluted2

36.1

1

Refer to section “Reconciliations” for reconciliation to net earnings for the last eight quarters.
On March 27, 2013, the Company completed a public offering of 4,145,750 common shares at a price of $69.40 per share
for gross proceeds of $287.7 million.
3
For comparative purposes, the Company reclassified $2.4 million of legal fees related to the ViaSat litigation from
Corporate expense to Other expense – ViaSat settlement. The reclassification had the impact of increasing operating
earnings for the second quarter of 2014.
2

Fourth quarter 2014 results
Consolidated revenues for the fourth quarter of 2014 increased to $547 million compared to $507
million for the third quarter of 2014 and $477 million for the fourth quarter of last year. The increases
over the comparative periods reflected higher activity levels, the impact of foreign currency
translation, and the activities of the recent acquisition, which contributed revenues of $11.3 million in
the fourth quarter of 2014.
For the fourth quarter of 2014, the Communications segment contributed revenues of $386 million
(fourth quarter 2013 - $333 million) and operating EBITDA of $48.4 million (fourth quarter 2013 $34.4 million). The Surveillance and Intelligence segment contributed revenues of $161 million
(fourth quarter 2013 - $143 million) and operating EBITDA of $39.0 million (fourth quarter 2013 $47.5 million).
Operating earnings for the fourth quarter of 2014 were $53.9 million, or $1.49 per share, compared
to $48.3 million, or $1.34 per share, for the fourth quarter of 2013. The increase reflected higher
operating EBITDA and lower net finance expense.
Net earnings this quarter were impacted by the inclusion and variability of certain large, nonoperational items that affected the comparability of financial results to prior periods. In particular, the
Company recorded a fourth quarter expense of $47.6 million primarily to recognize the difference
between the Company’s final share of the ViaSat settlement obligation and the estimated amount
recorded in the third quarter of 2014. As well, fourth quarter share-based compensation expense
was $28.1 million, driven by the effect of an increase in the Company’s share price at year-end on
the revaluation of share-based compensation awards. After giving effect to these and other items,
net loss for the fourth quarter of 2014 was $35.8 million.
Quarter to quarter variances
Revenues and operating EBITDA are influenced by the size and number of construction contracts in
progress. Revenues and operating EBITDA may vary from quarter to quarter due to changes in the
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sales mix and contract life cycle of large dollar value contracts. Also, the recognition of a contract
loss provision could impact the comparison of operating EBITDA from quarter to quarter.
The public share offering completed in the first quarter of 2013 had a dilutive effect on earnings per
share in subsequent periods.
In the third quarter of 2014, the Company incurred costs of $15.6 million related to the enterprise
improvement initiatives at its satellite manufacturing operations.
In the third quarter of 2014, the Company recorded a gain of $22.0 million for the reversal of certain
purchase accounting provisions that were set up in relation to the ViaSat litigation and associated
activities and were no longer required after the settlement. The gain was offset by an expense for
the Company’s estimate of the ViaSat settlement obligation recorded in the third quarter of 2014.
Quarterly net earnings were impacted by the volatility of share-based compensation expense.
Share-based compensation includes realized and unrealized fair value adjustments on share-based
compensation awards, which will vary with changes to the Company’s share price and timing of
award exercises.
Net earnings for the third quarter of 2013 included past service credits of $40.1 million on pension
and other post-retirement plan amendments, as well as a non-cash foreign exchange loss of $8.9
million for cumulative translation adjustments reclassified to earnings on final liquidation of an
inactive foreign operation.
The acquisition of SSL in the fourth quarter of 2012 resulted in significant fair value adjustments to
depreciable assets, and a corresponding increase to depreciation and amortization expense. Net
earnings can also fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter due to the variability of other nonoperational income and expenses, adjustments relating to hedge accounting, and other gains and
losses.
For further information on the items affecting the comparability of quarterly net earnings, refer to
section “Reconciliations” of this MD&A.
While the Company reports quarterly, its results should be viewed from a long-term perspective. For
this reason and the reasons cited above, the Company cautions readers that quarter to quarter
comparisons of the Company’s financial results may not necessarily be meaningful and should not
be relied upon as an indication of future performance.
LIQUIDITY
The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash provided by operations, including collection of
orbital receivables and advance payments from customers related to long-term construction
contracts, and access to credit facilities and equity capital resources, including public common share
offerings. The Company’s primary short-term cash requirement is to fund working capital, including
supplier payments on long-term construction contracts and fixed overhead costs. Working capital
requirements can vary significantly from period to period. The Company’s medium-term cash
requirements are to service and repay debt and to invest in the construction or acquisition of
facilities, equipment and intangible assets for growth initiatives. Cash is also used to pay dividends
and finance other long-term strategic business initiatives.
The Company believes that its expected cash flow from operations and access to credit facilities and
equity capital resources will be sufficient to enable the Company to meet its anticipated operating,
capital expenditure, growth, investment, debt service, dividend, and other financial requirements in
the near term.
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Summary of statement of cash flows
The following table provides selected cash flow information.
2014

2013

244.2
(166.0)
78.2
(135.8)
21.6
2.8
50.3

298.3
(145.9)
152.4
(30.8)
(94.7)
1.3
(2.7)
24.8

17.1

50.3

($ millions)

Cash provided by operations1
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Cash provided by operating activities
Cash used in investing activities
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents used in discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
1

Before changes in operating assets and liabilities.

Operating activities
The Company’s operations continued to generate strong cash flows, providing $244 million in 2014
(2013 - $298 million) before changes in working capital. The Company reinvested $166 million in
working capital primarily due to the variability and timing of milestone receipts and payments on
large dollar construction contracts. The Company received large advance payments on certain
construction programs in the second half of 2013, and the Company has drawn on the advance
payments to fund progress on those programs in 2014. Changes in the balances of other operating
asset and liability accounts in the ordinary course of business also had an impact on working capital
in 2014.
Investment in working capital is integral to the Company’s business given its portfolio of long-term
construction programs and commitments to meet short-term obligations. As well, continued
investment in working capital is necessary to build the Company’s business and manage lead times
in construction activities. The Company efficiently funds its working capital requirements with the
revolving loan facility.
Investing activities
The Company used $135.8 million in investing activities in 2014 compared to $30.8 million in 2013.
The primary use of cash in 2014 related to capital expenditures of $92.7 million, compared to $63.3
million invested in 2013, and the acquisition of Advanced Systems for $41.5 million. Capital
expenditures consist of additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Higher
spending this year reflected the completion of a second thermal vacuum test chamber to increase
production capacity at SSL and greater investment in technology to support business growth
throughout the Company.
Other investing activities in 2014 included cash outflow of $2.0 million from changes in restricted
cash balances compared to cash inflow of $26.9 million for 2013.
Financing activities
In 2014, the Company received $21.6 million from financing activities, representing net draws on the
revolving loan facility less repayment of the promissory note payable to Loral and payment of
interest and dividends. The Company used $94.7 million in financing activities in 2013, reflecting
repayment of long-term debt and payment of interest and dividends, less net proceeds from the
share offering.
Other financing activities in 2014 included proceeds of $4.1 million (2013 - $3.3 million) from the
issuance of common shares relating to the employee share purchase plan.
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Credit facilities
The following table summarizes the Company’s long-term debt.
December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

Syndicated credit facility
Senior term notes
Promissory note
Prepaid facility fees
Obligations under finance leases

304.3
406.0
39.1
(0.8)
5.8

112.7
372.3
107.4
(0.8)
4.7

Long-term debt

754.4

596.3

($ millions)

Syndicated credit facility
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had available a senior secured syndicated credit facility
with several North American and international banks. The syndicated credit facility is comprised of a
revolving loan facility of up to US$600 million, which can be drawn in Canadian and U.S. dollars. The
revolving loan facility includes a US$125 million sub limit under which letters of credit can be issued.
In the second quarter of 2014, the Company amended its syndicated credit facility to reduce the
interest rates applicable to the drawn and undrawn borrowings under the facility and to extend the
maturity by twelve months to November 2017. In addition, certain financial covenants under the
syndicated credit facility and the senior term notes were either amended or eliminated. The
syndicated credit facility is guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company and
the loans are secured by specific assets of the Company.
Loans under the syndicated credit facility bear interest at CDOR or Bankers’ Acceptance plus an
applicable margin for Canadian dollar advances, and at U.S. LIBOR plus an applicable margin for
U.S. dollar advances. The margin ranges from 1.25% to 3% and will vary with the Company’s
consolidated debt to EBITDA ratio. As at December 31, 2014, the applicable margin was 1.75%.
As at December 31, 2014, the Company also had available a US$100 million letter of credit
agreement with a major bank.
Senior term notes
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had a twelve-year senior secured note purchase agreement
for US$250 million with two major U.S. private lenders (the “2024 Term Notes”). The 2024 Term
Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.31% per annum and are repayable in five equal annual
installments beginning in November 2020. The Company also had a long-term debt agreement for
US$100 million with a private lender (the “2017 Term Notes”). The 2017 Term Notes bear interest at
a fixed rate of 5.3% per annum and are repayable in full in February 2017.
The 2024 Term Notes and the 2017 Term Notes (collectively, the “senior term notes”) are
guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company and secured by specific
assets of the Company. The senior term notes can be repaid, at the Company’s option, in whole or
in part, together with accrued interest and a make-whole premium. The senior term notes rank
equally with the obligations under the credit agreements.
Promissory note
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had a promissory note payable to Loral related to the
acquisition of SSL. The final installment of $39.1 million (US$33.7 million) on the promissory note
bears interest at 1% per annum and is due on March 31, 2015. The promissory note is secured by a
bank letter of credit.
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Debt covenants
As at December 31, 2014, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under its various
credit facilities and long-term debt agreements.
Contractual obligations, commitments and contingencies
The Company enters into contractual obligations in the normal course of business. These include
debt, finance lease obligations, operating leases and other obligations. Payments on contractual
obligations in each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
As at December 31, 2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Thereafter

Total

39.1
2.3
36.7
31.0

1.8
33.3
22.1

304.3
115.5
1.0
29.9
5.8

0.5
18.0
1.2

0.2
16.6
1.1

289.7
0.0
25.0
6.0

304.3
444.3
5.8
159.5
67.2

109.1

57.2

456.5

19.7

17.9

320.7

981.1

($ millions)

Syndicated credit facility (excluding interest)
1
Notes payable (excluding interest)
Finance leases (excluding interest)
2
Operating leases
3
Other obligations
1

Notes payable is presented net of prepaid bank facility fees.
The operating leases were primarily related to rental of office space.
3
Other obligations means other financial liabilities reflected on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as at December
31, 2014, which was primarily comprised of non-trade payables and deferred fair value losses on foreign exchange
forward contracts.
2

The Company has significant purchase obligations for goods and services, under legally enforceable
agreements with defined terms as to quantity, price and timing of delivery. These purchase
obligations have not been included in the table above. Most of these purchase obligations are with
subcontractors on long-term construction contracts that the Company has with its customers.
As at December 31, 2014, the Company’s banks have issued letters of credit for $88.9 million
(December 31, 2013 - $167.8 million) in the normal course of business, of which $42.1 million
(December 31, 2013 - $41.0 million) was guaranteed by Export Development Canada, a Canadian
government corporation.
The Company has received, in aggregate, $9.0 million of government grants under a non-refundable
contribution agreement with Investissement Québec relating to the expansion of the Company’s
satellite systems facility in Montreal. The government grants can become conditionally repayable if
certain average employment targets to December 31, 2018 are not met.
In 2014 and prior years, the Company received government funding for several programs that
support the development of new commercial technologies and products for delivery to customers of
the Canadian government. Such funding is subject to possible repayment in the form of royalties,
generally not exceeding 5% of future revenues, on commercialization of that intellectual property by
MDA.
For further information on the Company’s contractual obligations, contingencies and commitments,
refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Legal proceedings
ViaSat litigation
Prior to the Company’s acquisition of SSL, ViaSat had filed complaints against SSL and Loral, the
former parent company of SSL, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
California (the “Court”). ViaSat’s complaint alleged, among other matters, that SSL and Loral
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infringed on certain ViaSat patents and that SSL breached non-disclosure obligations in certain
contracts with ViaSat in connection with the manufacture of satellites by SSL for customers other
than ViaSat.
In 2013, ViaSat filed additional complaints for patent infringement and breach of contract against
SSL in the Court. The patents involved were continuations of the patents allegedly infringed in the
pre-existing lawsuit between ViaSat, SSL and Loral.
In April 2014, a jury returned a verdict against SSL finding that SSL had infringed the ViaSat patents
as alleged in the first complaint and that SSL had breached certain non-disclosure obligations to
ViaSat. In August 2014, the federal court vacated all damages awarded to ViaSat and ordered a new
trial on damages.
On September 5, 2014, SSL, Loral and ViaSat entered into an agreement to settle the two patent
infringement and breach of contract complaints. Under the terms of the settlement agreement, all
claims and counterclaims between the parties were dismissed. In addition, ViaSat agreed to a
covenant not to sue SSL or Loral, or their respective customers and suppliers to the extent of such
customer’s and supplier’s project or transaction with SSL or Loral, at any time for infringement of any
of the patents asserted in the lawsuits as well as certain patents related to the patents asserted in
the lawsuits, or for breach of the contracts asserted in the lawsuits to the extent such breach relates
to the claims asserted in the lawsuits. In consideration, the Company and Loral agreed to pay ViaSat
US$40 million in September 2014 and future payments totaling US$60 million payable in quarterly
installments to January 2017 plus interest at 11.5%.
Loral had indemnified SSL for certain costs and damages arising from the ViaSat litigation under the
terms of the purchase agreement governing the Company’s purchase of SSL from Loral. On
December 1, 2014, as a result of differing interpretations of the scope of Loral’s indemnification
obligations, the parties participated in a mediation session to determine a final allocation of the
settlement payments. The parties agreed that the Company will be responsible for US$55 million,
and Loral will be responsible for US$45 million, of the US$100 million settlement. As of December
31, 2014, the Company paid US$25.3 million plus 11.5% interest toward its share of the settlement.
Other legal proceedings
The Company is a party to various other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary
course of business as either a plaintiff or defendant. The Company analyzes all legal proceedings
and the allegations therein. The outcome of any of these other proceedings, either individually or in
the aggregate, is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or liquidity.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND THE USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make
estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These estimates, assumptions and
judgments are evaluated by management on an ongoing basis and are based on historical
experience and various factors that management believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances. However, due to the nature of estimates, actual results may differ from these
estimates.
The Company’s significant accounting policies are contained in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. The most significant areas that require management to use estimates, assumptions and
judgments are discussed below.
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Business combinations
In a business combination, all assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired or assumed are
recorded at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Management uses judgment when estimating
fair values of the net assets acquired and any contingent consideration to be recognized as part of
the initial purchase consideration. The fair value of intangible assets acquired is determined using
valuation techniques that require estimation of replacement costs, future net cash flows and discount
rates. Changes in the estimates and assumptions used could have a material impact on the amount
of goodwill recorded and the amount of depreciation and amortization expense recognized in
earnings for depreciable assets in future periods.
Revenue recognition
MDA generates a significant portion of revenues from long-term construction contracts. Revenues
from long-term construction contracts, including amounts attributed to customer supplied materials,
are recognized using the percentage of completion method based on costs incurred relative to total
estimated costs. The inception to date effect of any changes in estimates of contract price or costs to
complete is recognized in the period when the change is determined by management. The long-term
nature of contracts involves considerable use of judgment and estimates in determining total
revenues, total costs, performance incentives, contract risks, and percentage of completion. There
are numerous factors to consider, including variances in the contract deliverables, scheduling, labour
costs, material costs and productivity. The Company has developed methods and systems to
provide reasonably dependable expenditure estimates for its long-term construction contracts.
When management’s estimates indicate that it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
contract revenue on a construction contract upon completion, a provision for the expected loss is
recognized immediately in the period in which the loss becomes evident. In 2014 and 2013, the
Company has recognized a contract loss provision for certain construction contracts. Management
continually reviews the estimates for total contract costs and revenues and adjusts the contract loss
provisions as necessary.
MDA enters into certain long-term construction contracts with the Canadian government where a
portion of the funding received may be contingently repayable. Government assistance relating to
long-term construction contracts is treated as an increase in revenue or as a reduction in costs,
depending on its nature. MDA reviews all government assistance to determine which of the methods
is appropriate in the circumstances. MDA treats amounts received from governments as revenue on
contracts when the government is the final customer and where the contract requires that a final
product be delivered. In certain cases, MDA retains the commercial rights to the related intellectual
property but the government retains the rights to receive a royalty on any commercialization of that
intellectual property. MDA treats amounts received from governments as a reduction of costs
incurred when funding is provided for the development of a capability or intellectual property.
Fair valuation of financial instruments
IFRS requires financial instruments to be measured at fair value as at the balance sheet date. In
determining fair value, the Company must estimate the price that market participants would sell for,
or buy at, in an active liquid market, if there was one. Current market conditions, in which some
financial instruments may lack an active market, make it more difficult for the Company to estimate
fair value. While management believes the estimates of fair values at the balance sheet date are
reasonable, differences in estimates could have an impact on the financial position and results of
operations of the Company.
Hedge accounting
IFRS specifies the criteria that must be satisfied in order to apply hedge accounting under each of
the permitted hedging strategies relevant to the Company. The Company applies considerable
judgment when assessing whether a hedging relationship meets the criteria to qualify for hedge
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accounting and when testing for effectiveness. Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when
the hedging relationship ceases to be effective or the hedging or hedged items cease to exist as a
result of invoicing, maturity, expiry, sale, termination, cancellation or exercise. The fair value of
hedged items and hedging instruments are primarily derived from market values adjusted for credit
risk, which can fluctuate greatly from period to period. When a hedging relationship does not qualify
for hedge accounting, the changes in fair value are recognized immediately in earnings and can
result in significant variability in net earnings.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business
exceeds the sum of the amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on
their fair values. Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment at least annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Goodwill
is considered to be impaired when the carrying amount of the cash generating unit or group of cash
generating units to which the goodwill has been allocated exceeds its fair value. An impairment loss,
if any, would be recognized as a separate line item in the statement of earnings.
Intangible assets, acquired individually or with a group of other assets, are initially recognized and
measured at cost. The cost of a group of intangible assets acquired in a transaction, including those
acquired in a business combination that meet the specified criteria for recognition apart from
goodwill, is allocated to the individual assets acquired based on their relative fair values. Intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives, and are tested for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset might be impaired. The
amortization methods and estimated useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized and are tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.
The impairment test compares the carrying amount of the intangible asset with its fair value, and an
impairment loss would be recognized in earnings for the excess of carrying value over fair value, if
any.
MDA has used independent third party valuation specialists for significant acquisitions to perform
purchase price allocations and to identify and attribute values and estimated useful lives to the
intangible assets acquired. Details provided in valuators’ reports on cash flows, tax rates, discount
rates, capital expenditures, attrition rates and other assumptions used to determine the nature and
amount of the individual intangible assets are reviewed by management. This process calls for
considerable use of judgment, and requires all parties involved to make estimates and assumptions.
These determinations impact the amount of amortization expense to be recognized in future periods
over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets.
The Company performs impairment tests for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and other assets periodically as described above. Impairment tests involve considerable use of
judgment and require management to make estimates and assumptions. The fair values of cash
generating units are derived from certain valuation models, which consider various factors such as
discount rates, future earnings and perpetual growth rates. Changes in estimates and assumptions
can affect the reported value of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.
Provisions
The Company records a provision when an obligation to a third party exists, the payment is probable
and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The Company records a provision based on the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. While
management believes these estimates are reasonable, differences in actual results or changes in
estimates could have an impact on the liabilities and results of operations recorded by the Company.
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Pension and other post-retirement benefit obligations
The Company’s obligations and expenses relating to defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans are determined using actuarial calculations, and are dependent on
significant assumptions such as the long-term rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate for
pension benefits obligations and the rate of compensation increase. While management believes
these assumptions are reasonable, differences in actual results or changes in assumptions could
have an impact on the obligations and expenses recorded by the Company.
Share-based compensation
The Company measures the fair value of its share-based compensation awards using the BlackScholes option pricing model and recognizes the fair value expense on a straight-line basis over the
relevant vesting period. Management uses judgment to determine the inputs to the Black-Scholes
option pricing model including expected plan lives, underlying share price volatility and forfeiture
rates. Changes in these assumptions could have a material impact on the calculation of fair value
and the amount of compensation expense recognized in earnings.
Investment tax credits
The Company recognizes investment tax credits when the reasonable assurance threshold is met.
Investment tax credits may be carried forward to reduce future Canadian federal and provincial
income taxes payable. The Company applies judgment when determining whether the reasonable
assurance threshold has been met to recognize investment tax credits in the consolidated financial
statements. The Company must interpret eligibility requirements in accordance with Canadian
income tax laws and must assess whether future taxable income will be available against which the
investment tax credits can be utilized. Any changes in these interpretations and assessments could
have a material impact on the amount and timing of investment tax credits recognized in the
consolidated financial statements. Furthermore, the amount of investment tax credits recognized in a
period may impact operating EBITDA margin percentages.
Income taxes
The Company is subject to taxation in numerous jurisdictions and exercises judgment in estimating
the provision for federal, provincial, and foreign income taxes. Income tax laws and regulations can
be complex and are potentially subject to different interpretation between the Company and the
respective tax authority. Provisions for tax are made using the Company’s best estimate of the
amount of tax expected to be paid based on an assessment of all relevant factors. However, the
precision and reliability of the estimates are subject to uncertainty and may change as additional
information becomes known.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only when it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available in future periods against which deductible temporary differences may be utilized. The
recognition of deferred income tax assets involves considerable use of judgment and requires
management to make estimates and assumptions, including estimates of projected taxable income,
the timing of the reversal of temporary differences, the tax rates and laws in each respective
jurisdiction and the impact of tax planning strategies. The amount of recognized deferred tax assets
may change from period to period due to the uncertainties surrounding these assumptions.
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
On January 1, 2014, the Company adopted the following amendments to accounting standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board:
• Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities, an amendment to IAS 32 - Financial Instruments:
Presentation; and
• Amendments to IAS 36 - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets.
The adoption of these amendments to accounting standards did not have a significant impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had no transactions with related parties as defined in IAS
24, Related Party Disclosures, except those pertaining to transactions with key management
personnel in the ordinary course of their employment or directorship arrangements.
2014

2013

4.1
16.2

3.5
27.8

20.3

31.3

($ millions)

Salaries and other benefits
Share-based payments

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company considers the management of financial risks to be an important part of its overall
corporate risk management policy. Foreign exchange forward contracts are used to hedge the
Company’s exposure to currency risk on sales, purchases, cash and loans denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the Company’s domestic and foreign operations. The
Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage existing exposures, irrespective of
whether the Company formally documents such relationships as hedges in accordance with hedge
accounting requirements.
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had foreign exchange forward purchase contracts for $229
million (December 31, 2013 - $321 million) and foreign exchange forward sales contracts for $572
million (December 31, 2013 - $358 million).
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair values, which are determined with reference to
quoted bid or ask prices where available. In the absence of an active market or direct quote, the
Company determines fair value based on internal valuation models, such as discounted cash flow
analysis, using management estimates and observable market-based inputs, as applicable.
Management estimates include assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated future
cash flows and application of appropriate discount rates. Observable market-based inputs are
sourced from third parties and include interest rates and yield curves, currency spot and forward
rates, and credit spreads, as applicable.
When derivative financial instruments are designated in a qualifying hedging relationship and hedge
accounting is applied, the effectiveness of the hedges is measured at the end of each reporting
period and the effective portion of changes in fair value is recognized in other comprehensive
income and any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in earnings. For foreign exchange
forward contracts used to manage risk associated with foreign currency rates, amounts are
transferred from accumulated other comprehensive income to revenue or direct costs, selling,
general and administration when the underlying transaction affects earnings. For derivative financial
instruments not in a qualifying hedging relationship, changes in fair value are recognized
immediately in earnings as a foreign exchange gain or loss or other account, as appropriate.
As at December 31, 2014, the Company’s foreign exchange forward contracts had a cumulative
unrealized gain on fair valuation of $14 million (December 31, 2013 - cumulative unrealized loss of
$1.2 million). Derivative financial instruments that qualified for hedge accounting had a cumulative
net gain on fair valuation of $25 million recorded in other comprehensive income as at December 31,
2014 (December 31, 2013 - cumulative net gain of $5.9 million).
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Certain foreign exchange derivative contracts entered into by the Company to hedge foreign
currency exposures did not qualify for hedge accounting as the timing of the anticipated cash flows
and/or the contract currency for certain subcontracts could not be predicted with sufficient certainty.
Accordingly, the fair value adjustments on these derivative contracts were recognized in net
earnings immediately. This resulted in timing differences between the recognition of fair value
adjustments in earnings versus revenues and costs, which were recognized on the percentage of
completion basis using spot rates. Had these derivative contracts qualified for hedge accounting, the
fair value adjustments would have been deferred and accumulated in other comprehensive income
until the hedged revenues or costs were recognized, eliminating the timing differences. For 2014,
management’s estimate of the foreign exchange timing differences on these derivative contracts not
subject to hedge accounting was a loss of $4.9 million compared to a gain of $0.2 million for 2013.
Further, the Company is exposed to credit risk through its cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, short-term investments, trade and other receivables, orbital receivables, notes receivable and
derivative financial instruments. The Company is exposed to liquidity risk in meeting its contractual
obligations associated with financial liabilities as they become due. The Company is exposed to
fluctuations in interest rates since a proportion of its capital structure consists of variable rate debt.
The Company is exposed to share-based compensation costs risk as share-based compensation
expense can vary significantly as the price of its common shares changes.
Refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements for more information on the impact of
financial risks, including sensitivity analysis on variances to foreign exchange rates, interest rates
and the Company’s share price, as well as the Company’s risk management strategy to minimize the
potential adverse effects of these risks.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management
evaluated the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as at
December 31, 2014. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as at
December 31, 2014 at providing reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by
the Company in reports filed under Canadian securities legislation is (i) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Canadian securities legislation and
(ii) accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with IFRS.
In 2014, the Company transitioned to the Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The transition to
the updated framework did not have a significant impact on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management
evaluated the design and operation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at
December 31, 2014 against the updated framework. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive
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Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting was effective as at December 31, 2014.
There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the quarter ended December 31, 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, any control system, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that it will
prevent or detect all misstatements, due to error or fraud, from occurring in the consolidated financial
statements.
Dividend
Semi-annual common share dividends paid in 2014:
Dividend per share, paid March 31, 2014
Dividend per share, paid September 30, 2014

$0.65
$0.65

On February 25, 2015, the Company changed its dividend policy to pay dividends quarterly instead
of semi-annually and declared a quarterly dividend of $0.37 per common share payable on March
31, 2015 to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 16, 2015. The new dividend
rate represents a 14% increase over the dividend rate for 2014.
Outstanding share data
The Company’s articles of incorporation authorize the issuance of an unlimited number of common
shares and an unlimited number of preferred shares issuable in series and convertible to common
shares. As at December 31, 2014, the Company had 36,113,830 common shares with no par value
outstanding.
As at February 16, 2015, the Company had 36,124,352 common shares with no par value
outstanding.
Public securities filings
Additional information about MDA, including its most recent Annual Information Form, is available on
the Company’s website at www.mdacorporation.com, or on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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RECONCILIATIONS
The following table reconciles operating EBITDA and operating earnings to net earnings for the last
eight quarters.
Q4
2014

Q3
2014

Q2
20141

Q1
2014

Q4
2013

Q3
2013

Q2
2013

Q1
2013

($ millions)

Operating EBITDA

Corporate expense
Net finance expense
Depreciation and amortization
Income tax expense on operating earnings
Operating earnings

Items affecting comparability:
Share-based compensation
Amortization of acquisition related intangible
assets
ViaSat settlement and associated activities
Enterprise improvement costs
Acquisition related expense
Pension and other post-retirement plan
amendments
Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Write-off of bank facility fees
Income tax expense adjustment
Net earnings (loss)
1

87.4

84.8

90.7

85.3

81.9

80.4

81.5

81.6

(2.5)
(8.8)
(12.7)
(9.5)

(2.9)
(8.5)
(12.7)
(10.0)

(2.8)
(8.3)
(11.9)
(13.8)

(1.9)
(8.5)
(11.9)
(13.6)

(2.8)
(10.5)
(12.1)
(8.2)

(3.1)
(10.5)
(11.8)
(8.4)

(2.9)
(11.8)
(11.3)
(12.2)

(2.5)
(13.1)
(10.9)
(13.3)

53.9

50.7

53.9

49.4

48.3

46.6

43.3

41.8

(28.1)

0.0

(6.1)

(15.2)

(14.3)

(29.1)

(6.3)

(30.5)

(8.9)
(47.6)
(0.2)

(8.0)
(2.5)
(15.6)
(0.7)

(8.0)
(2.4)
-

(8.1)
-

(8.2)
0.3

(7.9)
(3.0)

(7.4)
-

(7.3)
(1.9)

(1.8)
(5.1)
2.0

(2.1)
(3.1)
2.8

(2.1)
0.1
1.1

(2.3)
(2.3)
3.5

(4.7)
3.8

40.1
(6.9)
6.7

0.3
1.2

(3.7)
(3.1)
6.9

(35.8)

21.5

36.5

25.0

25.2

46.5

31.1

2.2

For comparative purposes, the Company reclassified $2.4 million of legal fees related to the ViaSat litigation from
Corporate expense to Other expense – ViaSat settlement.

The following table reconciles segment operating EBITDA to segment profit for the fiscal years
indicated.
Communications

Surveillance &
Intelligence

2014
Total

Communications

Surveillance &
Intelligence

2013
Total

187.4
(42.7)
144.7

160.8
(6.5)
154.3

348.2
(49.2)
299.0

181.9
(39.0)
142.9

143.5
(7.1)
136.4

325.4
(46.1)
279.3

($ millions)

Operating EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization1
Segment profit
1

Excludes amortization of acquisition related intangible assets.
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BUSINESS RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Company is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that can significantly affect its
business, financial condition and future financial performance. The Company has a comprehensive
process to identify, manage, and mitigate risk, wherever possible. The risks and uncertainties
described below are not necessarily the only risks the Company faces. Additional risks and
uncertainties that are presently unknown to the Company or deemed immaterial by the Company
may adversely affect the Company’s business.
Government Contracts and Regulations
Changes in government policies, priorities or regulations, or funding levels through agency or
program budget reductions, the imposition of budgetary constraints or the lack of government
appropriations or the delay and/or deferment in governmental contract approvals or in government
programs could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations or future growth. A decline in governmental support and funding for programs in which
the Company or its customers participate could result in contract terminations, delays in contract
rewards, the failure to exercise contract options, the cancellation of planned procurements and fewer
new business opportunities, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial condition and results of operation. Furthermore, contracts with any government, including
the Canadian or United States government, may be terminated or suspended by the government at
any time, with or without cause, and could result in significant liability obligations. There can be no
assurance that any contract with the government of any country will not be terminated or suspended
in the future. Although the Company attempts to ensure that government contracts have, as
standard provisions, termination for convenience language which reimburses the contractor for
reasonable costs incurred, subcontractor and employee termination and wind-down costs plus a
reasonable amount of profit thereon, the payments are not assured and may not be sufficient to fully
compensate the Company for any early termination of a contract, which may impact the results of
operations and financial condition of the Company. (The use of “government” in this document
includes government agencies, government owned entities, and the various levels of government.)
Some areas in which the Company operates are subject to significant regulation. These regulations
are subject to change. A failure by the Company to keep current and compliant with these changes
could result in sanctions or financial penalties that may have a material adverse effect on its results
of operations, or limit its ability to operate in a specific market.
The operation of certain systems, such as satellites or other devices, which are or will be operated
by the Company, require regulatory approvals to be obtained by the Company, such as those
relating to licences and communication frequencies. In certain circumstances third parties may be
required to obtain such approvals or licences. There can be no assurance that the approvals or
licences will be obtained by either the Company or third parties on a timely basis or retained for
continuous operations. A failure to obtain approvals or licences could affect the Company’s results of
operations and financial condition.
Growth in the commercial satellite market
The Company’s growth in the commercial satellite market is dependent on the growth in the sales of
services provided by its customers as well as the development by its customers of new services. If
the Company fails to anticipate changes in the businesses of its customers and their changing
needs, or fails to successfully identify and enter new markets, the Company’s results of operations
and financial position could be adversely affected. The markets that the Company serves may not
grow in the future and the Company may not be able to maintain adequate gross margins or profits
in these markets. A decline in demand in one or several end-user markets of the Company’s
customers could have a material adverse effect on the demand for the Company’s satellites and
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial
condition.
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Reliance on Third Party Subcontractors and Suppliers
The Company’s business is often dependent upon the performance by third party subcontractors in
order for MDA, as prime contractor, to complete its contracts. Subcontractors for most system
programs or critical support requirements are selected in accordance with the customer’s
requirements, either as directed by the customer or as evaluated by the Company during the
contractor qualification process. Subcontractors are in most cases also selected through a
competitive bid or negotiated process. As applicable, major development subcontracts are
established as firm fixed price contracts, generally with supporting performance bonds or other
security, liquidated damages or other penalties for non-performance. However, some subcontractors
have limitations or exclusions from certain liabilities. The Company believes that these
subcontractors would have an economic incentive to perform such subcontracts for the Company,
although no company can protect itself against all potential failures or breaches by subcontractors,
particularly those related to financial insolvency of the subcontractors or to cost overruns by
subcontractors. In addition, a significant price increase in those subcontracts which are not firm fixed
price, delays in performance, a subcontractor’s failure to perform or the inability to obtain
replacement subcontractors at a reasonable price, when and if needed, could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
To build satellites, the Company relies on suppliers, some of which are competitors, to provide the
Company with certain component parts. The number of suppliers capable of providing these
components is limited, and, in some cases, the supplier is a sole source, based upon the unique
nature of the product or the customer requirement to procure components with proven flight heritage.
These suppliers are not all large, well-capitalized companies, and to the extent they experience
financial difficulties, their ability to timely deliver components that satisfy a customer’s contract
requirements could be impaired. A failure by the Company to meet its contractual delivery
requirements, as a result of a supplier’s or the Company’s failure or delayed performance, could give
rise to liquidated damage payments by the Company or could cause a customer to terminate its
construction contract with the Company for default.
Firm Fixed Price Contracts
A large percentage of the Company’s contracts are firm fixed price contracts. These firm fixed price
contracts at times involve the completion of satellite development and manufacturing, large-scale
system engineering, software, hardware and product development projects. There is a risk in every
firm fixed price contract that the Company will be unable to deliver under the contract within the time
specified and at a cost to the Company which is less than the contract price. The technical nature
and complexity of the satellites, systems and products deliverable under these contracts may require
amendments to be negotiated from time to time, subject to agreed contract change processes. In the
absence of any agreement to such amendments which increase the price payable or extend delivery
times when deliveries are late, customers may be in a position to terminate the contract, or to
demand repayments or penalties. The Company has processes and systems in place to reasonably
measure and monitor the technical and financial performance of contracts and the Company,
together with the customer, continuously monitors these projects to identify early warnings related to
these risks. In addition, the Company implements risk management and mitigation techniques as
part of its program management processes. Notwithstanding these processes, a contract may end
up in a default or in a cost overrun. A termination of a contract for default or a significant cost
overrun that is caused by actions or inactions by the Company could adversely affect the Company’s
results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, many of the Company’s contracts may be terminated for convenience by the customer.
In the event of such termination, the Company is normally entitled to recover the purchase price for
delivered items, reimbursement for allowable costs for work in process and an allowance for profit or
an adjustment for loss, depending on whether completion of the project would have resulted in a
profit or loss.
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Changes in Estimates
Contract accounting requires the Company to exercise judgment when assessing risks, estimating
contract revenues and costs, and making assumptions for scheduling and technical issues. Due to
the nature of many of the Company’s contracts, the estimation of total revenues and costs at
completion is complicated and subject to many variables. Incentives and penalties related to
performance on contracts are considered in estimating revenue and profit rates, and are recorded
when there is sufficient information for the Company to reasonably assess anticipated performance.
Because of the significance of factors outside of the Company’s control in the estimation processes
described above, it is possible that materially different amounts could be obtained if different
assumptions were used or if the underlying circumstances or estimates were to change or ultimately
be different from the Company’s expectations. Changes or inaccuracies in underlying assumptions,
circumstances or estimates may have a material adverse effect upon the financial results of future
periods.
Some of the Company’s contracts provide for payments contingent upon successful operation of a
satellite, system or product. While the Company may procure insurance policies that the Company
believes would indemnify it for fees that are not earned and for performance refund obligations,
insurance may not continue to be available on economical terms, if at all. Further, the Company may
elect not to procure insurance. In addition, some of the Company’s contracts require the Company to
pay penalties or damages in the event that satellites, systems or products are not delivered on a
timely basis, or to refund cash receipts if a contract is terminated for default prior to delivery. The
Company’s failure to receive incentive payments, or a requirement that the Company refund
amounts previously received or that it pay delay penalties, could have a material adverse effect on
its financial condition and results of operations.
Potential for Liability
There is a risk that the Company’s satellites, products or systems may contain errors or defects or
fail to perform as intended. While the Company strives to contractually limit its liability for damages
arising from its provision of satellites, products and systems, such limitations of liability, although
existing in the vast majority of the Company’s contracts, may not have been included in all of the
Company’s past contractual arrangements or sales nor may any such limitations of liability be at
levels that if incurred, would not have an adverse effect on the Company’s operating results and
financial condition. Additionally, where such limitations have been included, there can be no
assurance that they will be enforceable in all circumstances or in all jurisdictions or that they
otherwise will protect the Company from liability for any claims or damages except as any insurance
coverage applies. Furthermore, litigation, regardless of contractual terms, could result in substantial
cost to the Company, divert management’s attention and resources from the Company’s operations
and result in negative publicity that may impair the Company’s ongoing marketing efforts. Although
the Company purchases product liability insurance (covering risk of property damage and personal
injury) and errors and omissions insurance and its contracts provide for reasonable warranty
limitations, there is no assurance that such measures will cover any or all of, or the extent of, any
claims.
Quality Issues and Contract Performance
The Company sells complex systems, including satellites, products, hardware and software that can
contain defects in design, manufacture and software implementation. The satellites and systems that
the Company develops and manufactures are technologically advanced and complex. Sophisticated
software such as those developed by the Company may contain defects that can unexpectedly
interfere with the software’s intended operation. Defects may also occur in components and products
that the Company purchases from third parties. In addition, most of the satellites and systems
developed by the Company sometimes must function under demanding and unpredictable operating
conditions and in harsh and potentially destructive environments. The Company employs
sophisticated design and testing processes and practices which include a range of stringent factory
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and on-site acceptance tests with criteria and requirements jointly developed with the customers.
However, there can be no assurance that the Company’s satellites or systems will be successfully
implemented, will pass required acceptance criteria, or will operate or give the desired output. The
Company may also agree to the in orbit delivery of a satellite, adding further risks to its ability to
perform under the contract. Failure to achieve successful in orbit delivery could result in significant
penalties and other obligations to the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will
be able to detect and fix all defects in the satellites, systems, products, hardware and software it
sells or resolve any delays or availability issues in the launch services it procures. Failure to do so
could result in lost revenue, harm to reputation, and significant warranty and other expenses, and
could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition and operating results. In
addition, a failure with respect to any satellite may adversely affect the perception by the Company’s
customers of the quality of its satellites and may materially and adversely affect the Company’s
ability to win new awards of satellite construction contracts.
Construction performance incentives
Many of the Company’s systems and satellite construction contracts permit its customers to pay a
portion of the purchase price based on future performance. For satellite systems (which may include
launch and performance) approximately 10% of the purchase price may be paid over the life of the
satellite (typically 15 years) subject to the continued performance of the satellite, referred to as
orbital receivables. Since these orbital receivables could be affected by future satellite performance,
the Company may not be able to collect all or a portion of these receivables. The Company generally
does not insure for these orbital receivables and, in some cases, agrees with its customers not to
insure them.
The Company records the present value of orbital receivables as revenue during the construction of
the satellite, which is typically two to three years. The Company generally receives the present value
of these orbital receivables if there is a launch failure or a failure caused by customer error. The
Company forfeits some or all of these payments, however, if the loss is caused by satellite failure or
as a result of its own error.
In addition to performance of the satellite, there can be no assurance that a customer will not delay
payment of an orbital receivable to, or seek financial relief from, the Company if such customer has
financial difficulties. Nonpayment of an orbital receivable by a customer for performance or other
reasons could have an adverse effect on the Company’s cash flows. In addition, if the Company’s
customers fall behind or default on payments of orbital receivables, the Company’s liquidity will be
adversely affected.
Some of the Company’s satellite construction contracts provide for performance incentives to the
customer in the form of warranty payback, which means that in the event satellite anomalies develop
after launch, the Company would owe the customer a specified penalty payment. The Company
does not insure these contingent liabilities. The Company has recorded reserves in its financial
statements based on current estimates of its warranty liabilities. There is no assurance that the
Company’s actual liabilities to its customers in respect of these warranty liabilities will not be greater
than the amount reserved.
Satellite performance issues
Component failure is not uncommon in complex satellites. Costs resulting from component failure
may result in warranty expenses, loss of orbital receivables and/or additional loss of revenues due to
the postponement or cancellation of subsequently scheduled operations or satellite deliveries and
may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.
Negative publicity from satellite failures may also impair the Company’s ability to win new contracts
from existing and new customers.
Some of the satellites built by the Company’s U.S. satellite manufacturing subsidiary have
experienced losses of power from their solar arrays. In the event of additional power loss, the extent
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of the performance degradation, if any, will depend on numerous factors, including the amount of the
additional power loss, the level of redundancy built into the affected satellite’s design, when in the
life of the affected satellite the loss occurred, how many transponders are then in service and how
such transponders are being used. A partial or complete loss of a satellite could result in an
incurrence of warranty payments by, or a loss of orbital receivables to, the Company.
In the Company’s Geospatial Services operations, the Company relies on data collected from a
number of sources including data obtained from satellites. Satellites can cease to function for
reasons beyond the Company’s control. In certain instances, governments may discontinue for
periods of time the access to or operation of a satellite for any particular area on the Earth and for
various reasons may not permit transmission of certain data, whether from a satellite owned by the
government or not. Although such data may be available from other sources at different prices, there
is no assurance that the data will be available at the quality or at the times required. Also, the launch
or operation of new satellites to replace old satellites may be delayed or may fail. Any of these
factors could affect the Company’s ability to obtain data or alternate sources of data for its products.
Any such delay or failure could affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.
MDA Geospatial Services Inc.’s sales are dependent primarily on data received from RADARSAT-2.
The failure of RADARSAT-2 could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations and financial condition.
Acquisitions and Divestitures
The Company has in the past and may continue to expand its operations and business by acquiring
additional businesses, products or technologies. There can be no assurance that the Company will
be able to identify, acquire, obtain the required regulatory approvals, or profitably manage additional
businesses or successfully integrate any acquired businesses, products or technologies into the
Company without substantial expenses, delays or other operational, regulatory, or financial
problems. Furthermore, acquisitions may involve a number of additional risks, including diversion of
management’s attention, failure to retain key personnel, unanticipated events or circumstances and
unidentified pre-closing liabilities and other legal liabilities, some or all of which could have an
adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition,
there can be no assurance that acquired businesses, products or technologies, if any, will achieve
anticipated revenues and income growth. Acquisitions could also result in potentially dilutive
issuances of equity securities. The failure of the Company to manage its acquisitions strategy
successfully could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations
and financial condition.
When divesting of certain businesses of the Company, the Company may not be able to obtain
releases from counterparties under contracts for such divested businesses and may be required to
provide indemnities to third parties or the purchaser with respect to such divested businesses. The
Company will have little control over any divested business and may be called on to perform under
contracts or indemnities without control. While the Company will seek indemnification from the
purchaser for these continuing obligations, there can be no certainty that the Company will be
indemnified. These obligations could result in the Company being liable for payment of damages,
costs and penalties related to non-performance of a contract. The sale agreement for a divested
business contains indemnification provisions pursuant to which the Company may be required to
indemnify the purchaser of the divested business for liabilities, losses, or expenses arising out of
breaches of covenants and certain breaches of representations and warranties (including breaches
of representations and warranties stated to be based on the knowledge of specified persons) relating
to the condition of the divested business prior to and at the time of sale. While the Company
believes, based upon the facts presently known to it, that it has made adequate provision for any
such potential indemnification obligations, there is a possibility that other facts may become known
in the future which may subject the Company to claims for additional liabilities or expenses beyond
those presently anticipated and provided for. In addition, a purchaser may make allegations relating
to disclosures made to it as part of any sale process, in addition to any contractual obligations that
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the Company may have to the purchaser. The Company may also not be able to invest or utilize the
net proceeds realized by the Company in the divestiture of a business, in a manner to achieve the
same return to the Company that had been historically realized by the divested business. Any action
taken by others against the Company on any continuing obligations related to a divested business,
any claim of a material amount under any indemnity, and the inability to utilize the net proceeds of a
divestiture in a manner that maximizes the Company’s return could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s business and results of operations.
Certain commercial satellite customers are highly leveraged and may not fulfill their
contractual payment obligations, including vendor financing
The Company has certain commercial customers that are either highly leveraged or are in the
development stages and may not be fully funded. There is a risk that these customers will be unable
to meet their payment obligations under their satellite construction contracts. In the event that any of
the Company’s customers encounter financial difficulties, the Company’s cash flows and liquidity
may be materially and adversely affected. The Company may not be able to mitigate these effects
because it manufactures satellites to each customer’s specifications and generally purchases
materials in response to a particular customer contract.
Moreover, many of the satellite contracts include orbital receivables, and certain satellite contracts
may require the Company to provide vendor financing to or on behalf of its customers, including
guarantees or a combination of these contractual terms. To the extent that the Company’s contracts
contain orbital receivables provisions or the Company provides vendor financing to or on behalf of its
customers, the Company’s financial exposure is further increased. In some cases, these
arrangements are provided to (i) customers that are new companies, (ii) companies in the early
stages of building new businesses or (iii) highly leveraged companies, in some cases, with near-term
debt maturities. These companies or their businesses may not be successful and, accordingly, they
may not be able to fulfil their payment obligations under their contracts.
Investment in working capital
The Company has provided, and may provide in the future, partial financing of working capital to or
on behalf of its customers to enable it to remain competitive in certain satellite construction
contracts. The Company has in the past, or currently, implemented these investments in the form of
orbital receivables, work-in-progress, performance guarantees, or bridge financing indemnification of
third party lenders. The Company may also arrange for partial or full third party financing with Export
Credit Agencies to be provided to its customers, which may be partially guaranteed by the Company.
In addition, if a customer defaults on an obligation to the Company or to an indemnified third party,
this could have a significant impact on the Company’s business and results of operations. Financing
provided both by the Company and third party financing arranged by the Company may be linked to
the Company’s ability to deliver the satellite in orbit. If the Company cannot achieve a successful in
orbit delivery, the Company could be liable for repayment of amounts received from third party
finance providers and could forfeit amounts financed by the Company and any future amounts that
would otherwise been earned. The Company undertakes significant customer due diligence prior to
providing any financial support to customers and will attempt to limit its exposure through the use of
insurance products and other contractual measures but there can be no assurance that such
products will be available or will be at a cost that is economically viable.
Fixed costs
The Company requires a large staff of highly skilled and specialized workers, as well as specialized
manufacturing and test facilities, in order to perform under its satellite construction contracts. In
order to maintain its ability to compete as one of the prime contractors for technologically advanced
space satellites, the Company must continuously retain the services of a core group of specialists in
a wide variety of disciplines for each phase of the design, development, manufacture and testing of
its products. This reduces the Company’s flexibility to reduce workforce costs in the event of a
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slowdown or downturn in its business. In addition, the manufacturing and test facilities that the
Company owns or leases under long-term agreements are fixed costs that cannot be adjusted
quickly to account for significant variance in production requirements or economic conditions.
Facility space and qualified personnel availability
In order to complete construction of all the satellites in backlog and to enable future growth, the
Company’s U.S. satellite manufacturing subsidiary, SSL, has modified and expanded its
manufacturing facilities to accommodate, integrate and test up to 13 satellite construction awards
per year, depending on the complexity and timing of the specific satellites. Due to scheduling
requirements, however, SSL relies on outside suppliers for certain critical production and testing
activities, such as thermal vacuum testing. It is possible that such outside suppliers will not be able
to accommodate SSL’s scheduling requirements, which may cause SSL to incur additional costs or
fail to meet contractual delivery deadlines. Further, SSL may not be able to hire or retain sufficient
personnel with the requisite skills and training and, accordingly, SSL may not be able to perform its
contracts as efficiently as planned or grow its business to the planned level.
Dependence on Data and Systems
The Company maintains, at various locations, databases of information and systems infrastructure.
Such systems are required to be available without interruption on a continuous basis to meet
contractual service level obligations, and to ensure the Company’s communications, data, and
operational needs are met. System security network threats are frequent and mechanical or software
errors may cause system corruption or failure. In addition, the databases are subject to similar
security threats and data corruption or loss may occur as a result of such security threats or
malfunction of software or hardware. Errors in data could lead to significant liability to the Company if
the Company’s customers relied on such incorrect data. Although the Company provides for
redundancy, disaster recovery, tested systems and network security, it cannot prevent all possible
errors or threats.
Dependence on Data Providers
Certain of the products offered by the Company rely on data supplied by third parties. Contracts for
data supply normally have provisions which permit either party to terminate the agreement in the
event of a breach by the other party. There may, however, be costs to the Company associated with
its breach of such contracts and the acquisition of software and/or data to be provided in its
products. In the event that any of such contracts are terminated, or a data provider is not otherwise
able to provide data, the Company may experience delays in obtaining data from alternative sources
which may affect the Company’s operations or financial condition. The Company also sources data
from various third parties without formal contracts applying to such transactions. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to continually acquire data from all government or other
sources at a cost that permits the Company to realize a profit.
If the Company is unable to protect sensitive information, its customers and governmental authorities
could question the adequacy of the Company’s threat and error mitigation and detection systems
and procedures. The costs related to system security network threats and disruptions may not be
fully insured or indemnified by other means. Any occurrence of these events could have a material
adverse impact on the Company’s operations, reputation, competitive advantages and financial
condition.
Dependence on Key Personnel and U.S. Proxy Board
The success of the Company is largely dependent on the abilities and experience of its executive
officers and other key personnel. Competition for highly skilled management, technical, research and
development and other personnel is intense in the Company’s industry. There can be no assurance
that the Company can retain its current executive officers or key personnel or attract and retain
additional executive officers or key personnel as needed. Further, some of the technical and
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administrative personnel at the Company’s operations in Canada work under a number of collective
bargaining agreements, each with different contractual terms and termination dates. The loss of
certain executive officers or key personnel and the disruption to operations due to work stoppages
could have an adverse impact upon the Company’s growth, operations and profitability. In addition,
in order to obtain certain business from government agencies in the United States, the Company has
established a separate proxy board of directors to oversee the management and operations of
several subsidiaries domiciled in the United States, and the Company and its board of directors are
restricted in their oversight over that separate proxy board of directors and the management of those
subsidiaries. In addition, the Company must comply with U.S. Department of Defense rules and
procedures in the operation of a proxy company. The actions taken or not taken by the management
or the proxy board of directors could have an impact on the Company’s growth, reputation and
profitability.
Technological Change
The markets in which the Company operates are characterized by changing technology and evolving
industry standards. The Company’s systems embody complex technology and may not always be
compatible with current and evolving technical standards and systems developed by others. Failure
or delays by the Company to meet or comply with the requisite and evolving industry or user
standards could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations
and financial condition. The Company’s ability to anticipate changes in technology, technical
standards and the needs of the industries it serves or proposes to serve will be a significant factor in
the Company’s ability to compete or expand into new markets. Despite years of experience in
meeting customer systems requirements with the latest in technological solutions, there can be no
assurance that the Company will be successful in identifying, developing and marketing products or
systems that respond to rapid technological change, evolving standards or individual customer
standards or requirements.
The satellite manufacturing industry is characterized by technological developments necessary to
meet changing customer demand for complex and reliable services. The Company needs to invest
in technology to meet its customers’ changing needs. Technological development is expensive and
requires long lead time. It is possible that the Company may not be successful in developing new
technology or that the technology it is successful in developing may not meet the needs of its
customers or potential new customers. The Company’s competitors may also develop technology
that better meets the needs of its customers, which may cause those customers or potential new
customers to buy satellites from the Company’s competitors. If the Company does not continue to
develop, manufacture and market innovative technologies or applications that meet customers’
requirements, sales may suffer.
Retention of Markets and Development of New Offerings
The Company may experience design, manufacturing, marketing and other difficulties that could
delay or prevent the development, introduction or acceptance of new products, systems and
enhancements. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to anticipate and achieve
the technological advances necessary to remain competitive and profitable, that new products or
systems will be developed and manufactured on schedule or on a cost-effective basis or that the
Company’s existing products or systems will not become technologically obsolete. The Company’s
failure to accurately predict the needs of current and prospective customers, and to develop
products, systems or enhancements that address those needs, may result in the loss of current
customers or the inability to secure new customers.
Significant Competition
Many of the Company’s competitors are larger and have substantially greater resources than the
Company. Furthermore, it is possible that other domestic or foreign companies or governments,
some with greater experience in the industry in which the Company operates and many with greater
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financial resources than the Company possesses, could seek to produce satellites, products,
systems or services that compete with the Company’s satellites, products, systems or services,
including using new technology which could render the Company’s satellites, products, systems or
services less competitively viable. Some of the Company’s foreign competitors currently benefit
from, and others may benefit in the future from, subsidies or protective measures by their home
countries. Furthermore, government agencies may at any time decide to perform similar work as the
Company either for themselves or for other government agencies, effectively competing with the
Company.
Fluctuations in foreign currencies in general and the strengthening of the U.S. dollar and weakening
of the Euro in particular could make some of the Company’s non-U.S. competitors more cost
competitive.
The Company’s financial performance is dependent on its ability to generate a sustainable order rate
for its manufacturing operations. This can be challenging and may fluctuate on an annual and
quarterly basis as the number of satellite construction contracts awarded varies and is difficult to
predict. There is also competitive pressure on pricing and other material contractual terms, such as
those allocating risk between the manufacturer and its customers.
Infringement Claims from Intellectual Property
Certain software modules and other intellectual property used by the Company or in the Company’s
satellites, products and systems make use of or incorporate licensed software components and
other licensed technology. These components are developed by third parties over whom the
Company has no control. The Company has no assurances that those components do not infringe
upon the intellectual property rights of others or that in the combination used by the Company does
not infringe on the rights of others. The Company could be exposed to infringement claims and
liability in connection with the use of those software components. The Company may be forced to
replace those components with internally developed, purchased or other licensed software, pay
royalties or be liable to indemnify its customers on the use of the software components, or suffer loss
of business due to outstanding intellectual property infringement legal claims.
The Company relies, in part, on patents and industry expertise to develop and maintain its
competitive position in its satellite manufacturing business. The Company’s patents include those
relating to communications, station keeping, power control systems, antennae, filters and oscillators,
phased arrays and thermal control as well as assembly and inspection technology. The patents held
by the Company expire at various times. There is a risk that competitors could challenge or infringe
the Company’s patents. It is also possible that the Company may infringe current or future third-party
patents or third-party trade secrets. In the event of infringement, the Company could be required to
pay royalties or damages and/or obtain a license from the patent holder, refund money to customers
for components that are not useable or redesign its products to avoid infringement, all of which
would increase the Company’s costs. The Company could also be subject to injunctions prohibiting it
from using components or methods. The Company may also be required under the terms of its
customer contracts to indemnify its customers for damages relating to infringement.
Intellectual Property Rights
To protect the Company’s proprietary rights, the Company relies on a combination of patent
protections, copyrights, trade secrets, trademark laws, confidentiality agreements with employees
and third parties, and protective contractual provisions such as those contained in licence
agreements with consultants, subcontractors, vendors and customers. Despite these efforts, the
Company’s intellectual property rights may be invalidated, circumvented, challenged, infringed or
required to be licensed to others, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition or operating results.
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An infringement or misappropriation could harm any competitive advantage the Company currently
derives or may derive from its proprietary rights. Litigation may be necessary to enforce or protect
the Company's intellectual property rights, protect its trade secrets or determine the validity and
scope of the proprietary rights of others. Such litigation may be time-consuming and expensive to
prosecute or defend and could result in the diversion of the Company's time and resources.
Furthermore, others may develop technologies that are similar or superior to the Company’s
technology, duplicate or reverse engineer the Company’s technology or design around the
Company’s products or systems. Although the Company applies rigorous standards, documents and
processes to protect its intellectual property, there is no absolute assurance that the steps taken to
protect the Company’s technology will prevent misappropriation or infringement.
If any of the Company’s technology violates proprietary rights, including copyrights and patents, third
parties may assert infringement claims against the Company. Any claims from third parties may also
result in limitations on the Company's ability to use the intellectual property subject to these claims.
The Company may be required to redesign its satellites, products or systems or obtain licences from
third parties to continue offering the Company’s satellites, products or systems without substantially
re-engineering such products or systems or defending itself and its customers against infringement
claims and liability for damages. This may affect the Company’s operations and, in addition, the
Company could suffer substantial costs in defending itself against infringement claims.
Exposure to Foreign Currencies
The Company’s financial results are reported in Canadian dollars. A substantial portion of the
Company’s revenues and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars.
The Company uses hedging strategies to manage and minimize the impact of exchange rate
fluctuations on its cash flow and economic profits. There are complexities inherent in determining
whether and when foreign exchange exposures will materialize, in particular given the possibility of
unpredictable revenue variations arising from schedule delays and contract postponements.
Furthermore, the Company could be exposed to the risk of non-performance of its hedging
counterparties. The Company may also have difficulty in fully implementing its hedging strategy
depending on the willingness of hedging counterparties to extend credit. Accordingly, no assurances
may be given that MDA’s exchange rate hedging strategy will protect it from significant changes or
fluctuations in revenues and expenses denominated in non-Canadian dollars.
MDA’s revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
Canadian dollar are translated into Canadian dollars for the purposes of compiling its consolidated
financial statements. Changes in the value of these currencies relative to the Canadian dollar will
have an effect on the Canadian dollar value of the Company’s reported consolidated revenues,
expenses, assets, liabilities and earnings.
Economic and Political Conditions
Customer demand for the Company’s satellites, systems and products may be affected by economic
and political conditions on an international and local level. For example, changes in interest rates,
foreign exchange rates, credit availability, the level of government spending, the cyclical nature of
the commercial satellite market, changes in the business market affecting satellites and satellite
users, and political decisions may influence the Company’s sales or the Company’s ability to access
certain funding. The factors leading to, and the severity and length of, a business downturn are
difficult to predict and it is possible that the Company will not appropriately anticipate changes in the
underlying end markets it serves. It is also difficult to predict whether any increased levels of
business activity will continue as a trend into the future. The Company has mitigated some of its
exposure to variable business cycles by diversifying its business across multiple business activities
and geographic locations. Notwithstanding the Company’s diversification, changing economic and
political decisions and the Company’s failure to anticipate a business downturn may adversely affect
the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.
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Inability to Effect Technology Transfer
Certain businesses of the Company and satellites, products, systems, services or technologies
developed by the Company require the implementation or acquisition of products or technologies
from third parties, including those in other jurisdictions. Also, certain of the Company’s satellites,
products, systems or technologies may be required to be forwarded or exported to other
jurisdictions. In certain cases and only where the technology is re-exported to certain countries, if the
use of the technologies can be viewed by the jurisdiction in which that supplier or subcontractor
resides as being subject to export constraints or restrictions relating to national security, the
Company may not be able to obtain the technologies and products that it requires from
subcontractors who would otherwise be its optimal choice or may not be able to obtain the export
permits necessary to transfer or export its technology. To the extent that it is able, the Company
obtains pre-authorization for re-export prior to signing contracts which oblige the Company to export
subject technologies, including specific foreign government approval as needed. In addition, the
Company maintains an open competitive bidding system, on an international basis, which provides
for qualified suppliers. In the event of export restrictions, the Company may have the ability through
contract force majeure provisions to be excused from its obligations. Notwithstanding these
provisions, the inability to obtain export approvals, export restrictions or changes during contract
execution or non-compliance by the Company’s customers could have an adverse effect on the
revenues and margins of the Company.
Security Environment
Many of the Company’s customers have specific security requirements relating to the work that can
be performed for it. These requirements can change quickly and with little notice causing reduction
or even elimination of potential work for the Company and the ability of the Company to participate in
future business. Any reduction or elimination of work could have an adverse effect on the revenues
and margins of the Company.
Dependence on Business Alliances
A key element of the Company’s business strategy is the formation of corporate alliances with
leading companies. The Company invests significant resources to develop these relationships. The
Company believes that its success in penetrating new markets for its products will depend in part on
its ability to maintain these relationships and to cultivate additional or alternative relationships.
Although significant effort has been dedicated to establishing and maintaining relationships, there
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to develop additional corporate alliances with
such companies, that existing relationships will continue or be successful in achieving their purposes
or that such companies will not form competing arrangements. Any elimination or change of
alliances or the formation by others of competing alliances could have an adverse effect on the
Company’s revenues and financial condition.
Financing Arrangements
The Company requires capital to finance operating working capital requirements and future growth
and to pay its outstanding debt obligations as they come due for payment. If the cash generated
from the Company’s business, together with the credit available under existing bank facilities, is not
sufficient to fund future capital requirements, the Company will require additional debt or equity
financing. The Company’s ability to access capital markets on terms that are acceptable will be
dependent on prevailing market conditions, as well as the Company’s future financial condition.
Further, the Company’s ability to increase its debt financing and/or renew existing facilities may be
limited by its financial covenants, its credit objectives, or debt capital market conditions. Although the
Company does not anticipate any difficulties in raising funds in the future, there can be no assurance
that capital will be available on suitable terms and conditions, or that borrowing costs will not be
adversely affected. In addition, the Company’s current financing arrangements contain certain
restrictive covenants that may impact the Company’s future operating and financial flexibility.
The Company’s debt funding is provided under credit agreements with a number of banks and under
note purchase agreements with several private lenders. A failure by any lender to meet its funding
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obligations under the Company’s credit agreements could result in the need to replace the lender.
While the Company does not anticipate any difficulty in finding a replacement lender in such
circumstances, such a change may result in an amendment of pricing under the credit agreement to
reflect prevailing market conditions.
The credit agreements and note purchase agreements contain a series of positive and negative
covenants which must be complied with by the Company including the achievement or maintenance
of stated financial ratios. If the Company fails to comply with any covenants and is unable to obtain a
waiver thereof, the lenders may be able to take certain actions with respect to the amounts owing
under such agreements, including early payment thereof. Any such actions could have a material
adverse effect on the financial condition of the Company.
In addition, the Company enters into various financial derivative contracts with banks as
counterparties. Failure of a counterparty to meet its obligations under a derivative contract could
result in a material adverse effect to the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. The
Company limits its counterparty exposure to that of large banks and monitors their financial standing.
The Company also depends on certain financing arrangements to be completed by some of its key
customers. The inability by the Company’s customers to arrange satisfactory financing on a timely
basis could have an impact on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial
condition.
International business
A substantial portion of the Company’s revenues is generated from customers outside of Canada
and the United States. The Company could be harmed financially and operationally by changes in
foreign regulations and telecommunications standards, tariffs or taxes and other trade barriers that
may be imposed on its services, or by political and economic instability in the countries in which it
conducts business. Many of the Company’s contracts with foreign customers require payment in
U.S. dollars, and customers in developing countries could have difficulty obtaining U.S. dollars to
pay the Company due to currency exchange controls and other factors. Also, if the Company needs
to pursue legal remedies against its foreign business partners or customers, it may be difficult for the
Company to enforce its rights in a foreign jurisdiction.
The Company sells certain of its communication satellites and other products to non-Canadian and
non-U.S. customers. The Company also procures certain key product components from nonCanadian and non-U.S. vendors. International contracts are subject to numerous risks that may
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operating results, including:
• political and economic instability in foreign markets;
• restrictive trade policies of the Canadian, U.S., and foreign governments;
• inconsistent product regulation by foreign agencies or governments;
• imposition of product tariffs and burdens;
• the cost of complying with a variety of Canadian, U.S. and international laws and regulations,
including regulations relating to import-export control;
• the complexity and necessity of using foreign representatives and consultants;
• inability to obtain required Canadian, U.S. or foreign country export licenses; and
• foreign currency exposure.
Regulation
The satellite manufacturing industry is highly regulated due to the sensitive nature of satellite
technology. It is possible that the laws and regulations governing the Company’s U.S. satellite
manufacturing business and operations will change in the future. There may be a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business and results of operations if SSL is required to alter its business
operations to comply with such changes in law or if SSL’s ability to sell its products and services on
a global basis is reduced or restricted due to increased U.S. or foreign government regulation.
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SSL is required by the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, or ITAR, administered by the U.S.
State Department, to obtain licenses and enter into technical assistance agreements to export
satellites and related equipment and to disclose technical data or provide defense services to foreign
persons. In addition, if a satellite project involves countries, individuals or entities that are the subject
of U.S. economic sanctions, which are referred to here as Sanctions Targets, or is intended to
provide services to Sanctions Targets, SSL’s participation in the project may be prohibited altogether
or licenses or other approvals from the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control,
or OFAC, may be required. The delayed receipt of or the failure to obtain the necessary U.S.
government licenses, approvals and agreements may prohibit entry into or interrupt the completion
of a satellite construction contract by SSL which could lead to a customer’s termination of a contract
for default, monetary penalties and/or the loss of incentive payments.
Some of SSL’s customers and potential customers, along with insurance underwriters and brokers,
have asserted that U.S. export control laws and regulations governing disclosures to foreign persons
excessively restrict their access to information about the satellite during construction and on-orbit.
OFAC sanctions and requirements may also limit certain business opportunities or delay or restrict
SSL’s ability to contract with potential foreign customers or operators. To the extent that SSL’s nonU.S. competitors are not subject to these export control or economic sanctions laws and regulations,
they may enjoy a competitive advantage with foreign customers, and it could become increasingly
difficult for the U.S. satellite manufacturing industry, including SSL, to recapture this lost market
share. Customers concerned over the possibility that the U.S. government may deny the export
license necessary for SSL to deliver their purchased satellite to them, or the restrictions or delays
imposed by the U.S. government licensing requirements, even where an export license is granted,
may elect to choose a purportedly “ITAR-free” satellite offered by one of SSL’s European
competitors over SSL’s satellite. SSL is further disadvantaged by the fact that a purportedly “ITARfree” satellite may be launched less expensively in China on the Chinese Long March rocket, a
launch vehicle that, because of ITAR restrictions, is not available to SSL.
Letters of Credit, Performance Bonds and Parental Guarantees
In the case of a number of the contracts of the Company, letters of credit or other forms of bonds
and parental guarantees are required to be posted by the Company to cover advance payments or
progress payments received by the Company, or to cover the Company’s performance obligations. If
these letters of credit or other bonds or parental guarantees are called in accordance with the terms
and conditions included therein, the effect of such calls could have an adverse effect on the results
of operations and financial condition of the Company. In some cases, the Company obtains wrongful
call insurance from Export Development Canada in order to insure against any wrongful call of
letters of credit.
Insurance
The Company maintains an extensive program of insurance coverage in the normal course of
business, consistent with similar businesses. In addition, the insurance program covers some of the
unique risks encountered by the Company. Although the limits and deductibles of such insurance
have been established through risk analysis and the recommendation of professional advisors, there
can be no assurance that such insurance will remain available to the Company at commercially
reasonable rates or that the amount of such coverage will be adequate to cover all liability incurred
by the Company. If the Company is held liable for amounts exceeding the limits of its insurance
coverage or for claims outside the scope of that coverage, its business, results of operations and
financial condition could be adversely affected.
Anti-corruption Laws
As part of the regulatory and legal environments in which it operates, the Company is subject to
global anti-corruption laws that prohibit improper payments directly or indirectly to government
officials, authorities or persons defined in those anti-corruption laws in order to obtain or retain
business or other improper advantages in the conduct of business.
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The Company’s policies mandate compliance with anti-corruption laws. Failure by the Company’s
employees, agents, subcontractors, suppliers and/or partners to comply with anti-corruption laws
could impact the Company in various ways that include, but are not limited to, criminal, civil and
administrative fines and/or legal sanctions and could have a significant adverse impact on the
Company’s operations and financial results.
Security Breach or Cyber-Attack
The Company, as does any company, faces the risk of a security breach or other significant
disruption of its IT networks and related systems, whether through cyber-attack or cyber intrusion via
the Internet, malware, computer viruses, and email attachments to persons with access to the
Company’s systems, originating from a number of sources including hostile foreign governments.
The Company also faces the added risk of a security breach or other serious disruption of the
systems that it develops and installs for customers or that it develops and provides in any of its
products. As a provider of communication satellites and complex systems, the Company faces a
heightened risk of security breach or disruption from threats to gain unauthorized access to the
Company’s and its customers’ proprietary or classified information stored on the Company’s
networks and related systems and to certain of the equipment used in a customers’ network or
related systems.
These types of information and IT networks and related systems are critical to the operation of the
Company’s business and essential to its ability to perform day-to-day operations, and, in some
cases, are critical to the operations of certain of the Company’s customers. Although the Company
makes significant efforts to maintain the security and integrity of these types of information and IT
networks and related systems, and the Company has implemented various measures to manage the
risk of a security breach or disruption, there can be no assurance that the Company’s security efforts
and measures will be effective or that attempted security breaches or disruptions will not be
successful or damaging. Even the most well protected information, networks, systems and facilities
remain potentially vulnerable because attempted security breaches, particularly cyber-attacks and
intrusions, or disruptions will occur in the future, and because the techniques used in such attempts
are constantly evolving and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, and in
some cases are designed not to be detected and, in fact, may not be detected. Accordingly, the
Company may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate security barriers
or other preventative measures, and thus it is virtually impossible for the Company to entirely
mitigate this risk. A security breach or other significant disruption involving these types of information
and IT networks and related systems could: disrupt the proper functioning of these networks and
systems and therefore the Company’s operations and/or those of certain of its customers; result in
the unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of, proprietary,
confidential, sensitive or otherwise valuable information of the Company or its customers, including
trade secrets, which others could use to compete against the Company or for disruptive, destructive
or otherwise harmful purposes and outcomes; compromise other sensitive government functions;
and damage the Company’s reputation with its customers (particularly agencies of various
governments) and the public generally.
In addition, the cost of continually defending against cyber-attacks and breaches has increased in
recent years and future costs and any or all of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s business and results of operations.
Environmental Regulation
The Company is subject to various federal, state, provincial and local environmental laws and
regulations relating to the operation of its businesses, including those governing pollution, the
handling, storage, disposal and transportation of hazardous substances, and the ownership and
operation of real property. Such laws and regulations may result in significant liabilities and costs
and the loss of permits required to conduct certain operations. There can be no assurance that a
failure to comply with such laws and regulations would not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business in the future.
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Management Report
The management of MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. is responsible for the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) and other
information included in the annual report. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards using the best estimates and
judgments of management, where appropriate. Other financial information presented in this annual
report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.
Management is also responsible for a system of internal controls over the financial reporting process
which is designed to provide reasonable assurance that relevant and reliable financial information is
produced.
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial
reporting responsibilities and for approving the financial information included in the annual report.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with management and the
Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting
process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues. The internal and external auditors have full
access to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews the interim and annual consolidated
financial statements and MD&A and recommends them to the Board of Directors for approval. In
addition, the Audit Committee recommends to the Board of Directors the annual appointment of the
external auditors.

Daniel E. Friedmann
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Anil Wirasekara
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Richmond, Canada
February 25, 2015
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KPMG LLP
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3
Canada

Telephone (604) 691-3000
Fax
(604) 691-3031
www.kpmg.ca

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of MacDonald, Dettwiler and
Associates Ltd., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, changes in
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. as at December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

February 25, 2015
Vancouver, Canada
KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Earnings
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Note

2014

2013

Revenues

5

$ 2,098,837

$ 1,818,984

Direct costs, selling, general and administration
Depreciation and amortization
Foreign exchange loss
Share-based compensation expense
Other income
Other expense (including ViaSat settlement)

6

1,737,697
82,303
11,358
49,406
99,312

23(f)
8
9

Earnings before interest and income taxes

1,505,313
76,909
14,312
80,238
(40,051)
4,637

118,761

Finance income
Finance expense

(509)
34,661

7

Earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense

27(a)

Net earnings
Net earnings per common share:
Basic and diluted

22

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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177,626
(954)
50,003

84,609

128,577

37,491

23,532

$

47,118

$

105,045

$

1.31

$

3.00

MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Net earnings

$

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to earnings:
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Foreign currency translation adjustment reclassified to earnings on
disposition or liquidation of foreign operations (net of income taxes
of nil for both periods)
Net loss on hedge of net investment in foreign operations (net of
income taxes of nil for both periods)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges (net of income tax expense of $699 and
$900, respectively)
Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges transferred to earnings (net of income tax recovery of
$108 and expense of $28, respectively)
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (net of
income tax expense of $17 and $30, respectively)

Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes
$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2013

47,118

$ 105,045

90,264

55,417

-

8,902

(10,359)

(5,166)

20,029

2,390

(1,634)

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to earnings:
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans and other
post-retirement benefit plans (net of income tax recovery of $465
and expense of $1,668, respectively)

Comprehensive income

2014

5

113

183

98,413

61,731

(95,621)

124,648

(95,621)

124,648

2,792

186,379

49,910

$ 291,424

MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
As at December 31, 2014 and 2013
Note

2014

2013

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets, other
Construction contract assets
Inventories
Non-financial assets
Current tax assets

Non-current assets:
Orbital receivables
Financial assets, other
Non-financial assets
Deferred tax assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill

$
11
12(a)
13
13
13, 14(a)

15
12(a)
14(a)
27(d)
16
17(a)
17(b)

17,130
345,200
49,723
171,638
100,725
142,057
31,538
858,011

$

50,307
294,940
35,661
92,421
115,302
109,512
26,075
724,218

447,216
31,761
6,547
23,208
424,519
369,142
820,985
2,123,378

382,280
3,264
5,904
27,173
365,247
333,516
742,605
1,859,989

$

2,981,389

$ 2,584,207

$

252,387
57,901
30,954
11,940
175,880
16,840
499,416
41,308
1,086,626

$

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Financial liabilities, other
Provisions
Employee benefits
Non-financial liabilities
Construction contract liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Non-current liabilities:
Financial liabilities, other
Provisions
Employee benefits
Non-financial liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term debt

12(b)
18
19(a)
13, 14(b)
13
20

205,792
49,170
26,731
3,720
126,516
15,355
524,111
73,429
1,024,824

12(b)
18
19(a)
14(b)
27(d)
20

36,204
29,150
275,025
25,972
11,353
713,084
2,177,414

9,238
24,966
186,318
8,296
11,530
522,885
1,788,057

21

500,203
2,656
135,277
165,839
803,975

495,376
2,656
135,071
163,047
796,150

2,981,389

$ 2,584,207

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income

$
Contingencies and commitments (note 28)
Subsequent event (note 32)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
Approved on behalf of the Board:
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Change in Shareholders’ Equity
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Year ended December 31, 2014

Share
capital
Balance as at
January 1, 2014 $ 495,376
Common shares
issued in
conjunction with
employee share
purchase plan
Dividends
Comprehensive
income (loss)
Balance as at
December 31,
2014

Net
loss on
hedge of net
investment
Retained
in foreign
earnings
operations

Contributed
surplus

$

2,656

$ 135,071

4,827
-

-

(46,912)

-

-

47,118

2,656

$ 135,277

$ 500,203

$

$

(1,266)

Fair
value
gains
on cash
flow
hedges

Foreign
currency
translation
adjustment

$

47,264

-

$

4,353

Actuarial
Fair gains (losses)
value
on defined
gains on
benefit
Total
available- pension plans
accumulated
for-sale
and other
other
financial post-retirement comprehensive
assets
benefit plans
income

$

631

$ 112,065

$ 163,047

-

-

-

-

-

(10,359)

90,264

18,395

113

$ (11,625)

$ 137,528

$ 22,748

$

744

(95,621)

$

16,444

Total
shareholders’
equity

$

4,827
(46,912)

2,792

$ 165,839

796,150

49,910

$

803,975

Year ended December 31, 2013

Share
capital
Balance as at
January 1, 2013 $ 213,222
Common shares
issued in
conjunction with
employee share
purchase plan
Settlement of
share-based
compensation
Issuance of
common shares
Dividends
Comprehensive
income (loss)
Balance as at
December 31,
2013

Net gain
(loss) on
hedge of net
investment
Retained
in foreign
earnings
operations

Contributed
surplus

$

3,835

2,698

-

-

(42)

$

74,221

-

$ (17,055)

$

1,958

$

448

$ (12,583)

$ (23,332)

$

266,809

-

-

-

-

-

(56)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(98)

-

-

-

-

-

-

278,319
(44,139)

64,319

2,395

183

124,648

186,379

631

$ 112,065

$ 163,047

-

(44,139)

-

-

105,045

2,656

$ 135,071

$

3,900

Total
shareholders’
equity

-

278,319
-

$ 495,376

$

Fair
value
gains
on cash
flow
hedges

Foreign
currency
translation
adjustment

Actuarial
Fair gains (losses)
value
on defined
gains on
benefit
Total
available- pension plans
accumulated
for-sale
and other
other
financial post-retirement comprehensive
assets
benefit plans income (loss)

(5,166)

$

(1,266)

$

47,264

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

4,353

$

3,835

291,424

$

796,150

MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Note

2014

2013

Cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Net earnings from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Share-based compensation expense
Past service credits on pension and other post-retirement
plan amendments
Finance income
Finance expense
Foreign exchange loss
Income tax expense
Income taxes paid
Income taxes recovered
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations
Investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from government assistance related to property,
plant and equipment
Purchase/development of intangible assets
Disposal of short-term investments
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash
Interest received on short-term investments and others
Acquisition of Advanced Systems, net of cash acquired

$
16
17(a)
23(f)

$

105,045

42,309
39,994
49,406

37,219
39,690
80,238

(509)
26,572
7,676
37,491
(14,996)
9,109
(165,978)
78,192

(40,051)
(954)
37,803
15,648
23,532
(22,159)
22,314
(145,893)
152,432

16

(58,038)

(41,479)

26(b)(i)
17(a)

(34,696)
55
(1,954)
360
(41,498)

1,800
(21,854)
76
26,895
3,735
-

(135,771)

(30,827)

(74,423)
-

(252,125)

165,381
(29,090)
2,505

(49,224)
(32,591)
5,042

8

27(a)

30

10

Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations
Financing activities:
Repayment of promissory note payable
Repayment of term loans under Syndicated Credit Facility
Proceeds from (repayment of) revolving loan facility and
other long-term debt
Interest paid on long-term debt
Proceeds from interest free government assistance
Proceeds from issuance of common shares relating to
public offering
Share issuance costs of public share offering
Proceeds from issuance of common shares relating to
share-based compensation plans
Purchase of common shares for settlement of share-based
compensation plans
Payment of dividends

47,118

20(c)

26(b)(i)
21
21

-

21

4,103

3,260

(46,912)

(98)
(44,139)

Cash provided by (used in) financing of continuing operations

21,564

(94,688)

Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) continuing operations

(36,015)

26,917

Cash and cash equivalents used in discontinued operations

23(b)
21

31

-

Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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287,715
(12,528)

(2,752)

2,838

1,306

50,307

24,836

17,130

$

50,307

MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

1.

General business description:
MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. (the “Company” or “MDA”), is a Canadian corporation with
common shares listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). The Company’s head office is located at
13800 Commerce Parkway, Richmond, British Columbia, Canada. MDA is a global communications and
information company providing operational solutions to commercial and government organizations
worldwide. MDA’s business is focused on markets and customers with strong repeat business potential. In
addition the Company conducts a significant amount of advanced technology development.

2.

Basis of preparation:
(a) Statement of compliance:
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”).
These consolidated financial statements were approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on
February 25, 2015.
(b) Basis of measurement:
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and have been prepared on
a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities including derivative financial
instruments which are stated at fair value.
(c) Operating cycle:
The Company defines its operating cycle based on the duration of its contracts with customers and
suppliers. The Company enters into a significant number of contracts where the duration is more than
twelve months and as a result, certain current assets and liabilities may have terms greater than twelve
months.
(d) Use of estimates, assumptions and judgments:
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates,
assumptions and judgments that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. These estimates, assumptions and judgments are based
on historical experience and various factors that management believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
(i)

Use of estimates and assumptions:
Management reviews estimates and underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any
future periods affected. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The most notable estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities are in the areas of revenue recognition, recoverability of deferred tax assets
and the assessment of the impact of any tax uncertainties in various jurisdictions, and the impairment
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

2.

Basis of preparation (continued):
(d) Use of estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued):
(i)

Use of estimates and assumptions (continued):
of non-financial assets, which are discussed in more detail in notes 3(d)(i), 3(t) and 3(p)(ii),
respectively. Other areas that require the use of estimates and assumptions include the allocation of
purchase price consideration to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business
combinations, fair valuation of financial instruments, provisions, pension and post-retirement benefit
obligations, and share-based compensation. Additional information on these estimates is included in
the following notes.

(ii) Judgments:
Management uses judgment when applying accounting policies and when making estimates and
assumptions as described above.

The most significant area that requires judgment relates to

recognition of investment tax credits as described in note 3(g). Other areas that require judgment
include hedge accounting and recognition of contingent liabilities. Additional information on these
estimates is included in the following notes.
3.

Significant accounting policies:
(a) Basis of consolidation:
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all subsidiary entities
which are controlled by the Company. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated on
consolidation.
(b) Business combinations:
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.

The consideration for an

acquisition is measured at the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities assumed and the
equity interests issued at the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Transaction costs that are incurred in

connection with a business combination, other than costs associated with the issuance of debt or equity
securities, are expensed as incurred.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, any non-controlling

interest is measured either at fair value of the non-controlling interest or at the fair value of the
proportionate share of the net assets acquired.
Contingent consideration is measured at fair value on acquisition date and is included as part of the
consideration transferred. The fair value of the contingent consideration liability is re-measured at each
reporting date with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in earnings.
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(c) Foreign currency:
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented in Canadian dollars.
(i)

Transactions in foreign currency:
Each entity within the consolidated group records transactions using its functional currency, being
the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates.

Foreign currency

transactions are translated into the respective functional currency of each entity using the foreign
currency rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Period end balances of monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currency are translated to the respective functional currencies using period
end foreign currency rates. Foreign currency gains and losses arising from settlement of foreign
currency transactions are recognized in earnings.
(ii) Foreign operations translation:
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Canadian dollars at period end
foreign currency rates. Revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Canadian
dollars at average rates for the period.

Foreign currency translation gains and losses are

recognized in other comprehensive income. The relevant amount in cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustment is reclassified into earnings upon disposition or partial disposition of a
foreign operation.
(iii) Hedge of net investment in foreign operation:
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation of a financial liability designated as a
hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognized in other comprehensive income, to
the extent that the hedge is effective. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, the gains and
losses are recognized in earnings. When the hedged portion of a net investment is disposed of, the
relevant amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is transferred to earnings as part of
the gain or loss on disposal.
(d) Revenue recognition:
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of discounts and
after eliminating intercompany sales.
The Company’s contracts with customers may include multiple deliverables that fall within one or more
of the revenue categories described below. Where revenue arrangements have separately identifiable
components, the consideration received is allocated to each identifiable component and the applicable
revenue recognition criteria are applied to each of the components.
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(d) Revenue recognition (continued):
(i) Construction contracts:
Revenue from construction contracts includes initial contract amounts, variations in contract work,
claims, incentive payments and customer furnished materials. When the outcome of a construction
contract can be measured reliably, revenue is recognized using the percentage of completion method
based on contract costs incurred relative to total estimated contract costs or units delivered relative to
total units. Construction contracts may be accounted for separately, segmented into components
which are accounted for separately or combined with other contracts to form a single contract for
revenue and expense recognition purposes. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
measured reliably, contract costs incurred are expensed immediately and revenue is recognized only
to the extent that costs are considered likely to be recoverable. If at any time during the life of a
contract it becomes probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected
loss is recognized immediately in the statement of earnings.
Satellite construction contracts may include performance incentives whereby a payment for a portion
of the purchase price is contingent upon in-orbit performance of the satellite. These performance
incentives are structured in two forms. As a warranty payback, the customer pays the entire amount
of the performance incentive during the period of the satellite construction and such incentives are
subject to refund if satellite performance does not achieve certain predefined operating specifications.
As an orbital receivable, the customer makes payment of performance incentives over the in-orbit life
of the satellite.

Performance incentives, whether warranty payback or orbital receivables, are

included in revenue during the construction period based on amounts expected to be received.
Orbital receivables are discounted to present value as of the launch date and the unwinding of the
discount during the in-orbit period is recorded as orbital income.
The percentage of completion method places considerable importance on accurate estimates of the
extent of progress towards completion. During the contractual period, revenue and costs may be
impacted by estimates for total contract costs, remaining costs to completion, total contract revenues,
contract risks and other judgments. Management continually reviews such estimates and adjusts
them as necessary. The inception to date impact of changes in estimates of contract revenues or
costs to complete is recognized in the period that the change is determined by management.
When costs incurred plus recognized profit (less recognized losses) on a construction contract
exceeds progress billings, the net amount is recorded as a construction contract asset. Conversely,
when progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognized profit (less recognized losses), the net
amount is recorded as a construction contract liability.
Construction contracts may have termination and default clauses. If a contract is terminated for
convenience by a customer or due to a customer’s default, the company may be entitled to costs
incurred plus a reasonable profit.

55

MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(d) Revenue recognition (continued):
(ii) Services:
Revenue from service contracts is recognized by reference to the stage of completion based on
services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed or on a straight-line
basis over the term of the contract if revenue is determined to be earned evenly. Revenue from the
sale of certain services that include the supply of processed data or data products is recognized upon
delivery.
(e) Earnings per common share:
Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per common share is

determined by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of
all dilutive potential common shares. During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were
no dilutive instruments outstanding.
(f)

Research and development:
Research costs are expensed in the period incurred. Development costs are capitalized and recorded
as an intangible asset if technical feasibility has been established and the Company expects to
generate probable future economic benefits from the asset created on completion of development. The
costs capitalized include materials, direct labour, directly attributable overhead expenditures and
borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Other development costs are expensed in the period incurred.

(g) Government assistance and investment tax credits:
Government assistance includes government grants, below-market rate of interest loans and
investment tax credits and is recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Company will
comply with the relevant conditions and that the government assistance will be received.
Government assistance that meets the recognition criteria and that relates to current expenses is
recorded as a reduction of the related expenses in direct costs, selling, general and administration.
Government assistance that meets the recognition criteria and that relates to the acquisition of an asset
is recorded as a reduction of the cost of the related asset.

If government assistance becomes

repayable, the inception to date impact of assistance previously recognized in earnings is reversed
immediately in the period that the assistance becomes repayable.
The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on
prevailing market interest rates.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(g) Government assistance and investment tax credits (continued):
Investment tax credits, whether or not recognized in the financial statements, may be carried forward to
reduce future Canadian federal and provincial income taxes payable. The Company applies judgment
when determining whether the reasonable assurance threshold has been met to recognize investment
tax credits in the financial statements.

The Company must interpret eligibility requirements in

accordance with Canadian income tax laws and must assess whether future taxable income will be
available against which the investment tax credits can be utilized. Any changes in these interpretations
and assessments could have an impact on the amount and timing of investment tax credits recognized
in the financial statements.
(h) Finance income and finance expense:
Finance income is comprised of interest income and gains on disposals of available-for-sale assets.
Interest income is recognized as it accrues in earnings, using the effective interest method.
Finance expense is comprised of borrowing cost on debt, imputed interest on liabilities, net interest
expense on the net liability of defined benefit pension and other post-retirement benefits plans, the cost
of forward points from foreign exchange forward contracts and losses on disposal of available-for-sale
assets. All finance costs are recognized in earnings using the effective interest method. Finance costs
exclude borrowing costs attributable to the construction of qualifying assets, which are assets that take
a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use.

Borrowing costs associated with

qualifying assets are added to the cost of the related assets.
(i)

Financial instruments:
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently remeasured based on their classification as described below.

Transaction costs that are directly

attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial asset or liability, other than financial assets and
liabilities classified as at fair value through earnings, are added or deducted from the fair value of the
respective financial asset or financial liability on initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial asset or financial liability classified as at fair
value through earnings are recognized immediately in earnings.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(i)

Financial instruments (continued):
(i) Financial assets:
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: at fair value through earnings, loans
and receivables, and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial asset and is determined at the time of initial recognition.



Financial assets at fair value through earnings
Financial assets are classified as at fair value through earnings when held for trading or if
designated into this category. Financial assets classified as financial assets at fair value
through earnings include derivative financial instruments that are not included in a qualifying
hedging relationship. Financial assets classified as financial assets as at fair value through
earnings are measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement
recognized in earnings.



Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, and non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market
including trade and other receivables, orbital receivables, and notes receivable. Loans and
receivables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently re-measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.



Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated
in this category or not classified into any of the other categories and include short-term
investments. Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with any gains or
losses on re-measurement recognized in other comprehensive income until the financial asset
is derecognized or is determined to be permanently impaired, at which time the gain or loss
accumulated in equity is transferred to earnings.

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have
expired or have been transferred, and the Company has transferred substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership.
(ii) Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through earnings or as
other financial liabilities.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(i)

Financial instruments (continued):
(ii) Financial liabilities (continued):



Financial liabilities at fair value through earnings
Financial liabilities are classified at fair value through earnings when held for trading or if
designated into this category. Financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities at fair value
through earnings include derivative financial instruments that are not included in a qualifying
hedging relationship and are measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in earnings.



Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities include trade and other payables, non-trade payables, contingent
liabilities, long-term debt and are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

(iii) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities:
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage risk associated with foreign currency
rates and interest rates. Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. When derivative
financial instruments are designated in a qualifying hedging relationship and hedge accounting is
applied, the effectiveness of the hedges is measured at the end of each reporting period and the
effective portion of changes in fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income and any
ineffective portion is recognized immediately in earnings. For foreign exchange forward contracts
used to manage risk associated with foreign currency rates, amounts are transferred from
accumulated other comprehensive income to revenue or direct costs, selling, general and
administration when the underlying transaction affects earnings. For interest rate swaps used to
manage risk associated with interest rates, amounts are transferred from accumulated other
comprehensive income to finance expense when the underlying transaction affects earnings. For
derivative financial instruments not in a qualifying hedging relationship, changes in fair value are
recognized immediately in earnings as a foreign exchange gain or loss or finance expense, as
appropriate.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated,
exercised or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that time, if the forecasted transaction
within a cash flow hedge remains probable, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument
recognized in other comprehensive income is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction
occurs. If the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred to earnings.
(iv) Embedded derivatives:
The Company has embedded foreign currency derivatives in certain customer and supplier contracts.
These derivatives are accounted for as separate instruments and are measured at fair value at each
reporting date. Changes in fair value are recognized in earnings as foreign exchange gains or losses.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(j)

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of cash on hand, cash balances with banks and similar
institutions and term deposits redeemable within three months or less from date of acquisition with
banks and similar institutions.

(k) Short-term investments:
Short-term investments consist of mutual funds and financial instruments purchased with a term to
maturity at inception between three months and one year.
(l)

Inventories:
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value and consist primarily of parts and
subassemblies used in the manufacturing of satellites. The cost of inventories is determined on a firstin-first-out basis or weighted average cost basis, depending on the nature of the inventory.

Net

realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and selling expense.
(m) Property, plant and equipment:
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Borrowing costs are capitalized on certain qualifying assets that take a substantial
period of time to prepare for their intended use. When the costs of certain components of an item of
property, plant and equipment are significant in relation to the total cost of the item and the components
have different useful lives, they are accounted for and depreciated separately. Depreciation expense is
recognized in earnings on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset to its
residual value.

Land is not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment under construction are

measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Estimated useful life
Land improvements
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Equipment:
Test and other equipment
Vehicles
Thermal vacuum chambers
Furniture and fixtures
Computer hardware

20 years
10 to 45 years
lesser of useful life or term of lease
3 to 10 years
5 years
21 to 40 years
3 to 10 years
3 to 4 years

The Company reviews the estimated useful life and the depreciation method annually.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(n) Leased assets:
Leased assets for which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal
to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The asset is
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or its estimated useful life. All other leases are
considered operating leases and the payments, including lease incentives, are recognized in earnings on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
(o) Intangible assets and goodwill:
(i)

Intangible assets:
Intangible assets with finite lives consist of acquired and internally developed technologies and
software, licenses, customer relationships, and trade names. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives and are measured at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Costs for intangible assets
acquired in a business combination represents the fair value of the asset at the time of the
acquisition. Intangible assets with finite lives are currently amortized over the following periods:
Estimated useful life
Technologies
Software
Trade names
Licenses
Customer relationships

5 to 13 years
3 to 8 years
20 years
7 years
9 to 21 years

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company did not have any indefinite life intangible assets.
(ii) Goodwill:
Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication of
impairment. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(p) Impairment:
(i)

Financial assets:
Financial assets not carried at fair value through earnings are assessed for impairment at each
reporting date. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event which
negatively affected the estimated future cash flows has occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the impairment loss is the difference
between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the original effective interest rate. If an impairment has occurred, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced, with the amount of the loss recognized in earnings. A permanent impairment loss
for an available-for-sale investment is recognized by transferring the cumulative loss previously
recognized in other comprehensive income to earnings.

(ii) Goodwill and non-financial assets:
Goodwill and non-financial assets are tested for impairment annually, or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that an asset's carrying amount may be less than its recoverable
amount. Management uses judgment to estimate the inputs to these assessments including cash
flow projections, discount rates and tax rates, and any changes to these inputs could have a
material impact on the impairment calculation.
For impairment testing, non-financial assets that do not generate independent cash flows are
grouped together into a cash-generating unit ("CGU"), which represent the level at which largely
independent cash flows are generated. Goodwill is allocated to groups of CGUs based on the level
at which it is monitored for internal reporting purposes.
An impairment loss is recognized in earnings to the extent that the carrying value of an asset, CGU
or group of CGUs exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset,
CGU or group of CGUs is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. Value in
use is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at appropriate
discount rates.
An impairment loss relating to a specific asset reduces the carrying value of the asset.

An

impairment loss relating to a CGU or group of CGUs reduces the carrying value of the goodwill
allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs, then reduces the carrying value of the other assets of the
CGU or group of CGUs on a pro-rata basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. A previously recognized impairment loss
related to other non-financial assets is assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss related to other non-financial assets is
reversed if there is a subsequent increase in recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed
only to the extent that the asset's carrying value does not exceed the carrying value that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(q) Provisions:
Provisions are recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting expected future cash
outflows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. Management uses judgment to estimate the amount, timing and probability
of the liability based on facts known at the reporting date. The unwinding of the discount is recognized
as finance expense.
(i)

Warranty and after-sale service costs:
A provision for warranty and after-sale service costs are recognized when the underlying product or
service is sold and when the recognition criteria described above have been met. Warranty and aftersale service provisions are based on management’s best estimate of the expected obligation using
historical warranty data and experience.

Warranty and after-sale service provisions related to

products and services delivered under construction contracts are included in the estimated total costs
to complete when applying the percentage of completion method of revenue recognition.
(ii) Restructuring costs:
A provision for restructuring costs is recognized when the Company has approved a detailed and
formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced
publicly. Future operating losses are excluded from the provision.
(iii) Decommissioning liabilities:
A provision for decommissioning liabilities is recognized at the time of asset acquisition.
Decommissioning liabilities are added to the carrying value of the related asset and are depreciated
over the asset’s estimated useful life.
(r)

Employee benefits:
(i)

Defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans:
The Company maintains defined benefit plans for some of its employees.

The Company’s net

obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that
amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.
The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by qualified actuaries using the
projected unit credit method, which takes into account the expected salary increases as the basis for
future benefit increases for the pension plans. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on
high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s
obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(r)

Employee benefits (continued):
(i)

Defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans (continued):
paid. Actuarial assumptions for discount rates, expected salary increases and the projected age of
employees upon retirement reflect historical experience and the Company’s assessment of future
expectations. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognized asset is
limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the
plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to calculate the present value of
economic benefits for a particular plan, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements
that apply to that particular plan. An economic benefit is available to the Company if it is realizable
during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities.
Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the
return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) and the effect of the asset
ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. The
Company determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for
the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the
beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any
changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and
benefit payments. Net interest expense is recognized as a component of finance expense. The
Company recognizes service cost and administrative expenses relating to defined benefit plans as a
component of direct costs, selling, general and administrative expense.
When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in the net
benefit liability that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately
in earnings. The Company recognizes gains or losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan
when settlement occurs.

(ii) Termination benefits:
Termination benefits are expensed when the Company has demonstrably committed, without realistic
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal
retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are expensed if the Company has
made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted and the number of
acceptances can be estimated reliably.
(iii) Defined contribution pension plans:
The Company also maintains defined contribution plans for some of its employees whereby the
Company pays contributions based on a percentage of the employees’ annual salary. Obligations
for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit
expense in the statement of earnings as the services are provided.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(s) Share-based compensation plans:
The Company maintains a number of share-based compensation plans for certain employees and
directors, the majority of which are cash-settled share appreciation rights. Share-based compensation
plans are measured at fair value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the fair value is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Management uses judgment to determine the
inputs to the Black-Scholes option pricing model including the expected plan lives, underlying share
price volatility and forfeiture rates. Volatility is estimated by considering the Company’s historic share
price volatility over similar periods to the expected life of the awards under consideration. Changes in
these assumptions will impact the calculation of fair value and the amount of compensation expense
recognized in earnings.
The fair value of cash-settled plans is recognized as a liability in the consolidated balance sheet and is
re-measured and charged to earnings at each reporting date until the award is settled.
(t)

Income taxes:
Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax.

Current tax and deferred tax are

recognized into earnings except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax
is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable earnings,
and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it
is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized
for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on
the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets,
and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax
assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(u) Discontinued operations:
Discontinued operations are reported when a component of the Company, representing a separate
major line of business or geographical area of operations with clearly distinguishable cash flows, has
been disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.

Discontinued

operations are reported as a separate element of net earnings on the consolidated statement of
earnings for both the current and comparative periods. When a disposal group is classified as held for
sale, assets and liabilities are aggregated and presented as separate line items, respectively, on the
consolidated balance sheet. Comparative periods are not restated on the balance sheet. Assets held
for sale are not depreciated and are measured at the lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to
sell.
(v) Adoption of new accounting standards:
On January 1, 2014, the Company adopted the following amendments to accounting standards issued
by the IASB:

Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities, an amendment to IAS 32 - Financial
Instruments: Presentation

Amendments to IAS 36 - Recoverable Amount Disclosures For Non-Financial Assets
The adoption of these amendments to accounting standards resulted in changes to presentation and
disclosure in the Company’s notes to consolidated financial statements, but otherwise did not have a
significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
4.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted:
IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, which replaces the earlier versions of IFRS 9
(2009, 2010, and 2013) and completes the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 - Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes a logical model for classification and measurement of
financial assets; a single, forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model and a substantiallyreformed approach to hedge accounting to better link the economics of risk management with its accounting
treatment. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and must be applied
retrospectively with some exemptions. Earlier adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact of IFRS 9 on its financial statements.
IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which supersedes IAS 18
- Revenue, IAS 11 - Construction Contracts and other interpretive guidance associated with revenue
recognition. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with
customers to determine how and when an entity should recognize revenue. The standard also provides
guidance on whether revenue should be recognized at a point in time or over time as well as requirements
for more informative, relevant disclosures. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2017 with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 15
on its financial statements.
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4.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued):
Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements
In December 2014, the IASB issued Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements. The
objective of the amendments was to facilitate improved financial statement disclosures and should not
require any significant change to current practices. The Company intends to adopt the amendments in its
financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2016.

The Company is currently

evaluating the impact of Amendments to IAS 1 on its financial statements.
5.

Revenue and segmented information:
The Company is organized into market sectors based on its products and services and has two reportable
operating segments as follows:
(a) Communications: In the Communications sector, MDA offers space-based solutions for cost-efficient
global delivery of a broad range of services, including television and radio distribution, broadband
internet, and mobile communications. The Company is a leading supplier of communication satellites,
satellite antenna subsystems, and associated ground infrastructure and support services.

MDA’s

principal customers in this sector are communication satellite operators, communication satellite
manufacturers, and government agencies worldwide.
(b) Surveillance and Intelligence: In the Surveillance and Intelligence sector, MDA offers end-to-end
solutions to monitor changes and activities around the globe to support the operational needs of
government agencies, both military and civilian, and commercial customers. The Company is a leading
supplier of space-based and airborne surveillance solutions, imaging satellite ground systems,
geospatial information services, and associated support services. The Company also supplies robotic
systems for the space and terrestrial markets.
Segmented information is prepared using the accounting policies described in note 3, except for the
application of hedge accounting on designated hedging relationships that use derivative financial
instruments to hedge foreign currency risk in customer and supplier contracts. For segment reporting, hedge
accounting is applied to all such hedging relationships even when not qualifying for hedge accounting under
IFRS.
The Company measures the performance of each segment based on revenue, operating EBITDA and
segment profit. Operating EBITDA is a non-IFRS measure and is defined as earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization, adjusted for items that management does not consider when evaluating
segment performance including certain corporate expenses, foreign exchange gains and losses,
adjustments relating to hedge accounting as described above, share-based compensation expense or
recovery, and other income or expense. Segment profit is defined as operating EBITDA less depreciation
and amortization expense, excluding amortization of acquisition related intangible assets.
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5.

Revenue and segmented information (continued):
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recognized a gain of $22,024,000 for the reversal
of certain purchase accounting provisions that were set up in relation to the ViaSat lawsuit and associated
activities and were no longer required after the settlement (see note 28(d)). The amount is included in direct
costs, selling, general and administration on the consolidated statement of earnings and has been excluded
from operating EBITDA and segment profit along with all other charges associated with the ViaSat
settlement.
The following table summarizes the operating performance of the reporting segments:

Communications

Surveillance
and Intelligence

$ 1,494,074
4,007
1,498,081

$ 604,763
3,714
608,477

Operating EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization

187,427
42,711

160,779
6,487

-

348,206
49,198

Segment profit

144,716

154,292

-

299,008

56,383
30,357

6,326
4,350

-

62,709
34,707

86,740

10,676

-

97,416

Communications

Surveillance
and Intelligence

Inter-segment
eliminations

Total

$ 1,334,604
2,328
1,336,932

$ 484,380
2,312
486,692

Operating EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization

181,853
39,033

143,519
7,077

-

325,372
46,110

Segment profit

142,820

136,442

-

279,262

41,785
21,726

3,530
665

-

45,315
22,391

63,511

4,195

-

67,706

Year ended December 31, 2014

Inter-segment
eliminations

Total

Revenues:
External revenue
Internal revenue

$

(7,721)
(7,721)

$ 2,098,837
2,098,837

Segment earnings:

Capital expenditures:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Year ended December 31, 2013

Revenues:
External revenue
Internal revenue

$

(4,640)
(4,640)

$ 1,818,984
1,818,984

Segment earnings:

Capital expenditures:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

68

MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

5.

Revenue and segmented information (continued):
Reconciliation to earnings before income taxes:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014

2013

Segment profit
Corporate expenses
Amortization of acquisition related intangible assets
Foreign exchange differences
Share-based compensation expense (note 23(f))
Finance income
Finance expense (note 7)
Other income
Other expense (note 9)
Purchase accounting provision reversal

$

299,008
(10,068)
(33,105)
(10,380)
(49,406)
509
(34,661)
(99,312)
22,024

$

279,262
(11,319)
(30,799)
(14,694)
(80,238)
954
(50,003)
40,051
(4,637)
-

Earnings before income taxes

$

84,609

$

128,577

The Company’s primary sources of revenue are as follows:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
Construction contracts
Services

2013

$

1,828,297
270,540

$

1,568,841
250,143

$

2,098,837

$

1,818,984

Revenue from construction contracts includes orbital income of $27,140,000 (2013 - $24,257,000).
The aggregate amount of revenue recognized to date less losses recognized to date (or from the date of
acquisition) for construction contracts in progress at December 31, 2014 was $4,485,037,000 (December
31, 2013 - $3,211,008,000).

Advance payments received for construction contracts in progress at

December 31, 2014 were $392,431,000 (December 31, 2013 - $368,463,000). Retentions in connection
with construction contracts at December 31, 2014 were $18,211,000 (December 31, 2013 - $21,816,000).
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5.

Revenue and segmented information (continued):
The approximate revenue based on geographic location of customers is as follows:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
Revenue:
United States
Asia
Canada
Europe
Australia
South America
Other

2013

$

687,927
351,202
329,976
280,887
228,208
217,819
2,818

$

579,630
241,488
242,241
259,571
325,115
156,674
14,265

$

2,098,837

$

1,818,984

Revenue from significant customers is as follows:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
Commercial:
Customer 1
Customer 2
Customer 3
Government:
Canadian Federal Government and agencies
U.S. Federal Government and agencies

2013

$

330,001
214,372
160,961

$

205,981
154,323
252,625

$

308,580
108,880

$

195,412
111,402

The Company’s non-current non-financial assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
goodwill are geographically located as follows:

United States
Canada
Europe
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December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

$

1,467,323
153,807
63

$

1,294,539
151,984
749

$

1,621,193

$

1,447,272
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6.

Expenses by nature:
The following table classifies the Company’s operating expenses by nature:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
Employee salaries and benefits
Costs related to defined benefit plans
Costs related to defined contribution plans
Inventories used
Subcontractor costs relating to construction and service
contracts
Materials, equipment, professional fees, travel and other

$

Direct costs, selling, general and administration
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation expense
Other income (note 8)
Other expense (note 9)

$

609,572
22,572
17,416
122,554

599,400
300,058

585,559
147,640

1,737,697

1,505,313

82,303
49,406
99,312
$

7.

640,396
6,218
15,342
176,283

2013

1,968,718

76,909
80,238
(40,051)
4,637
$

1,627,046

Finance expense:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
Finance expense:
Interest on long-term debt
Interest expense on defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit obligations
Capitalization of borrowing costs (note 16)
Imputed interest and other

$

$

7,638
(3,028)
111
$

8.

29,940

34,661

2013

36,702
12,200
(1,398)
2,499

$

50,003

Other income:
In 2013, the Company restructured the pension and post-retirement benefit plans at one of its operating
divisions. The restructuring plan included amendments to the defined benefit pension plans, post-retirement
plans, 401(k) plans, and other benefits. As a result of these plan amendments, the Company recognized
past service credits of $21,134,000 for the defined benefit pension plans and $18,917,000 for the postretirement medical plan immediately in earnings in 2013, with offsetting reductions to employee benefit
liabilities. In addition to the one-time retroactive adjustments, the Company incurred incremental costs
relating to 401(k) plans of $8,194,000 (2013 - nil) for the year ended December 31, 2014 (see note 9).
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9.

Other expense:
The components of other expense are as follows:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
ViaSat settlement
Enterprise improvement costs
Employee benefit expense (note 8)
Acquisition related expense

2013

$

74,591
15,593
8,194
934

$

4,637

$

99,312

$

4,637

ViaSat settlement includes the Company’s share of the settlement of the ViaSat lawsuits of $69,242,000 and
associated legal fees and other costs of $5,349,000 (see note 28(d)).
In the third quarter of 2014, the Company commenced implementation of a formal restructuring plan as part
of a comprehensive review of its satellite manufacturing operations. With assistance from expert industry
consultants, the Company has been identifying and implementing enterprise improvement initiatives that are
aimed at reducing operating costs.

Enterprise improvement costs include severance for employee

terminations that have taken place in 2014 and consulting fees for the overall project. A provision of
$8,810,000 has been recognized as of December 31, 2014 (see note 18(b)).
Acquisition related expense includes legal, tax, consulting and other professional fees incurred relating to
acquisitions, whether completed or abandoned. In 2014, the Company incurred costs relating to the
acquisition of the Advanced Systems business line from General Dynamics Advanced Information Systems,
Inc. (see note 10).
10. Business combination:
Acquisition of Advanced Systems:
On October 3, 2014, the Company acquired the assets of Advanced Systems, a line of business from
General Dynamics Advanced Information Systems, Inc. for cash consideration of U.S.$40,000,000 less
working capital and other adjustments of U.S.$3,133,000. Located near Detroit, Michigan, the Advanced
Systems business has approximately 170 employees and over 50 years of in-depth experience in
development and application of radar and other information sensors for the U.S. Government. The
acquisition is expected to strengthen the Company’s ability to pursue surveillance and intelligence programs
in the U.S. market.
In the period October 3, 2014 to December 31, 2014, Advanced Systems contributed revenue of
$11,253,000 and net earnings of $1,723,000. If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2014,
management estimates that consolidated revenue would have been $2,125,412,000 and consolidated net
earnings would have been $49,140,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014. In determining these
amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition
would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2014.
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10. Business combination (continued):
Acquisition of Advanced Systems (continued):
The following table summarizes the fair value of the consideration transferred and the preliminary estimated
fair values of the major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. The
estimated fair values of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been determined with the
assistance of third-party valuation specialists. Certain of these estimates of fair value, most notably, finite
life intangible assets, goodwill, provisions, non-financial liabilities and employee benefits, are preliminary and
are subject to further adjustments.
U.S.$
Purchase consideration
Assets
Trade and other receivables
Restricted cash
Non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Finite life intangible assets

Canadian$

$

36,867

$

41,498

$

3,836
16,000
399
8,335
10,200

$

4,319
18,010
449
9,382
11,481

38,770
Liabilities
Provisions
Non-financial liabilities
Employee benefits

$

Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired
Goodwill

$

(251)
(16,000)
(3,639)

43,641
$

(283)
(18,010)
(4,096)

(19,890)

(22,389)

18,880

21,252

17,987

$

20,246

Trade and other receivables comprise gross amounts due of $4,319,000, of which nil was estimated to be
uncollectable at the acquisition date. Intangible assets relate primarily to technologies and customer
relationships.
The goodwill recognized on the acquisition is mainly attributable to expected growth opportunities in the U.S.
surveillance market, anticipated synergies from integrating unique radar information processing capability
with the Company’s large space program capability, and the experience and expertise of Advanced
Systems’ workforce. Goodwill of $21,184,000 (U.S.$18,820,000) is deductible for income tax purposes.
The Company incurred acquisition related costs of $934,000 for legal, tax, consulting and other professional
fees which have been expensed as incurred.
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11. Trade and other receivables:
December 31,
2014
Trade accounts receivable
Orbital receivables, current portion
Other

December 31,
2013

$

289,822
23,583
31,795

$

255,241
16,693
23,006

$

345,200

$

294,940

12. Financial assets and liabilities, other:
(a) Financial assets, other:
December 31,
2014
Restricted cash
Short-term investments
Notes receivable
Derivative financial instruments

$

Current portion

39,023
6,807
1,516
34,138
81,484

December 31,
2013
$

(49,723)
$

31,761

18,366
6,235
1,313
13,011
38,925
(35,661)

$

3,264

(b) Financial liabilities, other:
December 31,
2014
Non-trade payables
Contingent liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

$

Current portion

51,879
15,279
67,158

December 31,
2013
$

(30,954)
$

74

36,204

17,753
7,126
11,090
35,969
(26,731)

$

9,238
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13. Maturities of certain current assets and liabilities:
The Company’s current assets and current liabilities include all assets and liabilities that mature within the
Company’s operating cycle. The table below gives the maturity profile of certain current assets and current
liabilities where the maturities extend beyond twelve months.
Due within
one year

December 31, 2014
Construction contract assets
Inventories
Non-financial assets
Non-financial liabilities
Construction contract liabilities

$

168,279
68,386
96,547
16,840
473,433

Due after
one year
$

Due within
one year

December 31, 2013
Construction contract assets
Inventories
Non-financial assets
Non-financial liabilities
Construction contract liabilities

$

90,269
77,414
43,050
15,355
520,884

3,359
32,339
45,510
25,983

Total
$

171,638
100,725
142,057
16,840
499,416

Due after
one year
$

2,152
37,888
66,462
3,227

Total
$

92,421
115,302
109,512
15,355
524,111

14. Non-financial assets and liabilities:
(a) Non-financial assets:
December 31,
2014
Advances to suppliers
Prepaid expenses
Other

$

Current portion

125,882
22,722
148,604

December 31,
2013
$

(142,057)
$

75

6,547

92,273
23,110
33
115,416
(109,512)

$

5,904
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14. Non-financial assets and liabilities (continued):
(b) Non-financial liabilities:
December 31,
2014
Deferred revenue
Lease inducements
Lease liability acquired (note 10)
Other

$

15,923
5,999
17,963
2,927
42,812

Current portion

December 31,
2013
$

(16,840)
$

25,972

14,651
6,099
2,901
23,651
(15,355)

$

8,296

15. Orbital receivables:
Orbital receivables are billed and collected over the in-orbit life of the respective satellite (typically 15
years). Contractual cash flows for each year include the performance incentive expected to be received and
interest earned on the total outstanding receivable balance. Orbital receivables are discounted to present
value using discount rates ranging from 6% - 10% (2013 - 6% - 10%). The expected timing of billing and
collection of orbital receivables relating to launched and unlaunched satellites is shown in the following table:
Contractual
cash flows
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Thereafter

$

Current portion (note 11)
December 31, 2014
December 31, 2013

$

Launched

54,687
58,849
68,073
68,734
67,773
586,979

$

23,583
23,182
25,748
27,315
27,924
237,695

905,095

365,447

(54,687)

(23,583)

Carrying value
Unlaunched
$

2,232
7,232
8,097
7,873
79,918

Total
$

105,352

23,583
25,414
32,980
35,412
35,797
317,613
470,799

-

(23,583)

850,408

$

341,864

$

105,352

$

447,216

$ 716,175

$

302,233

$

80,047

$

382,280
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16. Property, plant and equipment:
Land
and land
improvements

Buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Equipment

Furniture
and fixtures

Computer
hardware

Total

Cost
Balance as at
January 1, 2013 $ 106,184
Additions
1,524
Disposals
Foreign currency
translation
7,078

$

29,443
1,085
-

$ 162,729
19,838
(226)

$

7,101
244
-

$

43,278
7,555
(2,279)

$ 409,522
45,315
(2,505)

3,935

982

9,890

239

533

22,657

114,786
155

79,791
11,576

31,510
3,377

192,231
41,568

7,584
686

49,087
5,347

474,989
62,709

-

-

10,036

6,460

$ 124,977

$ 97,827

$

Balance as at
December 31,
2013
Additions
Acquired from
business
combination
(note 10)
Disposals
Foreign currency
translation
Balance as at
December 31,
2014

$ 60,787
15,069
-

3,466
(2,977)

4,778
(54)

634
(61)

504
(2,497)

9,382
(5,589)

377

1,076

36,256

1,460

16,847

$

36,836

$ 255,370

$

9,220

$

53,517

$ 577,747

$

13,752

$

$

3,621

$

36,503

$

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at
January 1, 2013 $
Depreciation
expense
Disposals
Foreign currency
translation
Balance as at
December 31,
2013
Depreciation
expense
Disposals
Foreign currency
translation
Balance as at
December 31,
2014

$

46

2,522

16,921

325
-

2,354
-

3,065
-

13

80

147

1,077

51

209

1,577

384

4,956

16,964

44,934

4,703

37,801

109,742

703
-

2,706
-

3,532
(1,718)

29,759
(16)

1,073
(61)

4,536
(2,449)

72

303

3,956

170

1,159

$

27,162
(226)

447

1,031
-

3,282
(2,193)

73,365
37,219
(2,419)

42,309
(4,244)

473

5,421

7,965

$

19,225

$

78,633

$

5,885

$

40,361

$ 153,228

Net book value
December 31,
2014

$ 123,818

$ 89,862

$

17,611

$ 176,737

$

3,335

$

13,156

$ 424,519

December 31,
2013

$ 114,402

$ 74,835

$

14,546

$ 147,297

$

2,881

$

11,286

$ 365,247
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued):
Property, plant and equipment includes $31,556,000 (December 31, 2013 - $49,951,000) of expenditures for
property under construction.
Borrowing costs of $3,028,000 (2013 - $1,398,000) were capitalized as equipment during the year. The
capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization ranged from
3.6% - 4.7%.
The net book value of assets under finance leases are as follows:

Computer hardware
Equipment
Furniture and fixtures

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

$

5,664
43
60

$

4,775
115
106

$

5,767

$

4,996

17. Intangible assets and goodwill:
(a) Finite life intangible assets are as follows:
Technologies,
including
development
in-process

Software

Trade names

Licenses,
customer
relationships,
and other

Total

Cost
Balance as at January 1, 2013
$ 182,754
Purchase of intangible assets
Development of intangible assets
17,043
Foreign currency translation
12,482
Balance as at December 31, 2013
Purchase of intangible assets
Acquired from business
combination (note 10)
Development of intangible assets
Disposals
Foreign currency translation
Balance as at December 31, 2014

$

212,279
-

98,997
5,348
5,581

$

109,926
10,039

2,701
24,668
20,358

(5,929)
8,132

$ 260,006

$ 122,168
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$

67,057
4,630

16,342
436

$ 365,150
5,348
17,043
23,129

71,687
-

16,778
-

410,670
10,039

6,504

8,780
882

78,191

$

$

26,440

11,481
24,668
(5,929)
35,876
$ 486,805
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17. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued):
(a) Finite life intangible assets are as follows (continued):
Technologies,
including
development
in-process

Software

Trade names

Licenses,
customer
relationships,
and other

Total

Accumulated amortization
Balance as at January 1, 2013
Amortization expense
Foreign currency translation

$

Balance as at December 31, 2013
Amortization expense
Disposals
Foreign currency translation
Balance as at December 31, 2014

3,003
19,251
700

$

22,954
20,603
3,042
$

24,035
15,982
921

$

556
3,472
155

40,938
14,427
(5,929)
2,507

$

4,183
3,723
566

7,874
985
220
9,079
1,241
329

$

35,468
39,690
1,996
77,154
39,994
(5,929)
6,444

46,599

$

51,943

$

8,472

$

10,649

$ 117,663

December 31, 2014

$ 213,407

$

70,225

$

69,719

$

15,791

$ 369,142

December 31, 2013

$ 189,325

$

68,988

$

67,504

$

7,699

$ 333,516

Net book value

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company expensed research and non-capitalized
development costs of $114,284,000 (2013 - $109,492,000) in direct costs, selling, general and
administration.
(b) Goodwill as at December 31, 2014 is as follows:

Communications
Balance as at January 1, 2013

$

Foreign currency translation
Balance as at December 31, 2013
Acquired during the year (note 10)
Foreign currency translation
Balance as at December 31, 2014

$

79

572,629

Surveillance and
Intelligence
$

129,036

Total
$

701,665

36,367

4,573

40,940

608,996
51,040

133,609
20,246
7,094

742,605
20,246
58,134

660,036

$

160,949

$

820,985
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17. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued):
(c) Goodwill impairment:
The Company performs a goodwill impairment test at least annually on September 30 and whenever
there is an indication of impairment. No impairment of goodwill was identified as a result of the
Company’s most recent annual impairment tests. The Company conducts goodwill impairment testing
based on two groups of cash generating units representing the two reportable operating segments of
the Company (note 5).
The key assumptions used in performing the impairment tests are as follows:

Segment
Communications
Surveillance and Intelligence



Valuation method
Value in use
Value in use

Perpetual
growth rate
2014
2013

Discount rate
2014
2013
10%
10%

10%
10%

2.1% - 2.4% 2.1% - 2.4%
2.1% - 2.4% 2.1% - 2.4%

Recoverable amount:
Management’s past experience and future expectations of the business performance are used to
make a best estimate of the expected revenue, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization, and operating cash flows for a five year period.



Discount rate:
The discount rate applied is a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and risk associated
with the business.



Perpetual growth rate:
The perpetual growth rate is management's current assessment of the long-term growth prospect
of the Company in the jurisdictions in which it operates.



Sensitivity analysis:
Management performs sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions. Sensitivity analysis indicates
reasonable changes to key assumptions will not result in an impairment loss.
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18. Provisions:
Warranty and after(a)
sale service
Balance as at January 1, 2013
Provisions made
Provisions used
Provisions reversed
Unwinding of discount
Foreign currency translation

$

Balance as at December 31, 2013
Provisions made
Provisions acquired (note 10)
Provisions used
Provisions reversed
Unwinding of discount
Foreign currency translation

Restructuring
(b)
costs

23,024
5,201
(2,204)
(438)
300
1,682

$

27,565
5,273
(3,056)
(1,535)
338
2,551

1,982
300
(742)
(1,234)
-

Decommissioning
(c)
liabilities
$

306
10,998
(2,424)
(255)
185

780
35
-

Total
$

815
283
37
9

25,786
5,501
(2,946)
(1,672)
335
1,682
28,686
16,271
283
(5,480)
(1,790)
375
2,745

Balance as at December 31, 2014

$

31,136

$

8,810

$

1,144

$

41,090

December 31, 2014:
Current
Non-current

$

3,130
28,006

$

8,810
-

$

1,144

$

11,940
29,150

$

31,136

$

8,810

$

1,144

$

41,090

$

3,414
24,151

$

306
-

$

815

$

3,720
24,966

$

27,565

$

306

$

815

$

28,686

December 31, 2013:
Current
Non-current

(a) Warranty and after-sale service provisions relate to obligations under commercial satellite construction
contracts.
(b) Restructuring provisions relate to costs associated with enterprise improvement initiatives for satellite
manufacturing operations.
(c) Decommissioning liabilities relate to restoration costs for premise leases with terms that expire between
2019 and 2023.
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19. Employee benefits:
(a) Employee benefit liabilities:
December 31,
2014
Salary and benefits payable
Pension and other post-retirement benefits
Share-based payment plans

$

Employee benefits
Current portion
$

104,316
272,779
73,810

December 31,
2013
$

67,934
177,757
67,143

450,905

312,834

(175,880)

(126,516)

275,025

$

186,318

(b) Pension plans:
The Company maintains various pension plans covering a portion of its employees. The defined benefit
plans provide pension benefits based on various factors including earnings and length of service.
The majority of the plans are funded and the Company’s funding requirements are based on each of the
plans’ actuarial measurement framework as established by the plan agreements or applicable laws.
Employees are required to contribute to some of the funded plans. The total estimated contributions
expected to be paid to the plans in the year ending December 31, 2015 are $3,455,000.
The funded plans’ assets are legally separated from the Company and are held by an independent
trustee. The trustee is responsible for ensuring that the funds are protected as per applicable laws.
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19. Employee benefits (continued):
(b) Pension plans (continued):
Movement in net defined benefit liability:
Defined benefit
obligation
2014
2013
Defined benefit obligation
as at January 1,
$ 607,190
Included in earnings:
Current service cost
Past service costs
Interest cost (income)

6,208
152
28,836
35,196

$ 639,560

21,150
(20,991)
25,176
25,335

Included in other comprehensive income:
Actuarial loss (gain)
arising from:
- financial
assumptions
69,141
(55,687)
- demographic
assumptions
31,054
(11,405)
- experience
adjustment
2,863
1,283
Return on plan assets
excluding interest
income
Foreign exchange
adjustment
48,362
36,584
151,420
(29,225)
Other:
Employer contributions
Plan participant
contributions
Benefit payments

414
(34,823)
(34,409)

Defined benefit obligation
as at December 31,
$ 759,397

1,728
(30,208)
(28,480)

$ 607,190

Fair value
of plan assets
2014
2013

$ (505,930) $(397,716)

(24,633)
(24,633)

(16,880)
(16,880)

Net defined benefit
liability (asset)
2014
2013

$ 101,260

$ 241,844

6,208
152
4,203
10,563

21,150
(20,991)
8,296
8,455

-

-

69,141

(55,687)

-

-

31,054

(11,405)

-

-

2,863

1,283

(9,120)

(49,979)

(9,120)

(49,979)

(38,952)
(48,072)

(25,148)
(75,127)

9,410
103,348

11,436
(104,352)

(30,617)

(44,687)

(30,617)

(44,687)

(414)
34,823
3,792

(1,728)
30,208
(16,207)

(30,617)

(44,687)

$ (574,843) $(505,930)

$ 184,554

$ 101,260

In 2013, the Company announced to certain affected employees and retirees changes in the defined
benefit pension plans and post-retirement medical plan at one of its operating divisions. Benefits under
the defined benefit pension plans were frozen effective December 31, 2013 and participants in the postretirement medical plan will receive a modified fixed medical plan subsidy effective January 1, 2014. As
a result of these plan amendments, the Company recognized past service credits of $21,134,000 for the
defined benefit pension plans and $18,917,000 for the post-retirement medical plan immediately in
earnings in the third quarter of 2013, with offsetting reductions to employee benefit liabilities. These
measurements are based on actuarial assumptions in effect as of September 30, 2013, including an
updated discount rate of 4.65%.
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19. Employee benefits (continued):
(b) Pension plans (continued):
The expense is recognized in direct costs, selling, general and administration in the statement of
earnings.
Plan assets comprise:
December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Cash and cash equivalents
Canadian equity securities
U.S. equity securities
Global equity securities
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Pooled fund units:
Equity funds
Fixed income funds
Real estate funds

$

$

Total pension plan assets

$

4,318
19,972
18,055
1,076
8,474
9,814
308,146
195,042
9,946
574,843

4,199
14,134
9,513
1,255
8,807
8,591
286,860
164,396
8,175

$

505,930

(c) Other post-retirement plans:
The Company also provides for other post-retirement benefits, comprised of extended health benefits,
dental care and life insurance covering a portion of its employees in Canada and the United States.
The cost of these benefits is funded primarily out of general revenues. The plan assets for the funded
plan consist primarily of money market instruments. The total estimated contributions expected to be
paid to the plans, including the net benefit payments to be made in respect to unfunded plans, for the
year ending December 31, 2015 are $2,374,000.
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19. Employee benefits (continued):
(c) Other post-retirement plans (continued):
Movement in net defined benefit liability:
Defined benefit
obligation
2014
2013
Defined benefit obligation
as at January 1,
$ 76,497
Included in earnings:
Current service cost
Past service costs
Interest cost (income)

$ 100,000

960
(1,102)
3,444
3,302

Included in other comprehensive income:
Actuarial loss (gain)
arising from:
- financial
assumptions
9,054
- demographic
assumptions
(6,756)
- experience
adjustment
(206)
Return on plan assets
excluding interest
income
Foreign exchange
adjustment
4,534
6,626
Other:
Liability (assets)
assumed from
business combination
Employer contributions
Plan participant
contributions
Benefit payments

5,072
-

$

$

-

$ 76,497

$ 100,000

(9)
(9)

-

960
(1,102)
3,435
3,293

1,422
(18,918)
3,904
(13,592)

(7,546)

-

-

9,054

(7,546)

-

-

(6,756)

-

-

(206)

55

-

55

(32)
23

-

4,502
6,649

4,074
(6,454)

277
(3,259)

4,074
(6,454)

1,877
(5,334)
(3,457)

$

-

Net defined benefit
liability (asset)
2014
2013

1,422
(18,918)
3,904
(13,592)

-

435
(2,675)
2,832

Defined benefit obligation
as at December 31,
$ 89,257

Fair value
of plan assets
2014
2013

76,497

85

$

277
(3,259)

-

(1,106)
(2,615)

(5,334)

3,966
(2,615)

(5,334)

2,675
(1,046)

5,334
-

435
1,786

1,877
(3,457)

-

$ 88,225

(1,032) $

$ 76,497
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19. Employee benefits (continued):
(d) Actuarial assumptions:
The following represents the weighted-average of the principle actuarial assumptions used in
calculating the defined benefit obligations at the reporting date.
December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Discount rate
Future salary increases
Health care trends

3.9%
3.5%
4.5%

4.7%
4.1%
5.0%

Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners:
Males
Females

21.0
22.7

19.4
22.1

Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners aged 45:
Males
Females

22.3
23.9

19.6
21.3

As at December 31, 2014, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 13.4
years.
(e) Sensitivity analysis:
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding
other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligations by the amounts shown
below.
Increase
of 1%

As at December 31, 2014
Discount rate
Future salary growth
Health care trends rate
Future mortality

$

86

(101,096)
204
4,016
(2,392)

Decrease
of 1%
$

125,355
(325)
(3,163)
2,415
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20. Long-term debt:
December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

$

$

Syndicated credit facility:
Revolving loan payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 2014 U.S.$227,000; December 31, 2013 - U.S. $106,000)
Revolving loan payable in Canadian dollars

263,343

112,742

41,000

-

2024 Term notes payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 2014 U.S.$250,000; December 31, 2013 - U.S.$250,000)

290,025

265,900

2017 Term notes payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 2014 U.S.$100,000; December 31, 2013 - U.S. $100,000)

116,010

106,360

39,057

107,424

Senior term notes payable:

Promissory note payable:
Promissory note payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 2014 U.S.$33,667; December 31, 2013 - U.S. $101,000)
Financing fees

(840)

Obligations under finance leases

(827)

5,797

4,715

Total long-term debt

754,392

596,314

Current portion

(41,308)

(73,429)

Non-current portion

$

713,084

$

522,885

The long term debt is drawn under the following facilities:
(a) Syndicated credit facility:
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had available a senior secured syndicated credit facility (the
“Syndicated Credit Facility”) with several North American and international banks. The Syndicated
Credit Facility is comprised of a revolving loan facility of up to U.S.$600,000,000 which can be drawn in
Canadian and U.S. dollars. The revolving loan facility includes a U.S.$125,000,000 sub limit under
which letters of credit can be issued.

In the second quarter of 2014, the Company amended its

Syndicated Credit Facility. The amendment reduced the interest rate applicable to the drawn and
undrawn borrowings and extended the maturity by 12 months to November 2017.

In addition, certain

financial covenants under the Syndicated Credit Facility and the senior secured term notes were either
amended or eliminated. Loans under the Syndicated Credit Facility bear interest at CDOR, Bankers’
Acceptances or U.S. LIBOR plus margins of 1.25% - 3%. The margin will vary with the Company’s
consolidated debt to EBITDA ratio. As at December 31, 2014, the applicable margin was 1.75%. The
Syndicated Credit Facility is guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company and
the loans are secured by specific assets of the Company.
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20. Long-term debt (continued):
(a) Syndicated credit facility (continued):
The loans can be repaid prior to maturity, at the Company’s option, in whole or in part, together with
accrued interest, without premium or penalty. The Company is required to make mandatory
prepayments of the outstanding principal and accrued interest upon the occurrence of certain events.
The Syndicated Credit Facility is subject to customary representations and warranties, covenants,
events of default and other terms and conditions.
As at December 31, 2014, the Company also has a U.S.$100,000,000 letter of credit agreement with a
major bank.
(b) Senior term notes payable:
On November 2, 2012, the Company entered into a twelve year senior secured note purchase
agreement for U.S.$250,000,000 with two major U.S. private lenders (the “2024 Term Notes”). The
2024 Term Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.31% per annum and are repayable in five equal
annual installments beginning on November 2, 2020.
On February 25, 2010, the Company entered into a long term debt agreement for U.S. $100,000,000
with a private lender (the “2017 Term Notes”). The agreement was amended on November 2, 2012.
The 2017 Term Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.3% per annum and are repayable in full on
February 22, 2017.
The senior term notes payable are guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the
Company and the notes are secured by specific assets of the Company. The notes can be repaid, at
the Company’s option, in whole or in part, together with accrued interest and a make-whole premium.
The Company is required to make mandatory prepayments of the outstanding principal and accrued
interest upon the occurrence of certain events. The senior term notes payable are subject to customary
representations and warranties, covenants, events of default and other terms and conditions.
(c) Promissory note payable:
On November 2, 2012, the Company entered into a promissory note for U.S.$101,000,000, payable to
Loral Space & Communications Inc. (“Loral”) and bearing interest at a fixed rate of 1% per annum. The
note is secured by a bank letter of credit and is repayable in three equal annual installments beginning
on March 31, 2013.

On March 28, 2013, the Company and Loral agreed to defer the principal

repayment of U.S.$33,667,000 originally due on March 31, 2013 under the promissory note payable to
March 31, 2014. The Company and Loral also agreed to an increase in the interest rate applicable to
this tranche from 1.0% to 1.5% effective April 1, 2013.

On March 31, 2014, the Company made

scheduled principal repayments of $74,423,000 (U.S.$67,333,000) on the promissory note. The final
installment of $39,057,000 (US$33,667,000) is due on March 31, 2015.
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20. Long-term debt (continued):
Annual principal repayments on long-term debt, net of financing fees, as at December 31, 2014 are as
follows:
Syndicated
credit facility
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

Notes
payable

Finance
leases

Total

$

304,343
-

$

39,057
115,494
289,701

$

2,251
3,529
17

$

41,308
423,366
289,718

$

304,343

$

444,252

$

5,797

$

754,392

21. Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital:
Authorized:
Unlimited number of common shares with no par value
Unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series, convertible to common shares
Common shares issued and fully paid:
Number
of shares
Balance as at January 1, 2013

31,858,716

Common shares issued in conjunction with public share offering

213,222
278,319

51,915

3,835

36,056,381

495,376

57,449

4,827

Common shares issued in conjunction with employee share purchase
plan (note 23(a))
Balance as at December 31, 2014

$

4,145,750

Common shares issued in conjunction with employee share purchase
plan (note 23(a))
Balance as at December 31, 2013

Amount

36,113,830

$

500,203

On March 27, 2013, the Company completed a public share offering of 4,145,750 common shares at a price
of $69.40 per share for gross proceeds of $287,715,000. In conjunction with the public share offering, the
Company incurred share issuance costs of $9,396,000, net of an income tax benefit of $3,132,000.
The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
$1.30 per common share (2013 - $1.30)

$

89

46,912

$

2013
44,139
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22. Earnings per common share:
Year ended December 31,

Net
earnings

2014
Weighted
average
number of
common
shares
outstanding

Earnings per common share:
Basic and diluted
$ 47,118

36,088,071

Per share
amount
$

1.31

Net
earnings

2013
Weighted
average
number of
common
shares
outstanding

$ 105,045

35,063,159

Per share
amount
$

3.00

23. Share-based payment plans:
(a) Employee share purchase plan:
On October 1, 2001, the Company implemented an employee share purchase plan. Under this plan,
the Company may issue 1,500,000 common shares to its employees.

The maximum number of

common shares that may be issued under the plan in any one year is 300,000. Under the terms of the
plan, employees can purchase shares of the Company at 85% of the market value of the shares.
Employees can allocate a maximum of 10% of their salary to the plan to a maximum of $20,000 per
annum. For the year ended December 31, 2014 - 57,449 (2013 - 51,915) common shares were issued
at an average price of $71.42 (2013 - $62.79).
(b) Deferred restricted share units:
The Company awarded cash settleable deferred restricted share units (“DRSUs”) under its 2005 and
2006 share-based compensation plans. The DRSUs vested after three years and expired seven years
from their grant date. The obligations under the DRSUs were being satisfied by acquiring common
shares of the Company, through a share transfer agent, on the open market and therefore were not
included in the calculation of diluted shares outstanding. As at December 31, 2013 and 2014, there
were no DRSUs outstanding under the 2005 and 2006 share-based compensation plans.
A summary of the DRSUs outstanding is presented below:

Number
of DRSUs
DRSUs outstanding and exercisable, January 1, 2013
DRSUs exercised
DRSUs outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2013 and 2014

90

4,750
(4,750)
-

Weighted
average
exercise price
per DRSU
$ 41.89
41.89
$

-
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23. Share-based payment plans (continued):
(c) Share appreciation rights:
The Company awarded cash settleable share appreciation rights (“SARs”) under its annual share-based
compensations plans. Certain awards issued under the 2010 through 2015 plans remain outstanding
as at December 31, 2014. The SARs vest over a period of three years, in the amount of one-third each
year, and expire five years from their grant date.
A summary of the SARs as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and changes during the year are
presented below:
2014

Number
of SARs
SARs outstanding, beginning of year
SARs issued
SARs exercised
SARs cancelled

2013

Weighted
average
exercise price
per SAR

Weighted
average
exercise price
per SAR

Number
of SARs

3,831,151
1,245,075
(1,140,506)
(59,556)

$

61.19
87.72
49.94
64.04

3,568,620
1,873,800
(1,580,015)
(31,254)

$

46.40
74.85
44.18
51.57

SARs outstanding, end of year

3,876,164

$

72.98

3,831,151

$

61.19

SARs exercisable, end of year

985,782

$

63.30

957,094

$

48.21

The following table summarizes information about outstanding SARs:
As at December 31, 2014:

Prices per share
$35.50 to $39.69
$40.61 to $51.95
$56.95 to $68.95
$71.22 to $81.86
$83.60 to $89.19

SARs outstanding
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
remaining
exercise
Number contractual
price per
of SARs life (in years)
SAR

SARs exercisable
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
remaining
exercise
Number
contractual
price per
of SARs life (in years)
SAR

4,167
947,376
453,063
1,243,483
1,228,075

0.3
2.4
3.1
3.9
4.8

$ 38.18
48.87
59.78
81.61
87.83

4,167
496,225
93,507
391,883
-

0.3
2.2
3.1
3.9
-

$ 38.18
49.56
60.44
81.65
-

3,876,164

3.7

$ 72.98

985,782

2.9

$ 63.30

As at December 31, 2013:

Prices per share
$35.50 to $39.69
$40.43 to $51.95
$56.95 to $68.95
$71.22 to $81.86

SARs outstanding
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
remaining
exercise
Number contractual
price per
of SARs life (in years)
SAR

SARs exercisable
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
remaining
exercise
Number
contractual
price per
of SARs life (in years)
SAR

9,167
1,958,284
564,900
1,298,800

1.3
2.9
4.1
4.9

$ 38.55
48.21
59.49
81.65

9,167
947,927
-

1.3
2.2
-

$ 38.55
48.30
-

3,831,151

3.7

$ 61.19

957,094

2.2

$ 48.21
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23. Share-based payment plans (continued):
(d) Share matching program:
The Company maintains a share matching program, where certain executives are granted one common
share of the Company for every three common shares of the Company that they purchase and hold for
a consecutive period of three years. Common shares are purchased on the open market to satisfy
obligations under the share matching program and are expensed as share-based compensation in the
statement of earnings.
(e) Deferred share units:
The Company maintains a deferred share units (“DSUs”) plan where the Company’s independent
directors receive some or all of their annual retainer in DSUs. DSUs are granted at a price equal to the
closing price of the common shares on the day before the date of grant. The DSUs are paid in cash at
retirement at the closing price of the common shares of the Company on the day before the retirement
date.
A summary of the DSUs as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and changes during the year are
presented below:
2014

Number
of DSUs

2013
Weighted
average
issue price
per DSU

Number
of DSUs

Weighted
average
issue price
per DSU

DSUs outstanding, beginning of year
DSUs issued
DSUs redeemed

74,567
7,027
(7,232)

$

37.25
85.26
82.09

68,625
5,942
-

$

34.43
69.86
-

DSUs outstanding, end of year

74,362

$

37.43

74,567

$

37.25
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23. Share-based payment plans (continued):
(f)

Total share-based compensation expense:
Total share-based compensation expense from all forms of share-based payment plans for the year
ended December 31, 2014 was an expense of $49,406,000 (2013 - $80,238,000). The details are as
follows:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
Employee share purchase plan
Share appreciation rights
Share matching program
Deferred share units

2013

$

724
47,094
113
1,475

$

575
77,102
352
2,209

$

49,406

$

80,238

(g) Intrinsic value:
The intrinsic value of a share-based payment award is the positive difference between the market price
of the Company’s share and the exercise price of the award. At December 31, 2014, the intrinsic value
of vested awards under share-based payment plans is $31,200,000 (December 31, 2013 $32,629,000).
(h) Valuation of DRSUs:
The fair value of the DRSUs were estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Expected award lives
Volatility

(i)

1.3% - 4.2%
0%
10 - 78 months
23% - 68%

Valuation of share appreciation rights:
The fair value of the SARs were estimated at each reporting period using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Expected award lives
Volatility

93

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

1.0% - 1.1%
1.4%
1 - 41 months
16% - 23%

1.1% - 1.5%
1.6%
7 - 44 months
21% - 25%
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures:
Refer to significant accounting policy note 3(i).
(a) Financial instruments by category:
The classification of financial instruments and their carrying amounts are as follows:
As at December 31, 2014:
Financial
assets at
fair value
through
earnings

Derivative
instruments
in a qualifying
hedging
relationship

Loans and
receivables

Available-forsale
financial
assets

Other

Total carrying
amount

Financial assets:
Current:
Cash and cash
equivalents

$

Trade and other
receivables:
Trade accounts
receivable
Orbital receivables
Other receivables

Financial assets, other:
Short-term investments
Notes receivable
Derivative financial
instruments
Restricted cash

-

$

-

$

17,130

$

-

$

-

$

17,130

-

-

289,822
23,583
4,360

-

27,435

289,822
23,583
31,795

-

-

317,765

-

27,435

345,200

-

-

378

6,807
-

-

6,807
378

8,769
-

14,742
-

19,027

-

-

23,511
19,027

8,769

14,742

19,405

6,807

-

49,723

-

-

447,216

-

-

447,216

-

-

1,138

-

-

1,138

3,245
-

7,382
-

19,996

-

-

10,627
19,996

3,245

7,382

21,134

-

-

31,761

Non-current:
Orbital receivables
Financial assets, other:
Notes receivable
Derivative financial
instruments
Restricted cash
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(a) Financial instruments by category (continued):
As at December 31, 2014 (continued):
Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through
earnings

Derivative
instruments
in a qualifying
hedging
relationship

Other
financial
liabilities

Total carrying
amount

252,387

$ 252,387

Financial liabilities:
Current:
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities, other:
Non-trade payables
Derivative financial
instruments

$

-

$

-

$

-

-

18,602

18,602

11,384

968

-

12,352

11,384

968

18,602

30,954

-

-

39,057
2,251

39,057
2,251

-

-

41,308

41,308

-

-

33,277

33,277

Long-term debt:
Long-term debt
Obligations under finance leases

Non-current:
Financial liabilities, other:
Non-trade payables
Derivative financial
instruments

2,819

108

-

2,927

2,819

108

33,277

36,204

-

-

709,538
3,546

709,538
3,546

-

-

713,084

713,084

Long-term debt:
Long-term debt
Obligations under finance leases
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(a) Financial instruments by category (continued):
As at December 31, 2013:
Financial
assets at
fair value
through
earnings

Derivative
instruments
in a qualifying
hedging
relationship

Loans and
receivables

Available-forsale
financial
assets

Other

Total carrying
amount

Financial assets:
Current:
Cash and cash
equivalents

$

Trade and other
receivables:
Trade accounts
receivable
Orbital receivables
Other receivables

Financial assets, other:
Short-term investments
Notes receivable
Derivative financial
instruments
Restricted cash

-

$

-

$

50,307

$

-

$

-

$

50,307

-

-

255,241
16,693
1,316

-

21,690

255,241
16,693
23,006

-

-

273,250

-

21,690

294,940

-

-

368

6,235
-

-

6,235
368

7,377
-

3,315
-

18,366

-

-

10,692
18,366

7,377

3,315

18,734

6,235

-

35,661

-

-

382,280

-

-

382,280

-

-

945

-

-

945

Non-current:
Orbital receivables
Financial assets, other:
Notes receivable
Derivative financial
instruments

1,001

1,318

-

-

-

2,319

1,001

1,318

945

-

-

3,264
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(a) Financial instruments by category (continued):
As at December 31, 2013 (continued):
Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through
earnings

Derivative
instruments
in a qualifying
hedging
relationship

Other
financial
liabilities

Total carrying
amount

205,792

$ 205,792

Financial liabilities:
Current:
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities, other:
Non-trade payables
Derivative financial
instruments
Contingent liabilities

$

-

$

-

$

-

-

9,555

9,555

7,388
-

2,662
-

7,126

10,050
7,126

7,388

2,662

16,681

26,731

-

-

71,401
2,028

71,401
2,028

-

-

73,429

73,429

-

-

8,198

8,198

Long-term debt:
Long-term debt
Obligations under finance leases

Non-current:
Financial liabilities, other:
Non-trade payables
Derivative financial
instruments

1,040

-

-

1,040

1,040

-

8,198

9,238

-

-

520,198
2,687

520,198
2,687

-

-

522,885

522,885

Long-term debt:
Long-term debt
Obligations under finance leases
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(b) Fair value of financial instruments:
Financial instruments carried at amortized cost:
As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the fair values of all financial instruments carried at amortized cost,
other than long-term debt, approximated their carrying value.

The fair value of long-term debt is

estimated based on a discounted cash flow approach, categorized as Level 2 as outlined in the
descriptions below. The estimated fair value of long-term debt, excluding obligations under finance
leases, at December 31, 2014, was $763,063,000 (December 31, 2013 - $588,779,000) as compared to
the carrying value of $748,595,000 (December 31, 2013 - $591,599,000). As at December 31, 2014,
included in long-term debt is the designated portion of the net investment hedge, which had a fair value
of $181,865,000 (December 31, 2013 - $80,910,000) and a carrying value of $174,015,000 (December
31, 2013 - $75,591,000). The fair value of obligations under finance leases approximates their carrying
value.
As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the carrying amount of assets pledged as collateral amounted to
$1,792,000,000 and $1,563,000,000, respectively.
Financial instruments carried at fair value:
The table below analyzes financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different
levels have been defined as follows:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
December 31, 2014

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets
Short-term investments
Derivative financial instruments

$

6,807
-

$

34,138

$

-

$

6,807
34,138

Total assets

$

6,807

$

34,138

$

-

$

40,945

$

-

$

15,279

$

-

$

15,279

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

During the year, no transfers occurred between Level 1 and Level 2 financial instruments.
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(b) Fair value of financial instruments (continued):
Financial instruments carried at fair value (continued):
December 31, 2013

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets
Short-term investments
Derivative financial instruments

$

6,235
-

$

13,011

$

-

$

6,235
13,011

Total assets

$

6,235

$

13,011

$

-

$

19,246

$

-

$

11,090

$

-

$

11,090

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

The fair values of the short-term investments are based on their quoted prices.

The Company

determines fair value of its derivative financial instruments based on internal valuation models, such as
discounted cash flow analysis, using management estimates and observable market-based inputs, as
applicable.

Management estimates include assumptions concerning the amount and timing of

estimated future cash flows and application of appropriate discount rates. Observable market-based
inputs are sourced from third parties and include interest rates and yield curves, currency spot and
forward rates, and credit spreads, as applicable.
(c) Credit risk:
The Company is exposed to credit risk through its cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, shortterm investments, trade and other receivables, orbital receivables, notes receivable and derivative
financial instruments.
The Company’s credit exposure through receivables relates to a diverse group of customers, including
government customers, in multiple geographic regions purchasing a wide variety of products and
services from the Company, and is therefore mitigated by a reduced concentration of risk.
Customers are assessed for credit risk based on the nature of the customer organization, financial
health, and credit history with the Company and others. Credit limits or maximum exposures under
revenue contracts are identified, approved and monitored. In some cases, the Company will procure
credit insurance to mitigate its exposure.
Trade and other receivables are considered for impairment on a case by case basis and provided for
when objective evidence is received that a customer may default.
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognized
on the balance sheet at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, as summarized in the carrying
values table (note 24(a)).
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(c) Credit risk (continued):
The Company’s trade receivables and allowance for doubtful accounts are shown in the following table:
December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Trade receivables
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

$

293,084
(3,262)

$

257,319
(2,078)

Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts

$

289,822

$

255,241

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
December 31,
2014
Not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 90 days
Past due 90+ days

December 31,
2013

$

251,484
19,175
11,747
7,416

$

211,125
21,583
7,902
14,631

$

289,822

$

255,241

Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Balance as at January 1, 2013

$ 5,447

Bad debt expense
Amounts applied to specific trade accounts receivable
Allowance reversed
Foreign exchange
Balance as at December 31, 2013

44
(290)
(3,137)
14
2,078

Bad debt expense
Amounts applied to specific trade accounts receivable
Allowance reversed
Foreign exchange
Balance as at December 31, 2014

2,900
(383)
(1,350)
17
$ 3,262

In implementing all its derivative financial instruments, the Company deals with counterparties and is
therefore exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-performance by these counterparties.
However, the Company deals with counterparties that are major financial institutions, and does not
expect any of the counterparties to fail to meet their obligations.
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(d) Liquidity risk:
The Company’s liquidity risk is the risk it may not be able to meet its contractual obligations associated
with financial liabilities as they come due.

The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash

provided by operations, including collection of orbital receivables and advance payments from
customers related to long-term construction contracts, and access to credit facilities and equity capital
resources, including public common share offerings. The Company’s short-term cash requirements are
primarily to fund working capital, with medium term requirements to service and repay debt, and invest
in capital and intangible assets for growth initiatives. Cash is also used to pay dividends and finance
other long-term strategic initiatives. The Company does not have a capital intensive business. For the
foreseeable future, the Company believes that its principal sources of liquidity are sufficient to maintain
the Company’s capacity and to meet planned growth and development activities.
The maturities of the contractual cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities are shown in the
following table:

Carrying Contractual
amount cash flows

Maturing in
less than Maturing in Maturing in
1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years

252,387 $

252,387

$ 252,387

51,879

54,527

18,849

20,741

7,947

6,990

5,797
748,595
754,392

6,463
889,371
895,834

2,870
65,196
68,066

1,898
28,141
30,039

1,695
468,833
470,528

327,201
327,201

1,058,658

1,202,748

339,302

50,780

478,475

334,191

13,815

14,037

11,585

1,069

1,383

-

1,464
15,279

1,464
15,501

862
12,447

272
1,341

330
1,713

-

$ 1,073,937 $ 1,218,249

$ 351,749

$ 52,121

$ 480,188

$ 334,191

December 31, 2014
Non-derivative
financial liabilities:
Trade and other
payables

$

Financial liabilities,
other:
Non-trade
payables
Long-term debt:
Obligations under
finance leases
Long-term debt

Derivative financial
liabilities:
Foreign exchange
forward contracts
Other derivative
instruments
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-
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(d) Liquidity risk (continued):

December 31, 2013
Non-derivative
financial liabilities:
Trade and other
payables

$

Financial liabilities,
other:
Non-trade
payables
Contingent
liabilities

Long-term debt:
Obligations under
finance leases
Long-term debt

Derivative financial
liabilities:
Foreign exchange
forward contracts
Other derivative
instruments

$

Carrying Contractual
amount cash flows

Maturing in
less than Maturing in Maturing in
1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years

205,792 $

205,792

$ 205,792

17,753

18,810

9,556

851

2,161

6,242

7,126
24,879

7,126
25,936

7,126
16,682

851

2,161

6,242

4,715
591,599
596,314

5,268
723,699
728,967

2,386
93,405
95,791

1,757
55,970
57,727

1,125
262,864
263,989

311,460
311,460

826,985

960,695

318,265

58,578

266,150

317,702

10,268

10,372

9,307

949

116

-

822
11,090

822
11,194

814
10,121

4
953

4
120

-

838,075 $

971,889

$ 328,386

$ 59,531

$ 266,270

$ 317,702

$

-

$

Maturing
beyond
5 years

- $

-

(e) Interest rate risk:
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates since a proportion of its capital structure
consists of variable rate debt. An increase or decrease of 50 basis points on the interest rate, all other
variables remaining constant, would not result in a material change to net earnings or other
comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.
(f)

Foreign exchange risk:
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on sales contracts, purchase contracts and debt
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company’s contracting entity. For
Canadian operations, this is typically the United States dollar or Euro. For United States operations,
this is typically the Euro or Japanese yen. The Company is also exposed to foreign currency risk on the
net assets of its foreign operations.
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(f)

Foreign exchange risk (continued):
The Company maintains a hedging program and enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to
hedge the significant majority of the exposure arising from expected foreign currency denominated cash
flows. The term of the foreign exchange forward contracts can range from less than one month to
several years. The Company also enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage exposures
from certain intercompany loans, miscellaneous foreign currency payables and receivables, and
borrowings in foreign currency. The Company does not use foreign currency contracts to hedge the
exposure from translation of the results of its foreign operations and does not enter into foreign
exchange forward contracts for trading or speculative purposes.
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had Canadian dollar foreign exchange forward purchase
contracts for $205,859,000 (2013 - $298,631,000) and United States dollar foreign exchange purchase
contracts for $22,708,000 (2013 - $22,248,000).

The Company also had Canadian dollar foreign

exchange forward sales contracts for $273,928,000 (2013 - $350,998,000) and United States dollar
foreign exchange forward sales contracts for $297,761,000 (2013 - $6,959,000).
The following table summarizes the Company’s foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding, which
have been recorded on the balance sheet at fair value as assets and liabilities as appropriate:
Carrying
value
asset
(liability)

December 31, 2014

Notional
amount

Average
exchange
rate

Purchase contracts settled in
Canadian dollars:
U.S. dollar
Euro
British pound
Australian dollar
Norwegian krone

153,616
9,331
11,182
2,178
406

1.1143
1.4167
1.7273
0.9561
0.1554

January 2015 - April 2019
January 2015 - August 2018
January 2015 - September 2016
June 2015 - December 2017
January 2015

Sales contracts settled in
Canadian dollars:
U.S. dollar
Euro
British pound
Australian dollar
Norwegian krone

224,908
15,528
978
136
406

1.1102
1.4339
1.8115
0.9536
0.1565

January 2015 - March 2018
January 2015 - May 2016
January 2015 - May 2015
June 2015
January 2015

Purchase contracts settled in
United States dollars:
Japanese yen
1,286,435
Euro
6,235

0.0090
1.2805

March 2015 - August 2015
January 2015 - December 2015

$

Sales contracts settled in
United States dollars:
Euro

1.3007

January 2015 - September 2017

$ 18,423

197,331
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Maturity dates

$

7,676
(66)
925
(60)
-

$ (11,962)
407
3
2
1

(981)
(483)
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(f) Foreign exchange risk (continued):
Carrying
value
asset
(liability)

December 31, 2013

Notional
amount

Average
exchange
rate

Purchase contracts settled in
Canadian dollars:
U.S. dollar
Euro
British pound
Australian dollar
Norwegian krone

240,151
18,703
12,049
1,968
151

1.0426
1.4333
1.6153
0.9962
0.1742

January 2014 - April 2018
January 2014 - August 2018
January 2014 - September 2016
January 2014 - December 2014
January 2014

$

5,865
669
1,819
(104)
-

Sales contracts settled in
Canadian dollars:
U.S. dollar
Euro
British pound
Australian dollar
Norwegian krone

310,076
16,763
957
1,452
4,001

1.0470
1.3504
1.7205
0.9468
0.1726

January 2014 - September 2016
January 2014 - December 2014
January 2014
January 2014 - December 2014
January 2014 - November 2014

$

(6,006)
(1,985)
(41)
8
(9)

Purchase contracts settled in
United States dollars:
Japanese yen
1,952,527
Euro
838

0.0101
1.3582

January 2014 - December 2014
January 2014 - December 2015

$

(1,265)
18

Sales contracts settled in
United States dollars:
Euro

1.3550

January 2014 - December 2015

$

(124)

4,829

Maturity dates

Cash flow hedges:
The Company applies cash flow hedge accounting when a foreign exchange contract is included in a
qualifying hedging relationship as described in note 3(i)(iii).
The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with designated cash flow
hedges are expected to occur and to impact earnings and the carrying amounts of the related hedging
instruments:

December 31, 2014

Carrying
amount

Expected
cash flows

Foreign exchange
forward contracts:
Assets
Liabilities

$ 22,124
1,076

$ 22,357
1,086

104

Maturing in
less than Maturing in Maturing in
1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years

$ 14,775
976

$ 6,717
110

$

865 $
-

Maturing
beyond
5 years

-
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24. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued):
(f)

Foreign exchange risk (continued):
Cash flow hedges (continued):

December 31, 2013
Foreign exchange
forward contracts:
Assets
Liabilities

Carrying
amount

Expected
cash flows

4,633
2,662

$ 4,716
2,677

$

Maturing in
less than Maturing in Maturing in
1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years

$ 3,334
2,677

$

861
-

$

Maturing
beyond
5 years

521 $
-

-

Net investment hedge:
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had designated the full amount of its $116,010,000
(U.S.$100,000,000) (December 31, 2013 - $75,591,000 (U.S.$71,071,000)) 2017 Term Notes and
$58,005,000 (U.S.$50,000,000) (December 31, 2013 - nil) of its $290,025,000 (U.S.$250,000,000) 2024
Term Notes as a hedge of its investment in certain U.S. subsidiaries. Foreign exchange gains and
losses arising from the translation of the designated portion of the U.S. dollar 2017 and 2024 Term
Notes are recognized in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedges are effective and
are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings to the extent that the hedges are ineffective.
Foreign exchange sensitivity:
The following table presents the effect of the strengthening and weakening of various currencies (all
other variables remaining constant) on the fair valuation of financial instruments as at December 31 and
the corresponding effect on net earnings and other comprehensive income:

Currency 1

Currency 2

Currency 1 strengthens 10%
against currency 2
Effect on other
Effect on comprehensive
net earnings
income

Currency 1 weakens 10%
against currency 2
Effect on other
Effect on comprehensive
net earnings
income

December 31, 2014
U.S. dollar
British pound
Euro
Euro
Japanese yen

Canadian dollar $
Canadian dollar
Canadian dollar
U.S. dollar
U.S. dollar

1,772
239
(312)
4,296
1,459

$

1,314
1,134
(225)
(24,702)
-

$

(1,772)
(239)
312
(4,296)
(1,459)

$

(1,314)
(1,134)
225
24,702
-

(2,542)
4
256
3,296
1,975

$

1,999
1,398
(483)
-

$

2,542
(4)
(256)
(3,296)
(1,975)

$

(1,999)
(1,398)
483
-

December 31, 2013
U.S. dollar
British pound
Euro
Euro
Japanese yen

Canadian dollar $
Canadian dollar
Canadian dollar
U.S. dollar
U.S. dollar
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25. Capital management:
The Company’s primary capital management objectives are to provide an adequate return to shareholders,
provide adequate and efficient funding of operations, finance growth, preserve financial flexibility to benefit
from potential opportunities as they arise and comply with borrowing covenants.
The Company defines capital as its share capital, contributed surplus and retained earnings.
December 31,
2014
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Retained earnings

December 31,
2013

$

500,203
2,656
135,277

$

495,376
2,656
135,071

$

638,136

$

633,103

The Company regularly issues shares in relation to its long-term compensation plans, employee share
purchase plan, and acquisitions.

It also occasionally implements share repurchase programs that are

approved by the Board of Directors.
The Company is required by its lenders under the Syndicated Credit Facility and senior secured term note
purchase agreements to maintain compliance with certain financial covenants. These covenants include a
maximum multiple of debt to EBITDA of 3.5 times (and up to 4.0 times under certain circumstances), a
minimum level of equity consisting of a base plus a proportion of earnings, a minimum multiple of EBITDA to
fixed charges, and a maximum percentage of distributions to available cash flow. At December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013, the Company is compliant with these financial covenants.
The Company has term debt outstanding under its 2017 and 2024 Term Notes. Debt is also incurred as
required under the Syndicated Credit Facility and is reduced as cash is generated from operations. In the
normal course of business, the Company manages its debt to a ratio of approximately 2.0 - 2.5 times
EBITDA. The Company, thus, typically retains significant additional unused capacity to take advantage of
strategic opportunities.
26. Government assistance:
(a) Investment tax credits:
During the year, the Company recognized investment tax credits of $23,870,000 (2013 - $31,330,000)
as a reduction of current expenses in direct costs, selling, general and administration of which
$7,722,000 (2013 - $13,846,000) related to expenses incurred in prior years. The Company also has
investment tax credits of approximately $25,855,000 (2013 - $16,900,000) available to offset future
Canadian federal and provincial income taxes payable which expire between 2015 and 2030.
Investment tax credits are only recognized in the financial statements when the recognition criteria have
been met as described in note 3(g).
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26. Government assistance (continued):
(b) Government grants:
(i)

Investissement Québec:
On November 15, 2010, the Company signed a non-refundable contribution agreement ("Grant")
and an interest free refundable contribution agreement (“Interest Free Loan”) with Investissement
Québec ("IQ") relating to the expansion of the plant ("Project") at its Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue
subsidiary.
Under the Grant, the Company is eligible to receive funding for certain Project expenditures incurred
from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2012 to a maximum of $9,000,000. Payments made from the
Grant can become conditionally repayable if certain average employment targets are not met from
January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2018. In 2013, the Company received proceeds of $1,800,000 in
relation to the Grant. As at December 31, 2013, the Company has received the maximum eligible
funding of $9,000,000 under the Grant.
Under the Interest Free Loan, the Company is eligible to receive interest free repayable funding for
certain eligible Project expenditures incurred from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2014 to a
maximum of $9,000,000. The Interest Free Loan is repayable in 84 equal and consecutive monthly
installments beginning three years subsequent to the receipt of the first disbursement on February
1, 2013. Funding requested from IQ is receivable on a quarterly basis based on the actual eligible
Project expenditures incurred.
During the year, the Company received proceeds of $2,505,000 (2013 - $5,042,000) in relation to the
Interest Free Loan. The Company recognized the benefit of below-market interest of $426,000 (2013
- $1,200,000) relating to the Interest Free Loan as a reduction to the cost of property, plant and
equipment.

As at December 31, 2014, the discounted Interest Free Loan payable balance of

$6,277,000 is recorded in financial liabilities (2013 - $3,987,000).
(ii) Government of Canada:
The Company's Canadian operations have received funding under contract from the Government
of Canada under several programs that support the development of new commercial technologies
and products for delivery to customers of the Government of Canada.

For the year ended

December 31, 2014, $780,000 (2013 - $480,000) of funding was received under these programs.
This funding is subject to possible repayment in the form of royalties, generally not exceeding 5%
of future revenues to be derived from the potential new technologies and products. The royalties
will be incurred only if additional revenues are recognized from specified new technologies and
products.
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27. Income taxes:
(a) Income tax expense is comprised of the following:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
Current tax expense:
Current period
Adjustment for prior periods

$

34,397
(467)
33,930

Deferred tax expense:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Change in tax rate
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses

$

35,817
(2,584)
33,233

3,786
(112)
(113)
3,561

Income tax expense

$

2013

(8,881)
(590)
(230)
(9,701)

37,491

$

23,532

(b) A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates to actual income taxes is as follows:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
Combined basic income tax rate

26.00%

Income tax expense at the basic income tax rate
Foreign earnings subject to different rates
Change in statutory rates
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets
Foreign exchange differences
Share-based compensation
Other permanent differences

2013

25.75%

$

21,998
(14,169)
(112)
21,598
(114)
2,447
5,843

$

33,109
(5,704)
(561)
(14,686)
3,845
3,633
3,896

$

37,491

$

23,532

The applicable statutory tax rate changed due to changes in the enacted Federal and Provincial tax
rates for 2014.
(c) Unrecognized deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following temporary differences:

Tax losses
Other deductible temporary differences

108

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

$

198,511
234,075

$

143,363
129,763

$

432,586

$

273,126

MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

27. Income taxes (continued):
(d) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities:
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
December 31, 2014

Assets

Construction contract assets and liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets and goodwill
Investment tax credits
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Other items
Tax loss carry forwards

$

Tax assets (liabilities)
Set off of tax

3,686
541
828
6,741
147
5,203
17,041
1,572
3,287

Liabilities
$

39,046
(15,838)

Net tax assets (liabilities)

$

December 31, 2013

23,208

$

Tax assets (liabilities)
Set off of tax

2,141
885
748
7,880
176
6,050
18,420
2,570
5,024

$

$

109

27,173

(11,353)

$

(6,249)
(2,540)
(10,387)
(6,747)
(1,745)
(328)
(255)
-

$

(11,530)

11,855

Net
$

(28,251)
16,721
$

(2,747)
228
(8,469)
(2,061)
(2,199)
5,203
17,041
1,572
3,287
11,855
-

Liabilities

43,894
(16,721)

Net tax assets (liabilities)

$

(27,191)
15,838

Assets

Construction contract assets and liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets and goodwill
Investment tax credits
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Other items
Tax loss carry forwards

(6,433)
(313)
(9,297)
(8,802)
(2,346)
-

Net

(4,108)
(1,655)
(9,639)
1,133
(1,569)
5,722
18,420
2,315
5,024
15,643
-

$

15,643

MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD.
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27. Income taxes (continued):
(e) Movement in temporary differences during the year:

Balance,
December 31,
2013
Construction
contract
assets and
liabilities
Property,
plant and
equipment
Intangible assets
and goodwill
Investment tax
credits
Derivative
financial
instruments
Trade and other
payables
Employee
benefits
Other items
Tax loss carry
forwards

$

$

(4,108)

Recognized
in statement
of earnings

$

1,436

Recognized
in other
comprehensive
income

$

-

Foreign
currency
translation

$

(75)

(1,655)

1,979

-

(96)

(9,639)

1,285

-

(115)

1,133

(3,194)

-

(1,569)

(40)

5,722

(705)

18,420
2,315

(1,844)
(726)

5,024

(1,752)

15,643

$

(3,561)

110

(590)
465
(17)
$

(142)

$

Balance,
December 31,
2014

$

(2,747)

228
(8,469)

-

(2,061)

-

(2,199)

186

5,203

-

17,041
1,572

15

3,287

(85)

$

11,855
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27. Income taxes (continued):
(e) Movement in temporary differences during the year (continued):

Balance,
December 31,
2012
Construction
contract
assets and
liabilities
$
Property,
plant and
equipment
Intangible assets
and goodwill
Investment tax
credits
Derivative
financial
instruments
Trade and other
payables
Employee
benefits
Other items
Tax loss carry
forwards
$

(7,647)

Recognized
Recognized
in other
in statement comprehensive
of earnings
income

Public share
offering costs
(note 21)

$

$

3,599

$

-

-

Foreign
Balance,
currency December 31,
translation
2013

$

(60)

$

(4,108)

(2,095)

799

-

-

(359)

(1,655)

(9,302)

(190)

-

-

(147)

(9,639)

950

183

-

-

-

(633)

(40)

-

31

(1,569)

-

382

5,722

(504)
123

18,420
2,315

486

5,024

9,246

(3,906)

12,172
(458)

8,420
(452)

3,250

1,288

5,483

$

9,701

(927)
(1,668)
(30)

3,132

$

(2,625)

$

3,132

$

(48)

1,133

$

15,643

(f) As at December 31, 2014, the Company has non-capital losses carried forward for tax purposes totaling
approximately $103,347,000 that are available to reduce taxable income of future years. These noncapital losses carried forward expire as follows:

2015
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
Thereafter

$

425
1,402
891
5,776
1,560
1,431
150
9,346
36,166
44,712
1,488

$ 103,347
The Company also has net capital losses carried forward of approximately $109,275,450 that are
available to offset capital gains of future years.
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28. Contingencies and commitments:
(a) As at December 31, 2014, the Company is committed under operating leases, primarily relating to office
space, for the following minimum annual rentals:
Total
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Thereafter

$

36,673
33,257
29,938
18,042
16,560
25,048

$

159,518

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company has recorded total lease expenses of
$48,882,000 (2013 - $43,936,000) in the statement of earnings.
(b) As at December 31, 2014, the Company’s banks have issued letters of credit for $88,922,000 (2013 $167,834,000) of which $42,147,000 (2013 - $40,956,000) is guaranteed by Export Development
Canada (EDC), a Canadian government corporation.
(c) Satellite construction contracts may include performance incentives whereby payment for a portion of
the purchase price of the satellite is contingent upon in-orbit performance of the satellite.

The

Company’s ultimate receipt of orbital performance incentives is subject to the continued performance of
its satellites generally over the contractually stipulated life of the satellites. A complete or partial loss of
a satellite’s functionality can result in loss of orbital receivable payments or repayment of amounts
received by the Company under a warranty payback arrangement. The Company generally receives the
present value of the orbital receivables if there is a launch failure or a failure caused by a customer
error, but will forfeit some or all of the orbital receivables if the loss is caused by satellite failure or a
result of Company error.

The Company recognizes orbital performance incentives in the financial

statements based on the amounts that are expected to be received and believes that it will not incur a
material loss relating to the incentives recognized.
(d) Prior to the Company’s acquisition of Space Systems/Loral, LLC and Space Systems/Loral Land, LLC
(collectively “SSL”), ViaSat, Inc. (“ViaSat”) had filed complaints against SSL and Loral Space &
Communications Inc. (“Loral”), the former parent company of SSL, in the United States District Court for
the Southern District of California (the “Court”). ViaSat’s complaints alleged, among other matters, that
SSL and Loral infringed on certain ViaSat patents and that SSL breached non-disclosure obligations in
certain contracts with ViaSat in connection with the manufacture of satellites by SSL for customers
other than ViaSat.
In the second half of 2013, ViaSat filed additional complaints for patent infringement and breach of
contract against SSL in the Court. The patents involved were continuations of the patents allegedly
infringed in the pre-existing lawsuit between ViaSat, SSL and Loral.
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28. Contingencies and commitments (continued):
(d) (continued):
On September 5, 2014, SSL, Loral and ViaSat entered into an agreement to settle the two patent
infringement and breach of contract complaints. Under the terms of the settlement agreement, all claims
and counterclaims between the parties were dismissed. In addition, ViaSat agreed to a covenant not to
sue SSL or Loral, or their respective customers and suppliers to the extent of such customer’s and
supplier’s project or transaction with SSL or Loral, at any time for infringement of any of the patents
asserted in the lawsuits as well as certain patents related to the patents asserted in the lawsuits, or for
breach of the contracts asserted in the lawsuits to the extent such breach relates to the claims asserted
in the lawsuits. In consideration, the Company and Loral agreed to pay ViaSat U.S.$100,000,000
including U.S.$40,000,000 in September 2014 and additional installment payments every three months
commencing October 2014 through to January 2017 totaling U.S.$60,000,000 plus interest at 11.5%.
Loral had indemnified SSL for certain costs and damages arising from the ViaSat litigation under the
terms of the purchase agreement governing MDA’s purchase of SSL from Loral. On December 1, 2014,
as a result of differing interpretations of the scope of Loral’s indemnification obligations, the parties
participated in a mediation session to determine a final allocation of the settlement payments. The
Company and Loral agreed that MDA/SSL will be responsible for U.S.$55,000,000 and Loral will be
responsible for U.S.$45,000,000 of the U.S.$100,000,000 settlement. As of December 31, 2014,
MDA/SSL has paid U.S.$25,300,000 plus 11.5% interest toward its share of the settlement.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recognized an expense of $69,242,000
(U.S.$61,037,000) for its share of the settlement obligation of which $41,030,000 (U.S. $35,368,000)
has been recognized as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2014. The liability
was measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method and a discount rate of 3.25%. In
addition, the Company reversed certain purchase accounting provisions that were set up in relation to
the lawsuit and associated activities and were no longer required after the settlement.
(e) The Company is a party to various other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course
of business as either a plaintiff or defendant. The Company analyzes all legal proceedings and the
allegations therein. The outcome of any of these other proceedings, either individually or in the
aggregate, is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or liquidity.
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29. Related party transactions:
The President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
have employment agreements which provide severance and change of control benefits. Upon termination
or change of control, these executives are entitled to lump sum payments between two and two and one-half
years’ compensation.
Compensation expense for the Company’s directors and Named Executive Officers is as follows:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014
Salaries and other benefits
Share-based payments

2013

$

4,105
16,199

$

3,526
27,819

$

20,304

$

31,345

30. Supplemental cash flow information:
For the year ended
December 31,
2014

2013

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade and other receivables
Construction contract assets
Financial assets, other
Inventories
Current tax assets
Non-financial assets
Orbital receivables
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities, other
Provisions
Construction contract liabilities
Employee benefits
Non-financial liabilities

$

(27,094)
(72,885)
(13)
23,270
(24,292)
(23,496)
(28,652)
37,605
23,681
9,043
(53,127)
(25,262)
(4,756)

$

(37,820)
29,263
2,346
(26,550)
(31,222)
(8,196)
(27,770)
(15,480)
44
1,161
29,130
(60,537)
(262)

$

(165,978)

$

(145,893)

31. Discontinued operations:
On January 4, 2011, the Company completed the sale of its Property Information business to a third party
buyer for cash consideration of U.S.$814,995,000, after tax and working capital adjustments. During the
year ended December 31, 2013, the Company made cash payments of $2,752,000 to settle certain
outstanding liabilities relating to the sale.
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32. Subsequent event:
On February 25, 2015, the Company changed its dividend policy to pay dividends quarterly instead of semiannually and declared a quarterly dividend of $0.37 per common share payable on March 31, 2015 to
shareholders of record at the close of business on March 16, 2015.
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